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1.1
Introduction

Electricity is among the most useful types of energy. It is a foundation of a contemporary way of living and a factor that enables 
technological advances. From the environmental perspective, however, it is becoming increasingly important from what sources 
we generate electricity i.e., what technologies do we use to generate it. In this context TEŠ plays a significant role in Slovenia as it 
contributes just shy of one third of domestically generated electricity in one of the most contemporary power-generating facilities 
in the EU, which has been constructed in line with the applicable best available technologies (BAT) guidelines. The amount of 
electricity generated by Unit 5 is also not negligible. After having been ecologically rehabilitated and upgraded, Unit 5 releases 
significantly less pollutants (compared to Unit 4, which was shut down for good in July 2018, Unit 5 releases 60% less carbon 
dioxide, 50% less sulphur dioxide and 80% less particulate matter) and is going to operate by the end of 2025 as a replacement unit 
for Unit 6 during repairs or overhauls or during favourable market conditions. Given a new situation on the energy markets, TEŠ has 
again grown in importance as it decreases Slovenia’s dependence on the import of foreign and more expensive electricity.

There is a truly demanding period ahead of us. In January 2022, the Government of the Republic of Slovenia adopted a national 
strategy on coal phase-out and the restructuring of coal regions in line with just transition principles. According to the strategy, 
Slovenia will stop generating electricity from coal no later than by 2033. We shall be actively involved in preparing the plans for 
investing in technologies that will try to preserve and further develop the strategic energy location in the Šalek Valley as well as the 
generation of electricity from low carbon resources. The location has also been considered for capturing and using CO2 as well as 
for generating electricity from gas. In the interim period we shall pursue the goal of better exploiting the primary energy-generating 
product (up to 1% more produced electricity by Unit 6 while consuming the same amount of primary energy-generating product) 
and providing a safe and reliable electricity production.

TEŠ is a member of the HSE Group which produces 65% of total amount of electricity produced, and is as such the largest 
producer of electricity in Slovenia. In 2021, the power-generating units within the HSE Group produced 6.9 TWh of electricity (not 
taking into account a 49% share of HESS) of which TEŠ produced 3.2 TWh. 

TEŠ 

46%

2021
6.878 TWh

OTHERS 

54%
TEŠ 

48%

2020
7.627 TWh

OTHERS 

52%
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1.2
Letter of the management

To whom it may concern!

In 2021, TEŠ did very well in terms of its business result. With two coal-fired units and 
two gas-fired units we produced and delivered 3,166 GWh of electricity and 343 GWh 
of thermal energy. We realised net sales revenues in the amount of EUR 223.3 million 
and ended up with profit after eight years.  We generated EBITDA in the amount of 
just over EUR 219 million, which was way above the planned one. However, this was 
exclusively the result of the settlement reached with General Electric in the framework 
of the Unit 6 investment.

We are proud of having reached a EUR 261 million-worth settlement with General 
Electric in the past year and to be compensated for a large share of damage the 
Company had suffered in relation to the construction of Unit 6. We also successfully 
completed the second regular overhaul of Unit 6 (a C-scope overhaul) in the 
framework of which all planned repairs were successfully implemented. It turned 
out once again that none of this could have been achieved if it were not for our own, 
dedicated and motivated employees and know-how. We are thus entering 2022 with 
a team of dedicated colleagues with whom we will try to achieve the goals we set.

A demanding period is ahead of us which will focus mainly on the cooperation 
in the coal region restructuring process. In line with the national strategy on coal 
phase-out and the restructuring of coal regions according to just transition principles 
which was adopted by the Government of the Republic of Slovenia in January 2022, 
we will cooperate with our parent company in preparing the plans for investing in 
technologies that will help to preserve and continue to develop the strategic energy-
generating location in the Šalek Valley. The following will be our priorities: social 
security of employees, providing reliability of operation of our energy-generating 
facilities, environmental protection, satisfaction of the owner and all other key 
stakeholders who are part of our operations.

Šoštanj, 20 May 2022

Termoelektrarna Šoštanj d.o.o.

Managing Director
Matjaž Vodušek, M.Sc.  

Director
Mitja Tašler
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In 2021, TEŠ which is fired by the Slovene coal from the Velenje Coal Mine operated 
with two steam-fired generation units and two gas units. It generated 3,166 GWh of 
electricity i.e., just 13% less compared to 2020. This is mainly due to lower production 
of electricity by Unit 6 because the latter was down for almost three months owing to 
regular overhaul, and partially also due to insufficient coal supply.

Last year we successfully completed other projects as well. We are very proud of 
having reached a EUR 261 million-worth out-of-court settlement with General Electric 
and to be compensated for a large share of damage the Company had suffered 
in relation to the construction of Unit 6. TEŠ realised EUR 231.8 million revenues 
from damages and reached EBITDA in the amount of EUR 219 million which is 
extraordinary.  The epidemic did not have any significant impact on the Company’s 
operations which is the result of good organisation of work and timely adopted 
measures.

In the near future we are going to have to face the challenge of just transition from 
coal to climate neutrality with a minimum impact on employees, broadly defined 
social security and efforts aimed at a healthy living environment.

Item 2021 2020 2021 / 2020

Net sales revenue (EUR) 223,262,186 238,025,039 94

Net profit or loss (EUR) 7,130,518 (280,428,143) /

Revenue (EUR) 454,982,375 239,223,519 190

Expenses (EUR) 447,247,812 519,651,662 86

EBIT = operating profit or loss (EUR) 27,323,388 (257,239,889) /

EBITDA = EBIT + write-downs (EUR) 219,026,119 22,314,011 982

Assets (EUR) 757,931,934 787,421,645 96

Equity (EUR) 241,010,274 233,642,841 103

Bank indebtedness (EUR) 372,252,991 438,710,964 85

Indebtedness to companies in the group (EUR) 3,943 2,327 169

Investments (EUR)* 32,337,996 5,880,786 550

Number of employees at the end of the period 316 322 98

Electricity sold (GWh) 3,166 3,640 87

Added value (EUR) 232,890,847 36,064,125 646

Added value per employee (EUR) 730,065 112,525 649

 
*The data on the increase in the costs of decommissioning Unit 6 is not included 
under the Investments item (EUR 189,616 for the year 2021 and EUR 2,739,539 for the 
year 2020). 

Operating highlights in 2021
1.3
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In 2021, TEŠ generated net sales revenues in the amount of EUR 223,262,186 or 6% less than in 2020, which is due to less 
produced/sold electricity (the second overhaul of Unit 6).

The Company’s net profit or loss amounts to EUR 7,130,518 with it being positive for the last time back in 2013. Good 
operating results in 2021 derive exclusively from the compensation (amounting to EUR 231.8 million) received from 
General Electric in the framework of an out-of-court settlement reached in the framework of Unit 6 construction. The 
profit would be even higher if it were not for the impairments of property, plant and equipment which were recognised 
on the basis of the assessment of recoverable amount of the Company’s long-term assets as at 31 December 2021 in 
the amount of EUR 161,087,000 (final report of 17 May 2022).

Owing to the revenues from damages TEŠ realised an extraordinary EBITDA in the amount of EUR 219 million which is 
EUR 196.7 million more than last year’s EBITDA. The Company's operating revenues went up by 91% just like operating 
expenses, which went up by 6% owing to a higher purchase price of emission allowances (no impairment of property, 
plant and equipment taken into account).

Compared to 2020, the assets of the Company are lower by 4%, mainly due to the impairment of property, plant and 
equipment, and amortisation of the assets which the Company needs for the performance of its core business activity. 
 
As to the investments, the Company mainly invested in the reliability of production in the amount of EUR 15.7 million 
and in the second overhaul of Unit 6 in the amount of EUR 15.6 million, with such investments contributing to the longer 
service life of generation units and eliminating technological and technical risks in the provision of electricity generation.

Indebtedness to banks amounts to EUR 372,252,991 and is 15% lower than at the end of 2020. In 2021, the Company 
repaid regular principal amounts of all long-term loans (EIB and EBRD) and all short-term loans raised with commercial 
banks. An early repayment of the fixed part of the loan raised with EBRD in the amount of EUR 28.8 million was made.

Owing to a favourable liquidity situation there was no need for planned borrowings from the parent company HSE. TEŠ 
granted a short-term loan to PV in the amount of EUR 20 million with a repayment deadline by the end of 2021 which 
was then extended by the end of 2022.  

As at 31 December 2021, TEŠ had 316 employees i.e., 6 less than at the end of 2020. 

In 2021, TEŠ generated and sold 3,166 GWh of electricity, which is 13% less than in 2020. The main reason for this being 
the second overhaul of Unit 6 which was down for almost three months and partially also due to insufficient coal 
supply.
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The supervisory board's report
1.4

On the basis of the Companies Act (ZGD-1), Articles of 
Association of the limited liability company TEŠ d.o.o., 
Rules of Procedure of the Supervisory Board of TEŠ d.o.o., 
and the Corporate Governance Code for Companies with 
State-Owned Assets, the Supervisory Board of TEŠ d.o.o. 
hereby issues the 2021 report of the Supervisory Board of 
TEŠ d.o.o.

Manner and scope of verifying the 2021 corporate 
governance and operations of TEŠ

The Supervisory Board of TEŠ was formed on 23 June 
2021. Apart from its constitutional meeting, the Board held 
four regular meetings in 2021 with all Board’s members 
being present at those meetings. The participation of 
the Board’s members can be seen in the table which 
is included in the corporate governance statement. 
The Supervisory Board was regularly acquainted with 
operational activities and current results of the Company’s 
operations as well as with the implementation of the 
resolutions they adopted. It also dealt with the Company’s 
business and strategic issues that have a significant impact 
on the Company’s interests. The Company’s Management 
regularly informed the Supervisory Board of the 
Company’s operations, the reports on the implementation 
of measures taken to optimise and streamline the 
Company’s operations, of solvency and capital adequacy, 
liquidity, indebtedness, receivables, risk management 
reports and the reports compiled by the internal audit 
department.

The Company’s Supervisory Board gave its consent to 
the long-term and annual work plan of the internal audit 
department of TEŠ for the year 2022, and was regularly 
informed of the department’s audits as well as of the 
quarterly Report on the Work of the Internal Audit 
Department.  The Company's Supervisory Board further 
intensified its activities aimed at controlling the Company’s 
liquidity position and capital adequacy. In performing its 
control function, the Supervisory Board obtained answers 
to additional questions raised from the materials prepared 
for its meetings.  

Based on the information and reports submitted to it by 
the Management, the Company’s Supervisory Board 
estimates to have been acting in the interest of the 
Company, within its powers and competences defined 
under the Slovenian Sovereign Holding Act (ZSDH-1) 

and the Company’s Articles of Associations, as well as 
by taking into account the reference Code of Corporate 
Governance of Companies with State Owned Assets 
(version from November 2019 and March 2021, SDH d.d.). 
The Management regularly informed the Company’s 
Supervisory Board of significant projects and events taking 
place at TEŠ.  

Operation of the Supervisory Board’s Audit Committee

In 2021 operated the Supervisory Board's Audit Committee 
which consisted of Tomaž Pestotnik, the Chairman (LL.B.), 
Aleš Rednjak (B.Sc. (Administration and Management)) and 
Rado Sodin, an external member (B.Sc. (Economics)).

The Supervisory Board’s Audit Committee was formed 
in July 2021. Apart from its constitutional meeting, the 
Committee held three regular meetings in 2021 with all 
Committee’s members being present at those meetings. 
The Audit Committee adopted the Rules of Procedure of 
the Audit Committee as well as its 2021 work plan. It also 
addressed relevant issues in line with the Companies Act 
(ZGD-1), Recommendations for Audit Committees, Rules of 
Procedure of the Audit Committee, the adopted work plan 
of the Supervisory Board’s Audit Committee for 2021, and 
the resolutions adopted by the Company's Supervisory 
Board. At meetings, it exercised its powers related to 
financial reporting, internal controls and risk management, 
the implementation of external audit and other tasks 
within its competences. The Committee reported to the 
members of the Company’s Supervisory board who are 
not members of the Audit Committee. The reporting was 
made through the Committee’s Chairman who regularly 
reported of the committee’s work at the meetings of the 
Company’s Supervisory Board and informed them of the 
minutes adopted at the meetings of the Committee.

In 2021, the Supervisory Board’s Audit Committee 
acquainted itself with quarterly reports of the internal audit 
department’s work and the reports on the implementation 
of its recommendations as well as with the Company’s 
2022 draft business plan and the register of risks within the 
Company. 

Opinion on the work of the Company’s Management

In 2021, the Company’s Supervisory Board controlled 
the management and operations of TEŠ in line with the 
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legislation and the powers vested in it. The Management also participated at 
the meetings of the Supervisory Board. Under each item, its members as well 
as other rapporteurs of different departments within the Company answered 
additional questions raised by the members of the Supervisory Board. Specialist 
services organised meetings, introduced ongoing technical improvements and 
provided administrative and organisational support to the work of the Company’s 
Supervisory Board. The Supervisory Board regularly monitored and evaluated 
the work performed by the Management i.e., when it discussed the Company’s 
interim operating results. The Management worked diligently and eagerly towards 
achieving the set business goals and optimal management of the Company, and 
cooperated well with the Supervisory Board.

Opinion on the company’s operations in 2021

In 2021, TEŠ generated and sold 3,166 GWh of electricity i.e., 13% less than in 
2020. The main reason for this being the second overhaul of Unit 6 which was 
down for almost three months and partially also due to insufficient coal supply.

The Company achieved a positive net operating result in the amount of 
EUR 7,130,518. Good operating results in 2021 derive exclusively from the 
compensation (amounting to EUR 231.8 million) received from General Electric in 
the framework of an out-of-court settlement reached in the framework of Unit 6 
construction. The profit could even be higher. However, it was negatively affected 
by the impairments of the Company’s long-term assets (EUR 161.1 million) as well 
as by the unfavourable ratios between the prices of electricity and prices of CO2 
emission allowances. 

Owing to the revenues from damages TEŠ realised an extraordinary EBITDA in 
the amount of EUR 219 million which is EUR 196.7 million more than last year’s 
EBITDA. The Company's operating revenues went up by 91% just like operating 
expenses, which went up by 6% owing to a higher purchase price of emission 
allowances (no impairment of property, plant and equipment taken into account). 

The realised financial outcome is negative in the amount of EUR -19,588,825, and 
is better compared to the one realised in 2020, owing to lower financial expenses. 
The negative result was influenced by interest on and costs of loan guarantees 
received from banks for financing investments and sustainable business 
operations. Compared to those of the previous year, financial expenses are lower 
owing to the lower borrowings raised with banks (regular repayment of loans’ 
principals, including an early repayment of the fixed part of the loan raised with 
EBRD) and undrawn loans raised with the parent company.

Owing to a favourable liquidity situation there was no need for planned 
borrowings from the parent company HSE. The Company granted a short-term 
loan to PV in the amount of EUR 20 million with a repayment deadline by the end 
of 2021 which was then extended by the end of 2022.  

Due to the impairment of assets made on the basis of the assessment of 
recoverable amount of the Company’s long-term assets in 2021 (final report of 17 
May 2022), the unrelieved loss exceeded one half of the Company's registered 
capital making the Company allegedly insolvent (the second point of Article 
14(3) of the Financial Operations, Insolvency Proceedings, and Compulsory 
Dissolution Act – ZFPPIPP). To remedy the insolvency, the procedures for a 
simplified reduction in the registered capital by EUR 383 million (transfer to capital 
reserves) to EUR 195.6 million are under way (the minimum to be complied 
with under the financial covenants agreed with the EBRD amounts to EUR 193.3 
million). Taking this measure, the Company will regain its solvency and capital 
adequacy.

”

“

In 2021, TEŠ generated and 
sold 3,166 GWh of electricity 
i.e., 13% less than in 2020. 
The main reason for this 
being the second overhaul 
of Unit 6 which was down 
for almost three months 
and partially also due to 
insufficient coal supply.
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Identifying accumulated profit/loss

At the end of the year the Company had a negative retained 
operating result consisting of the net profit in the amount of 
EUR 7,130,518 for 2021, minus a negative retained operating 
result for 2020, adjusted by the amount of utilisation of 
provisions for retirement benefits in 2021 in the amount of 
EUR 44,149. TEŠ ended the year 2021 with a total accumulated 
loss in the amount of EUR 565,715,568. However, compared 
to the year 2020, the loss was EUR 7,174,667 lower.

Validation and approval of the Company’s 2021 annual 
report with a stance on the audit report and the auditor’s 
management letter

Immediately after the auditor’s management letter was 
compiled and released, the Management of TEŠ submitted 
the 2021 Annual Report for the company TEŠ to the 
Supervisory Board of TEŠ, in accordance with Article 272(3) of 
the Companies Act (ZGD-1), together with the auditor’s report 
for 2021 which the Supervisory Board of TEŠ discussed at its 
meeting No. 8 (regular meeting) on 21 June 2022.   

The 2021 Annual Report for the Company TEŠ was audited 
by Deloitte revizija d.o.o. audit firm which issued a written 
opinion on 20 May 2022 that the financial statements of TEŠ 
give a true and fair view of the financial position of TEŠ, and 
that they have been compiled in accordance with the IFRS. 
The Audit Committee of the Supervisory Board of TEŠ held 
meeting No. 9 (regular meeting) on 21 June 2022 at which it 
discussed the audited 2021 Annual Report of the Company 
TEŠ and found that the annual report was compiled in a 
timely and transparent manner and in accordance with the 
Companies Act (ZGD-1), applicable International Standards 
of Financial Reporting (IFRS) and International Valuation 
Standards adopted by the European Commission, as well as 
in accordance with the provisions of the energy Act (EZ-1) and 
other relevant legislation (Financial Operations, Insolvency 
Proceedings, and Compulsory Dissolution Act, Auditing Act 
etc.). 

The Audit Committee of the Supervisory Board of TEŠ also 
got acquainted with the findings and recommendations from 
the Letter to the Management of TEŠ d.o.o. after the audit for 
2021, prepared by the Deloitte revizija d.o.o. audit company. 
The Audit Committee had no comments on the 2021 Annual 
Report of the Company TEŠ. Therefore, it proposed to the 
Supervisory Board of TEŠ that, in accordance with Article 
282 of the Companies Act (ZGD-1), it adopt a decision on the 
approval of the 2021 Annual Report of the Company TEŠ. 
Based on the auditor's opinion, the position of the Audit 
Committee of the Company's Supervisory Board, the data 
and disclosures in the 2021 Annual Report for the Company 
TEŠ, the Supervisory Board of TEŠ assesses that the auditor 
performed his work independently and professionally, in 
accordance with applicable legislation and business practice, 
that the annual the report was drawn up in all material aspects 
in accordance with the requirements of the Companies 
Act (ZGD-1) and that the financial statements in all material 

aspects fairly represent the financial position of TEŠ as at 31 
December 2021, the operating result and cash flows for the 
then concluded year in accordance with the International 
Standards of Financial Reporting (ISFR) as adopted by the 
European Union.  

The Supervisory Board of TEŠ has no comments to the 
auditor’s report. The Supervisory Board of TEŠ also has no 
comments to the 2021 Annual Report for the Company TEŠ 
that would in any way hinder it in adopting a resolution to 
approve it. Therefore, the Supervisory Board of TEŠ adopted 
the 2021 Annual Report for the Company TEŠ in accordance 
with Article 282(3) of the Companies Act (ZGD-1). The Board 
adopted the aforementioned report within the given time limit 
i.e., before the expiry of one month of the day on which the 
Company’s Management submitted the 2021 Annual Report 
to the Supervisory Board of TEŠ expired. 

2021 report on the relations with the affiliated companies

In the framework of reviewing the Annual Report, the 
Supervisory Board also verified the 2021 report on the 
relations with affiliated companies. The Supervisory 
Board has no comments to the statement made by the 
Management in the 2021 report on the relations with affiliated 
companies, according to which TEŠ d.o.o., as a subsidiary 
and affiliated company, suffered no loss in the reporting 
period.

In accordance with Article 546.a of the Companies Act 
(ZGD-1), the Supervisory Board verified the Independent 
Auditor’s Report on the aforementioned assurance and 
the 2021 report on the relations with affiliated companies. 
In the aforementioned report the auditor issued a decision 
confirming that they found nothing in the report that would 
made them not to believe that:
• the information in the report on the relations with affiliated 

companies for year that ended on 31 December 2021 are in 
all material aspects true and accurate; 

• in relation to the legal transactions indicated in the 
report the value of fulfilment of the company was not 
disproportionately high in relation to the circumstances 
known at the time when the legal transactions were 
concluded,

• regarding other actions indicated in the report, there 
are no circumstances indicating a substantially different 
assessment than the one given by the Management. 

The Supervisory Board has no comments to the outcome 
of the audit of the 2021 report on the relations with affiliated 
companies.

Šoštanj, 20 May 2022
 
Viktor Vračar, Ph.D.
Chairman of the Supervisory Board of TEŠ
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On 4 January 2020, a Short-term loan agreement for 
liquidity assets was signed with BKS AG in the amount of 
EUR 5.0 million and a maturity date of 31 December 2021.

On the basis of the Long-term agreement on the purchase 
of coal, lease of power and purchase of electricity signed 
on 12 March 2015, and the Agreement on the regulation 
of mutual relations in the area of electricity market 
performance, the Agreement on the purchase of coal, lease 
of power and purchase of electricity for 2021 was concluded 
on 3 February 2021. The Agreement specifies the rights and 
obligations of the respective parties regarding the purchase 
of coal, lease of power, ancillary services, and the purchase 
of electricity produced from coal in 2021.

Due to a wrong interpretation of the activities relating to the 
co-incineration project by the media (9 February 2021), the 
Management of TEŠ published a clarification, despite being 
convinced of a reasonable and environmentally acceptable 
realisation of the project, that no co-incineration activity 
would take place at TEŠ Unit 6 because the local community 
was against the project. 

In March 2021, the Company’s specialist services and HSE 
agreed the Sales/Purchase agreement on the sale, purchase, 
transfer and acceptance of emission allowances valid in the 
third period of the European trading scheme (2013-2020), 
and the payment of the contractually agreed price. The 
subject of the agreement is the purchase of 3,681,347 CO2 
emission allowances needed by TEŠ to fulfil its obligations 
arising from greenhouse gas emissions generated in 2020. 
The Supervisory Board of HSE approved the Agreement 
which was signed in April 2021.

On 10 March, TEŠ and HSE signed an out-of-court 
settlement with General Electric (GE) which is the legal 
successor of Alstom. The settlement in total amount of  
EUR 261 million was signed for the benefit of TEŠ. 
Consequently, the claim before the International Chamber 
of Commerce whose aim was to enforce the claim 
for damages in respect of allegedly illegal acts in the 
construction of TEŠ Unit 6 was withdrawn.

On 22 April TEŠ received the founder's consent to the legal 
transaction involving a granting of a short-term loan in 
the amount of EUR 20 million to PV. The agreement was 
concluded on 30 April 2021. This involves a short-term cash 
assets management when TEŠ faces surplus liquidity while 

PV faces a short-term deficit. In 2021, TEŠ benefited from the 
transaction financially as they paid less safekeeping fees to 
the banks and received the interest on the borrowed amount 
at the same time. Being granted the loan, PV repaid the 
advance to TEŠ.

On 17 May, the founder of TEŠ reviewed and adopted the 
Company's audited 2020 Annual Report, including the 
Auditor's Report.

On 23 June, the Supervisory Board of Termoelektrarna 
Šoštanj d.o.o. was formed based on the amended 
Companies Act (ZGD-1K).

The Slovenian National Building and Civil Engineering 
Institute extended the validity of the Slovenian Technical 
Approval (STS) by the end of 2021.

On 12 July, the Audit Committee of the Supervisory Board 
of Termoelektrarna Šoštanj d.o.o. was formed based on the 
amended Companies Act (ZGD-1K).

On 14 July, the European Commission introduced a 
package of 14 legislative proposals under the “Fit for 55” 
package which represents the roadmap to meet the EU’s 
goal of cutting greenhouse gas emissions by 55% by 2030 
(compared to 1990) and puts it on track to reach climate 
neutrality by 2050.    The proposed revision of the EU 
emissions trading scheme is bringing about the extension 
to the maritime transport, buildings and road transport. 
In order to increase the efficiency of the existing EU ETS 
(European Union Emissions Trading System), the existing 
mechanisms (LRF – Linear Reduction Factor, MSR – Market 
Stability Reserve) are being tightened, which will lead to an 
accelerated reduction in the number of emission allowances 
in circulation in the next decade.

On 28 July TEŠ received a Decision on the total free amount 
of emission allowances required for the generation of 
thermal energy. According to the Decision, TEŠ is entitled 
to 69,590 free emission allowances for a five-year period 
starting on 1 January 2021 and ending on 31 December 2025 
(of which 14,672 are for the year 2021).

At the end of July, the second regular overhaul of Unit 
6 was completed (the overhaul which started on 7 May 
should have ended on 18 July but got postponed due to 
delays in the overhaul of the rotary part of the rotor and 

Chronological overview of significant events in 2021
1.5

18  /  BUSINESS REPORT BUSINESS REPORT  /  19



the stationary part of the turbo generator set housing in 
Berlin), in the framework of which regular maintenance 
works in line with the manufacturers’ plan as well as some 
warranty repairs were performed. The anticipated scope 
of works included overhaul works on the systems of the 
technical unit, the treatment of flue gas and common 
installations: boilers, turbines, post-combustion system, flue 
gas treatment system, by-products system and common 
installations system. The first works under the Agreement on 
the Long-Term Service and Digitalisation of Unit 6 were also 
performed.

On 13 September Jernej Vrtovec, the Minister of 
Infrastructure of the Government of the Republic of 
Slovenia and his team, visited PV and TEŠ. Together with the 
management of HSE he was given a tour of coal excavation 
process and was also acquainted with the financial and 
business restructuring plan of the company. They visited 
TEŠ afterwards. 

In November, TEŠ submitted a notification of amendment 
to the environmental permit to the Ministry of Environment 
and Spatial Planning to be granted a permit to use biomass 
as fuel at Unit 6. 

On 30 November Matjaž Vodušek was appointed the new 
Managing Director of TEŠ by HSE. His four-year term 
started on 1 January 2022. Mitja Tašler has retained his 
function of the Director of TEŠ. As of 1 January 2022, Viktor 
Vračar was removed from office as the Managing Director 
of TEŠ.

On 30 November Viktor Vračar was appointed a new 
member of the Supervisory Board of TEŠ. His four-year 
term started on 1 January 2022. As of 1 January 2022, Drago 
Skornšek was removed from office as the member of the 
Supervisory Board of TEŠ.

On 22 December Agreement No. 69/22/HSEN (Electricity 
Generated by TEŠ Gas-Fired Units for the year 2022) and 
Agreement No. 1/22/HSE/CO2 (Sales, Purchase and Transfer 
of Emission Allowances to Cover the Liabilities Arising from 
the Production of Thermal Energy for the Year 2021) were 
concluded.

At the end of December TEŠ received a waiver of breach of 
covenants regarding the FDSCR/HDSCR indicators as at 30 
June 2021 from EBRD. 
Owing to the unrelieved loss brought forward from the 
previous years and the impairment of long-term assets in 
the amount of EUR 161.1 million applied at the end of 2021, 
the Company’s loss brought forward from the previous 
years exceeded one half of the Company’s registered 
capital, making it allegedly insolvent. A preliminary 
anticipated measure to provide capital adequacy of TEŠ (a 
simplified reduction of the Company’s registered capital by 
EUR 383 million, transferring this amount to capital reserves) 
is under way. Taking this measure, the Company will regain 
its solvency and capital adequacy.
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On 13 January the Republic of Slovenia adopted a National 
Coal Phase-Out Strategy under which it will stop using 
coal for electricity production by 2033. This is the first and 
necessary step for the actual start of the restructuring 
process for the thermal division within the HSE group 
and the region, according to the just transition principles. 
In the months to come, the process will be followed by 
the adoption of the necessary legislation regarding the 
shutting down and restructuring as well as the acquisition 
of European funds for the implementation of just transition 
projects.

On the basis of the Long-term agreement on the purchase 
of coal, lease of power and purchase of electricity 
signed on 12 March 2015, and the Agreement on the 
regulation of mutual relations in the area of electricity 
market performance, a uniform agreement was signed 

don 22 April 2022. The Agreement specifies the rights and 
obligations of the respective parties regarding the purchase 
of coal, lease of ancillary services, and the purchase of 
electricity produced from coal, gas, fuel oil and biomass 
in 2022. The agreement is based on the amended transfer 
pricing model i.e., on the cost-plus fee method.

In March 2022, the Company’s specialist services and 
HSE agreed the Sales/Purchase agreement on the sale, 
purchase, transfer and acceptance of emission allowances 
valid in the fourth period of the European trading scheme 
(2021-2030), and the payment of the contractually agreed 
price. The subject of the agreement is the purchase of 
3,263,823 emission allowances needed by TEŠ to fulfil 
its obligations arising from greenhouse gas emissions 
generated in 2021. The agreement was executed on  
23 March 2022.

˘

Significant events after the end of financial year
1.6
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1.7.1 Company profiles as at 31 December 2021

Termoelektrarna Šoštanj is a 
limited liability company whose 
sole company member is Holding 
Slovenske elektrarne d.o.o. (HSE)

Company
details

GENERAL INFORMATION

Full company name Termoelektrarna Šoštanj d.o.o.

Legal organisational form Limited liability company with a sole shareholder

Address Cesta Lole Ribarja 18, 3325 Šoštanj

Telephone 03 8993 200

Fax 03 8993 485

Companies register entry no. 10051100 - District Court of Celje

Share capital in EUR 578,579,850

Size Large  

Year of establishment 1956

Tax number 92189903

VAT ID no. SI92189903

Company registration no. 5040388

Website www.te-sostanj.si

E-mail info@te-sostanj.si

Activity code 35.112

DATA ON TRANSACTION ACCOUNTS

BANK Transaction account  

Banka Intesa Sanpaolo d.d. 101000038312861

NLB d.d. 024260017217937

NOVA KBM d.d. 045150001707126

UNICREDIT BANKA SLOVENIJA d.d. 290000003080383

BKS BANK AG 350010001650464

DATA ON MANAGEMENT AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2021

POSITION Name and surname Start End

General Director Viktor Vračar, Ph.D. 1. 9. 2019 1. 1. 2025

General Director Matjaž Vodušek, M.Sc. 1. 1. 2022 31. 12. 2025

Managing Director Mitja Tašler 1. 3. 2019 31. 8. 2023

AUDIT COMMITTEE  INFORMATION AS AT 31.12.2021

POSITION Name and surname Start End

President Tomaž Pestotnik 23. 6. 2021 22. 6. 2025

Member Aleš Rednjak 18. 6. 2021 17. 6. 2025

External Member Rado Sodin 23. 6. 2021 22. 6. 2025

SUPERVISORY BOARD INFORMATION AS AT 31.12.2021

POSITION Name and surname Start End

President Drago Skornšek 23. 6. 2021 1. 1. 2022

President Viktor Vračar, Ph.D. 1. 1. 2022 31. 12. 2025

Member Tomaž Pestotnik 7. 6. 2021 6. 6. 2025

Member Aleš Rednjak 18. 6. 2021 17. 6. 2025

1.7
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1.7.2 Company’s business activities
The Company has several registered activities. Its core activity is the production 
of electricity in thermal power plants.

1.7.3 Corporate governance statement
The company Termoelektrarna Šoštanj d.o.o., Cesta Lole Ribarja 18, 3325 Šoštanj 
(TEŠ), hereby presents its Corporate Governance Statement in compliance with 
paragraph 5 of Article 70 of the Companies Act (ZGD-1). The statement refers to 
the period starting on 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2021. 

The Management and the Supervisory Board of TEŠ hereby declare that the 
2021 Company's governance complied with the applicable laws and other 
regulations, Articles of Association of the limited liability company TEŠ, and the 
recommendations comprised in the corporate governance code for companies 
with state-owned assets. 

In line with Article 60.a of the Companies Act, the Management and Supervisory 
Board of TEŠ hereby declare that the annual report and all integral parts thereof, 
including the corporate governance statement, have been compiled and 
published in conformity with the Companies Act and the International Financial 
Reporting Standards. 

The corporate governance statement is an integral part of the annual report and 
is available of the Company's website www.te-sostanj.si.

OWNERSHIP STRUCTURE OF COMPANY

Member / Shareholder Address Share in 
EUR as at 
31.12.2021

Share 
in% as at 
31.12.2021

Holding Slovenske elektrarne d.o.o. Koprska 92, Ljubljana 578,579,850 100%
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Statement of compliance with the Corporate governance code for companies with 
state-owned assets (SDH Code) and Recommendations and expectations of Slovenian 
Sovereign Holding (Slovenski državni holding - SDH) (SDH Recommendations)

TEŠ uses as its reference code the Corporate governance code for companies with state-
owned assets of SDH adopted in November 2019 and amended in March 2021 (the Code) 
and runs its business in line with the Recommendations and expectations adopted by 
SDH in August 2020. Both the Code and Recommendations and expectations are publicly 
available on the SDH website.

Pursuant to Section 3.4.1 of the Code TEŠ hereby declares that they decided to use the 
Code on a voluntary basis. The Company more or less meaningfully considered the Code 
in its business operations, taking into account its activities and other special features.

In 2021, the Company fully observed the majority of recommendations of the SDH Code in 
accordance with the comply-or-explain principle. The deviations are explained hereafter:

• Recommendation No. 3.1: Priporočilo se uporablja delno – družba zasleduje tudi 
nefinančne cilje.

• Recommendation No. 3.2: The Company has not adopted a company management 
policy. Its management is conducted in compliance with the Articles of Association, 
business plan, and the applicable regulatory framework.

• Recommendation No. 4.2: The recommendation is not applied because the Company is 
a subsidiary fully owned by one company member. The Company’s Management reports 
to the founder on the Company’s operations in line with the Articles of Association. The 
communication between the management bodies and the sole company member takes 
place at the meetings of the management of subsidiaries. 

• Recommendation No. 6.1 (from 6.1.1 to 6.1.5): The recommendation is applied only 
partially; in accordance with the Articles of Association, the Supervisory Board of TEŠ has 
not been vested with powers for appointing or removing from office the members of the 
management, for determining rights and obligations of the members of the management 
and for making decisions on granting consent to certain major transactions. 

• Recommendation No. 6.2 (from 6.2.1 to 6.2.6): The succession policy is not implemented 
through the Supervisory Board of TEŠ because in accordance with the Articles of 
Association the Supervisory Board of TEŠ has not been vested with powers to prepare 
and implement the succession policy in cooperation with the Management.

• Recommendation No. 6.3.1: The recommendation is not applied because in accordance 
with the Articles of Association the Supervisory Board of TEŠ has not been vested with 
powers to make business decisions (granting consent to a transaction).

• Recommendation No. 6.5.1: The recommendation is not applied. The members of 
the Supervisory Board are appointed by the sole company member. In appointing the 
members, the founder pursues the goal of the members of supervisory bodies having 
adequate qualifications for performing their function.

• Recommendation No. 6.8: The recommendation is applied only partially; the information 
on the independence of the candidate is disclosed in terms of the definition under the 
Code.  

• Recommendation No. 6.9.1 to 6.9.9: The recommendation is not applied because the 
Company has no nomination committee. The members of the Supervisory Board are 
appointed by the sole company member. 

• Recommendation No. 6.12: The recommendation is not applied because the Company 
has no general meeting. Self-assessment (performance evaluation procedure) was not 
carried out in 2021, because the Supervisory Board was not formed until June 2021.

• Recommendation No. 6.13 (from 6.13.1 to 6.13.3): Self-assessment (performance 
evaluation procedure) was not carried out in 2021, because the Supervisory Board was 
not formed until June 2021.

• Recommendation No. 6.14: The recommendation is applied only partially; the company 
has no personnel committee.  

• Recommendation No. 8.1.1: The recommendation is applied only partially; the Company 
does not carry out any R&D activities.

• Recommendation no. 8.5: The recommendation is not applied; the Company is a limited 
liability company (d.o.o.) and not a public limited company (d.d.).

Report on the implementation  
of the SDH Code

24  /  BUSINESS REPORT



• Recommendation No. 9.2.3: The recommendation is applied only partially; the 
Company is a subsidiary and has its internal audit activity arranged through the 
controlling company HSE.

• Recommendation No. 9.3.1: The recommendation is not applied because HSE is 
the sole company member.

• Recommendation No. 10.1: The Company is a controlled company and applies the 
Code of Ethics adopted at the level of the controlling company.

• Recommendation No. 11.1: The recommendation is applied only partially; the 
Company is a subsidiary and has its corporate compliance and integrity arranged 
through the controlling company HSE.

The Company more or less meaningfully considered the Recommendations 
of the Slovenian Sovereign Holding (August 2020) in its business operations, taking 
into account its activities and other special features. The Company fully observed the 
majority of recommendations in accordance with the comply-or-explain principle. 
The deviations are explained hereafter:

• Recommendation No. 2.1 to 2.9: The recommendation is not applied because HSE 
is the sole company member of TEŠ.

• Recommendation No. 3.11: The recommendation is applied only partially; the 
Company has defined the amounts to be allocated to and individual sponsorship 
and donation agreements in the HSE Group Sponsorship and Donations 
Allocations Strategy.

• Recommendation No. 4.5: The recommendation is applied only partially; the 
collective agreement for the industry is publicly available. The Entrepreneurial 
collective agreement, Rules on salaries and Rules on promotion are publicly 
available on the Company’s Intranet site.

• Recommendation No. 5: The recommendation is not applied. The attainment 
of quality and excellence in the operation of companies by self-assessment 
according to the tested EFQM European excellence model was not realised. 
Its implementation will be analysed and coordinated in the future within the 
framework of the HSE Group. 

• Recommendation No. 6: The recommendation is not applied because the 
Company is a limited liability company (d.o.o.) and not a public limited company 
(d.d.) and has no general meeting.

• Recommendation No. 6.9: The sole company member HSE makes a decision on 
the discharge.

• Recommendation No. 7: Sustainable reporting is implemented within the 
companies of the HSE Group.

• Recommendation No. 8.1 and 8.2: TEŠ has not signed a commitment on the 
respect of human rights in business with the Ministry of Foreign Affairs.

 
In accordance with the Articles of Association of TEŠ it was Holding Slovenske 
Elektrarne d.o.o. in its capacity as the sole company member who managed 
the Company in 2021. The Management and Supervisory Board constitute the 
management and supervisory bodies of TEŠ. The Diversity Policy of the TEŠ 
management and supervisory bodies was adopted on 10 September 2021 and is 
published on the Company’s website. The general goal of the Diversity Policy is 
to achieve better efficiency of the Supervisory Board and the Management as a 
whole. The Diversity Policy shall particularly be implemented by applying relevant 
procedure for the recruitment and selection of candidates for members of the 
Supervisory Board and the Management, and by the selection itself. It is important 
to use recruitment channels by way of which a wide selection of various candidates 
is enabled. Both the Supervisory Board and the sole company member strive to 
achieve the goals of the Diversity Policy. The Diversity Policy sets the frameworks 
which enable an adequate composition of the management and supervisory bodies 
and the members of the aforementioned bodies, considering the specificities of 
TEŠ, to have adequate knowledge, skills and experience which are required for an 
in-depth understanding of the Company’s business activities and the associated key 
risks, and s pursuit of the key goals. There are endeavours for as even representation 
of both sexes as possible as well as for continuity in the sense that not all members 

Report on the implementation of 
the SDH Recommendations ad 
expectations

Data on the operation of 
management and supervisory 
bodies
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of the management and supervisory bodies are replaced at the same time. What 
also matters is the complementarity of the members of the Supervisory Board and 
the effort for the Supervisory Board to consist of at least one representative of the 
economic, legal and technical profession. The Supervisory Board and the founder as 
well as the Works Council implement the Diversity Policy to the maximum possible 
extent given the pool of candidates. The diversity of sexes is represented 100% : 0% 
in the Supervisory Board and 100% : 0% in the Management.

In line with the Articles of Association of TEŠ, the founder manages the Company 
directly and through the Company's bodies.

The founder decides independently on the following matters:
• modifications of and amendments to the Company's Articles of Association;
• change of the registered office on the proposal of the management;
• adoption of the Company's development strategy on the proposal of the 

Management following a preliminary consent of the Supervisory Board; 
• adoption of the Company's fundamental corporate policy and development 

programme on the proposal of the management;
• adoption of the Company's business plan;
• adoption of regulations, policies and other general acts that generally apply to 

all companies within the HSE Group;
• adoption of the annual report provided the Supervisory Board failed to approve 

the annual report or if the Management and the Supervisory Board leave the 
decision as to the adoption of the annual report to the founder;

• appropriation of accumulated profit and covering the loss on the proposal of 
the Supervisory Board;

• granting of discharge to the members of the Management and the Supervisory 
Board;

• purchase, division and termination of business interests;
• measures to increase or decrease the Company's equity;
• changes to the Company’s registered capital;
• changes in the status and winding-up of the Company;
• appointment of the Company's auditor;
• appointment of the Company's procuration holder and proxies;
• adoption of measures to improve the Company's business performance and 

eliminating any identified deficiencies or irregularities;
• granting consent to transactions of the Company's Management in line with the 

Articles of Association currently in force;
• appointment and recall of members of the Company's management;
• concluding employment agreements with members of the management;
• appointing and removing from office the members of the Supervisory Board 

and Audit Committee;
• remuneration of the members of the Supervisory Board and Audit Committee 

(except for the external member of the Audit Committee whose remuneration is 
determined by the Supervisory Board);

• requests regarding reports of the Management on the Company's business 
operations and other issues related to the operations of the Company and other 
subsidiaries;

• other matters defined by regulations and in conformity with this act.

In accordance with Article 526 of the Companies Act (ZGD-1), the decisions 
adopted by the company member are entered in the Register of Decisions.

In 2021, the Supervisory Board acted in line with its powers determined in the 
Companies Act (ZGD-1), Slovenian Sovereign Holding Act (ZSDH-1), Articles of 
Association of TEŠ, Rules of Procedure of the Supervisory Board and the Code 
of Corporate Governance of Companies with State-Owned Assets as a reference 
code (following a comply-or-explain principle). The Articles of Association of TEŠ 
stipulate the composition, a four-year term and powers of the Supervisory Board. 
The Supervisory Board of TEŠ was formed on 23 June 2021. The Supervisory 
Board consisted of three members, two of which represented the founder's and 

Managing bodies of the Company

Founder

Operation of the Supervisory Board 
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one of them the employees’ interests (they are appointed and removed from office 
in accordance with the Worker Participation in Management Act). The members of 
the Supervisory Board are appointed for a four-year term with a possibility of being 
reappointed once their term comes to an end. The composition and operation 
of the Supervisory Board are introduced in the report of the Supervisory Board 
as well as in that of the Supervisory Board’s Audit Committee which provides 
professional assistance to the operations of the Supervisory Board.

Composition of the Supervisory Board and Audit Committee in 2021 

Name and surname Drago Skornšek Tomaž Pestotnik Aleš Rednjak

Position (Chairman, Deputy, Member of  
the Supervisory Board)

Chairman Deputy Chairman Member of the  
Supervisory Board

First appointed on 7.6.2021 7.6.2021 18.6.2021

End of office/term 1.1.2022 6.6.2025 17.6.2025

Representative of capital/employees Representative of capital Representative of capital Representative of employees

Presence at the meetings of the Supervisory 
Board given the total number of its meetings 

100% 100% 100%

Gender Male Male Male

Citizenship of Slovenia of Slovenia of Slovenia

Year of birth 1962 1983 1967

Education B.Sc. (Mechanical 
Engineering)

LL.B. B.Sc. (Administration and 
Management)

Professional profile Mechanical engineering, 
management, sales and trade 

of electricity

Legal affairs, corporate 
governance, organisation, 

company restructuring

Electrical engineering, 
electricity generation

Independence under Article 23 of the Code 
(YES/NO)

Yes Yes Yes

Existence of conflict of interests in the 
financial year (YES/NO)

No No No

Membership in the management bodies of 
other companies 

No No No

Membership in committees / Yes, Audit Committee Yes, Audit Committee

Chairman/member of the committee / Audit Committee – Chairman 
since 23 June 2021 

Audit Committee – Member 
since 18 June 2021

Presence at the meetings of the Committee 
given the total number of its meetings

/ 100% 100%

External member of the supervisory Board's Audit Committee:

Name and surname Rado Sodin

Committee Audit Committee

Presence at the meetings of the Supervisory 
Board's Audit Committee given the total 

number of its meetings

100%

Gender Male

Citizenship of Slovenia

Education B.Sc. (Economics)

Year of birth 1982

Professional profile Economics, certified auditor, 
certified business appraiser, 

state internal auditor 

Membership in the management bodies of 
entities not affiliated with the Company 

No

The managing body of the Company is constituted by the Company's Management.

The company has two members of the management who run the Company’s 
business and represent it at their own responsibility in the period from 1 January 
2021 to 31 December 2021 i.e., Viktor Vračar, Managing Director and Mitja Tašler, 
Director.

Operation of the Company’s 
management

26  /  BUSINESS REPORT BUSINESS REPORT  /  27



Name and surname Viktor Vračar Mitja Tašler

Position Managing Director Director

Scope of work within the 
Management

not defined in the Rules 
of Procedure of the 

Management

not defined in the Rules 
of Procedure of the 

Management

First appointed on 1 Sep 2019 1 Mar 2019

1 Sep 2019 1.1.2022 31.8.2025

End of office/term 01/01/2022 31/08/2025

Gender Male Male

Citizenship of Slovenia of Slovenia

Year of birth 1971 1977

Education B.Sc. (Electrical 
Engineering)

poslovodenje, elektrotehnika 
proizvodnja električne energije

M.Sc. (Management and 
Organisation)

/ Savinjsko-šaleška gospodarska 
zbornica

PhD in Management and 
Organisation

Graduate in Electrical 
Engineering

Professional profile Management, 
organisation, restructuring

Management, electrical 
engineering, production of 

electricity

Membership in the management 
bodies of companies not affiliated 

with the Company

/ Savinja-Šalek Chamber of 
Commerce

The members of the management are appointed and recalled by the company member. 
A member of the management is appointed for a term of four years with the possibility of 
reappointment.

Unless the contracting party is HSE d.o.o., the Management of the Company shall, as stipulated 
in the Articles of Association, require the consent of the company member for the conclusion 
of transactions or the adoption of decisions relating to the following: 
• conclusion of legal transactions and raising loans in the amount exceeding EUR 400,000 for 

the same subject of business in the respective financial year, with multiannual transaction the 
proportionate value being taken into account given the duration of such transaction; 

• purchasing, disposal of and mortgaging real estate; 
• equity investments of the Company in other legal entities; 
• holding and encumbering business interests/shares in subsidiaries and associated companies;
• approving investment programmes exceeding the value of EUR 1,000,000.00;
• starting an individual investment as an off-plan item with the anticipated value exceeding  

EUR 100,000.00;
• start of an investment in IT whose estimated value exceeds EUR 50,000.00 (due to the need 

for coordinated development of IT in the HSE Group); 
• issuing collaterals, warranties or guarantees for other parties’ liabilities;
• disinvestments of business non-core assets above EUR 50,000 if such disinvestments are 

included in the business plan as well as all disinvestments not included in the business plan.

At any time, the company member may adopt a decision under which the Company’s 
Management shall obtain a preliminary consent from the founder also for the conclusion of 
certain legal transactions (defined either according to their type and/or their value) that are not 
listed above.

Internal audit is organised at the level of the parent company HSE d.o.o. The latter carries out 
internal auditing in the entire HSE Group in accordance with the International Professional 
Practices Framework. It acts with the goal of adding value in the implementation of strategic 
and business goals. 
Organisational independence has been realised through the internal audit being organised 
as an independent organisational unit which reports to the Management of TEŠ in terms of 
organisation and to the Audit Committee i.e., the Supervisory Board in terms of its function. It 
carries out internal auditing in the entire HSE Group in accordance with the Internal Auditing 
Rules Hierarchy.

From the aspect of providing accounting data that comply with the criteria of the International 
Financial Reporting Standards, the Company has established internal controls designed to 
reduce the risks related to financial reporting. By means of accounting controls, we ensure 
credibility, accuracy and completeness of accounting data.

Internal audit 

Internal controls and risk management 
within the Company in relation to the 

financial reporting procedure

In 2021, the Company's 
Management consisted of:
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We ensure regular professional training of employees, which enables them to contribute 
quality, accurate and timely accounting data through their work. Our central IT system (SAP) 
has an important role in providing quality accounting data.

We see the Company's internal controls system as the planned and systematic 
establishment of procedures and methods which, in the course of their operation, ensure 
punctuality, reliability and completeness of data and information, as well as accurate and 
fair preparation of financial statements, prevent and detect errors in the system, and ensure 
compliance with the laws and other regulations and internal acts of the Company.

With the aim of ensuring better transparency, efficiency and responsible business 
operations, the Company has established a functional internal controls system and risk 
management system through its organisational structure, the ISO 9001 quality management 
standard, the OHSAS 18001 occupational health and safety standard and the internal acts of 
the Company, together with a developed reporting system in individual organisational units. 
The internal controls system is supported by an IT controls system which, among other 
things, ensures adequate limitations and control over the network, as well as precise, up-to-
date and complete data management. 

With the aim of setting up a comprehensive risk management system in the Company so as 
to provide its management and the founder with sound bases for managing and governing 
the Company, as well as to achieve the planned goals, the Company’s Management set 
up a consultation body – Risk Management Committee. The Committee’s organisation, 
composition, method of work, and tasks are defined in the Rules of Procedure of the Risk 
Management Committee. The Company has also adopted its Code of Ethics which is 
published on its website.

The management is responsible for the establishment, operation, supervision and 
continuous improvement of the internal controls system, as well as for the accuracy and 
completeness of data.

In the framework of the sole company member the corporate compliance department also 
operates. Within the internal controls system, its operation is defined by the rules that apply 
to all the companies within the HSE Group, TEŠ included, and were adopted in January 
2021. Its main task is to manage the risks arising from non-compliance with legislation. The 
main subject areas of operation of the corporate compliance department are: cooperation 
in the management of the internal controls system, prevention of corruption and fraud, 
implementation of the HSE Group's code of ethics, management of conflicts of interest, 
communication with or reporting to external institutions or supervisory authorities in 
accordance with internal delimitation of competences with other key and corporate 
departments within the HSE group, and collective activities for integrity enhancement.

We, the undersigned members of the Management and the Chairman of the Supervisory 
Board, are acquainted with the content of integral parts of the Annual Report of TEŠ d.o.o. 
for 2021 and thus also with the entire Annual Report of TEŠ d.o.o. for 2021. We hereby 
acknowledge our agreement with the report by our signatures below.

Šoštanj, 20 May 2022

Director TEŠ Managing Director TEŠ
Mitja Tašler Matjaž Vodušek, M.Sc.
 

Chairman of the Supervisory Board of TEŠ
Viktor Vračar, Ph.D.

Description of the corporate 
compliance and integrity system
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1.7.4 Transparency of financial relations
In 2021 TEŠ received a compensation in the amount of EUR 91,095 for isolation, quarantine, force majeure – child care and 
sick leave up to three days without a sick note.

1.7.5 Relations with the controlling company
 
Termoelektrarna Šoštanj d.o.o. is part of the Holding Slovenske elektrarne (HSE Group). On 31 December 2021, Holding 
Slovenske elektrarne d.o.o., with its registered office at Koprska 92 in Ljubljana, was the Company's sole company member, i.e., 
the controlling company, which prepared the 2021 consolidated annual report for the group of companies under its control.

Pursuant to Article 545 and 546 of the Companies Act, the Company's Management submitted a report on relations with 
the controlling company and other controlled companies in the Group, establishing that given the circumstances known to 
the Company at the time of a specific legal transaction, TEŠ d.o.o. assesses that it had not been disadvantaged in any such 
transactions with the controlling company and its affiliated companies, and that in 2021 no legal transaction, act or omission 
that could be potentially damaging to the Company had taken place as a result of influence exercised by Holding Slovenske 
elektrarne d.o.o.

1.7.6 Capital links with other companies
 
TEŠ has no controlled or associated companies. However, TEŠ holds a 5.1% share in the company RGP d.o.o., which was 
acquired in 2018. The value of the financial contribution amounts to EUR 107,360. Other company members are: PV, DEM, and 
SENG. In 2021, the Company increased other long-term assets by the non-monetary contribution made in the company HSE 
Invest d.o.o. in the amount of EUR 5,000, which accounts for a 1.32% equity interest.
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A decision to build the Šoštanj Thermal Power Plant was adopted in 1946, as a result of a great need for electricity and large coal 
deposits in the Šalek Valley. The construction started in 1947 and was continued, due to certain complications, five years later. In 
1956, the construction of two 30 MW units was completed.  In 1960, the 75 MW Unit 3 was built and in 1973, the 275 MV Unit 4 
started to generate electricity.

Due to rapid deterioration of energy position of Slovenia and an increasing significance of coal as energy fuel, a call for 
tender for the construction of a new 345 MW unit was conducted as early as in 1973, with participation of all significant global 
manufacturers of thermal power generation facilities. The foundation stone was laid on 1 February 1975, followed immediately 
by the beginning of construction works. The majority of equipment was installed in 1976; the installation was completed in 
the following year when all necessary operation test were conducted.  The first synchronisation of the unit was carried out on 
25 September 1977 and regular operation of the unit began on 27 January 1978. With the total installed capacity increasing to 
755 MW, TEŠ now represents the largest power generation plant in Slovenia. The construction itself was accompanied by the 
installation of the most advanced equipment in Europe. Two gas units, each with nominal power of 42 MW, started operating in 
2008. In the same year, Unit 2 was permanently shut down, followed by the shut-down of Unit 1 in 2010.

The decision about the construction of the 600 MW Unit 6 was made in 2004; from the environmental point of view, it 
represented continuation of the ecological rehabilitation which we started implementing – with a great concern for the 
environment – as early as in 1983. The purpose of Unit 6 is a gradual replacement of technologically obsolete and economically 
unprofitable Units 1, 2, 3, and 4. To generate the same amount of energy, Unit 6 uses approximately 30 percent less coal, resulting 
in significantly lower total emissions to the environment; while generating the same amount of energy, its CO2 emissions are 30 
percent lower as those from other units at TEŠ. With the construction of Unit 6, which started its trial operation in June 2015, we 
reduced the level of environmental pollution, improved the quality and energy efficiency, and provided an opportunity for the 
power plant to achieve compliance with international standards on best available technology (BAT).

Brief history of TEŠ
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The mission of Termoelektrarna Šoštanj is to provide customers with sufficient 
quantities of electricity and thermal energy, and thus contribute to developing the 
quality of work and life of energy consumers

MISSION

VISION TEŠ is a thermal energy system in Slovenia that will provide customers with 
reliable, safe, competitive and environmentally friendly production of electricity 
and thermal energy, in accordance with the National Strategy on Coal Phase-Out 
and the Restructuring of Coal Regions. We wish to be the most flexible company in 
all areas of our operation.

MAIN LONG-TERM GOAL To maintain reliable, safe, competitive and environment-friendly production of 
electricity and thermal energy based on the use of diverse primary resources.

To fulfil our principal goal, we have set long-term, sector specific goals in the 
framework of which annual goals have been set.

1.8

1.9

Company's business policy

Management system policy

TEŠ has an established integrated management system 
comprised of: a quality management system as per 
requirements under SIST ISO 9001:2015; an environmental 
management system as per requirements under SIST EN ISO 
14001:2015; an occupational health and safety management 
system as per requirement under OHSAS 18001:2007, and an 
information security management as per requirements under 
ISO/IEC 27001. In addition, TEŠ also has a test laboratory 
management system established in line with the requirements 
under SIS EN USI/IEC 17025:2017, which is accredited with the 
Slovenian Accreditation (SA).

A regular external assessment of the management and 
operation of the quality management system took place in 
May 2021. The assessment was performed by the assessors 
of the Slovenian Institute of Quality and Metrology (SIQ) in 
line with ISO 9001:2015; ISO 14001:2015; ISO 45001:2018; ISO 
27001:2013 standards. The assessment committee found 
that the Company meets the requirements laid down in the 
aforementioned standards.

By introducing an integrated management system, all activities 
have been connected into an efficient system which leads 
to the implementation of our vision and mission as well 
as the Company's long-term goals. Through the system, 
our employees are provided with safe and comfortable 
working conditions which are a prerequisite for creative 
work. By integrating individual management systems into 
a comprehensive integrated management system, we are 
introducing a philosophy of a uniform quality management.

In TEŠ we are aware that by producing electricity and thermal 
energy, we impact both the society and environment by:
• employing people;
• using energy, energy products, water and other raw 

materials;
• emissions of gas and dust to the atmosphere;
• discharging water into the environments;
• producing ash, slag and desulphurisation by-products;
• producing other types of waste;
• emitting noise into the environment.
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Ensuring the satisfaction of end users, healthy environment, 
information security, safe and healthy work, and fire safety, 
is a fundamental prerequisite and a common goal of both 
the management and employees. Roles, responsibilities 
and powers of everyone involved are clearly defined, and 
employees are familiar with them. In the framework of the 
given possibilities, TEŠ endeavours to provide such working 
conditions which enable safe and healthy environment for 
both employees and visitors.

A successful implementation of the policy requires our 
employees to fully cooperate and assume their respective 
liabilities. 

1.9.1 Occupational health and    
 safety and fire safety
At TEŠ we are dedicated to maintaining and improving 
the health of employees as well as to providing a safe and 
stimulating work environment. This way our employees are 
more productive and creative, get sick less often and also 
need to take sick leave less often, while remaining loyal to their 
organization. By implementing a safety and health at work 
programme, it is easier to recruit quality staff and to build our 
reputation.

Our occupational health and safety system has been 
systematically regulated by means of ISO 45001 which we 
certified in 2020 and which replaced OHSAS 18001. We 
are aware that by improving the situation in the field of 
occupational health and safety, we contribute to better well-
being of our employees, better use of resources for work and 
better performance. We are also aware that in order to achieve 
positive results merely setting up a system is not enough. The 
system also has to be well integrated with other programs and 
management systems.

In 2021, regular preventive measures were carried out in 
the field of occupational health and safety, ensuring a 
high level of occupational health and safety and fire safety 

on all organisational levels. In particular, we focused on: 
training our employees for safe and healthy work; work 
equipment inspections; determining quality protective and 
work equipment; and the implementation of and preventive 
actions. At what is known as the contact point, we introduced 
a mandatory training in health and safety at work as well as 
in fire safety for workers of our contractors. Many activities 
(working from home, monitoring the entry into the controlled 
area of TEŠ - verifying body temperature with a thermal 
camera, limiting the number of people in offices, observing the 
social distancing rules, mandatory use of protective masks, 
implementation of hygiene measures, ban on organizing 
meetings in conference rooms - the organization of virtual 
meetings...) were still aimed at managing the consequences of 
the novel Coronavirus (COVID-19), which greatly affected the 
organization of work at the power plant. 

By taking measures for promoting health at work place, we 
encourage our employees to regularly participate at activities 
aimed at protecting and enhancing their health; inform them 
of mental health issues; provide them with preventive check-
ups, vaccinations, active breaks... Once a week our employees 
receive a fruit basket; in autumn, they were, among other 
things, also provided with food supplements in the form of 
vitamin C and D3. Each year, the programme for planning and 
implementing health at work place is adjusted to reflect the 
financial capabilities and current conditions.

Apart from acting in accordance with the legislation, we also 
have effective mechanisms in place for identifying negative 
aspects and risks, in the framework of which we prepare 
adequate measures, goals and improvements.

If required, in 2022 too, we will pay a lot of attention to 
preventive measures against the spread of the Coronavirus 
disease (COVID-19), training our employees for safe work, 
maintaining a high level of fire safety, inspecting work 
equipment, and purchasing quality protective equipment for 
our employees. We will endeavour to upgrade the statutory 
requirements with additional activities the aim of which is, 
in particular, to improve the safety of our employees, and 
consequently the efficiency of the work process.
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Net output production of 
electricity (per month)

In 2021, TEŠ produced and supplied 
to the network 3,166 GWh of 

electricity, which is 474 GWh or 
13% less than in 2020. The lower 
production of electricity is due 

mainly to the second regular 
overhaul of Unit 6 (of C scope). 

The Unit was down from 7 May to 
29 July. In the framework of the 

overhaul, the major repairs under 
the manufacturers’ programmes, 
and the very last warranty repairs 

under the agreement for the 
supply and installation of Unit 6 

were carried out. During this time, 
electricity and thermal energy were 

provided by Unit 5 and the two 
gas-fired units. 

We produced 3,137 GWh 
of electricity from coal and 

29 GWh from gas.
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2017

2018

2019

2020

2021

Production of thermal energy 
 (per month)

In 2021, TEŠ produced 343 GWh 
of thermal energy for heating, 
which is 23 GWh or 7% more 

than in 2020. This was due to an 
increased demand for thermal 

energy. Supplying almost the entire 
Šalek Valley with thermal energy, 

we contribute to a decrease in 
harmful emissions in the valley, as 

the thermal energy produced in 
this way less negatively impacts the 

environment as individual heating 
systems.
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In 2021, we used 2,832,992 tons of coal. Of the aforementioned total amount of 
coal consumed, 2,741,604 tons were used for electricity production and 91,388 
tons were used for thermal energy production. The average calorific value of 
supplied coal (gallery coal and coal from the coal depot) was 11,448 kJ/kg, which 
is slightly more than in 2020, when the calorific value amounted to 11,329 kJ/kg.

CO₂ emissions are the most important factor of global warming, as they account 
for approx. 80 percent of total greenhouse gas emissions. Emissions of these 
gases by operators which are included in the EU Emissions Trading System (EU 
ETS) increased by 7.3% in 2021 compared to 2020 levels and continue to decrease 
compared to pre-pandemic level. The increase in emissions in 2021 is the result 
of an 8.3% increase in emissions from the energy sector, a 5.2% increase in 
emissions in industry and an 8.7% increase in emissions from aviation. Compared 
to 2019 emissions, they decreased in all of the aforementioned sectors, namely 
emissions from the energy sector by 7.3 percent, emissions in industry by 1.9 
percent and emissions in aviation by 61 percent.
In 2021, greenhouse gas emissions from stationary installations amounted to 
1,311 million tons of CO2 equivalent. This is a 7.3 percent increase from 2020, but 
still down 4.4 percent compared to 2019. In 2021, emissions in the energy sector 
increased by 8.3 percent, mainly due to the gas-to-coal-switching resulting from 
the fossil fuels price movements and a higher demand for electricity due to the 
economic recovery from the pandemic. However, despite similar demand for 
electricity, the total emissions in the energy sector are still 7.3 percent below the 
2019 levels. Since 2020, industry emissions have increased by an average of 5.2 
percent, with major increases seen in most sectors, including the iron and steel 
(10.4 percent) and the chemicals sector (20.8 percent). This increase is a reflection 
of the economic recovery after the pandemic (EU-27 GDP increased by 5.3 
percent between 2020 and 2021). Industrial emissions are 1.9 percent lower than 
in 2019, while overall levels of industrial production are very similar in both years. 
Overall, industrial emissions continue to decline, but more efforts are needed to 
meet the EU's long-term climate targets.
In 2021, TEŠ emitted 3,375,040 tons of CO₂ into the environment through 
electricity and thermal energy production, which is 385,399 tons of CO₂ less 
than in the previous year. In accordance with the provisions of the Environmental 
Protection Act, TEŠ paid the environmental pollution tax (1 allowance per 1 ton of 
CO₂) by 30 April 2022. To settle this tax, TEŠ had 14,672 free allowances available 
to cover emissions resulting from the production of thermal energy production 
(Decision of the Ministry of the Agriculture and Environment). TEŠ settled the 
difference of 3,360,368 emission allowances by purchasing them from HSE.

Use of energy-generating 
products

Emission allowances
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To ensure unhindered production of electricity, the power 
plant had to maintain two steam-fired generation units (Units 
5 and 6), two gas generation units (intended for the tertiary 
back-up), two heating plants, coal transport system, water 
preparation system in the hydrogen production facility, 
and joint facilities. The maintenance of Units 3 and 4 was 
carried out solely to provide safety of our employees. Good 
organization and optimization of business processes in 
the field of operation and maintenance enabled us to have 
successfully completed these tasks, exceeding the planned 
resources minimally. It goes without saying that dedicated 
and qualified personnel who are tightly associated with 
daily activities in the Company are of crucial importance 
in this regard. Knowing the facilities and devices, as well 
as organizing and deciding on all aspects of maintenance, 
is essential for ensuring a constant, high-quality supply of 
electricity. 

Maintenance activities are performed on the basis of 
monitoring the operation of plants, operation events, 
estimate of the remaining useful life obtained on the basis 
of destructive and non-destructive methods of material 
examination, requirements for safe and reliable operation, 
and accepted policies, i.e., plant operation and maintenance 
strategy.

Regular preventive maintenance comprises reviews, 
controls, analyses, and activities enabling reliable operation 
of all plants. This segment of maintenance includes repair 
works as well as replacement of individual plant assemblies. 
Maintenance activities on the plants which cannot be 

eliminated are performed when the units are shut down i.e., 
mostly during weekends.

This also includes maintenance activities such as reviews 
and measurements, assembly and disassembly work, 
repairs and replacement of spare parts of machine and 
plant components, requiring to stop the operation of the 
machines and plants or the entire production unit. These 
activities are aimed at renewing or maintaining future 
economic growth as expected on the basis of the initially 
assessed efficiency level of the assets.

We spent EUR 6,532,702 for the maintenance of all 
generating units, other facilities and plant, which is 19% more 
than in 2020. Compared to 2020, it was mainly the cost of 
maintenance of Unit 6 that was lower. In the past year, this 
cost was particularly high owing to the emergency repair 
of the PP1 and LUBECO piping, scrubbing of the LUVO air 
pre-heater packages, installation of additional drainages on 
Unit 6. Partially, this cost also resulted from open warranty 
claims towards the General Electric Group. Compared to 
the anticipated cost of maintenance for the year 2022, this 
cost went beyond the anticipated amount as regards Unit 6 
owing to the repair of the feed water preheater (LUBECO), 
repair of the boiler safety fixtures and scrubbing of the LUVO 
air pre-heater packages. There was also some unforeseen 
cost related to Unit 5 due to remedying boiler leaks as well 
as due to unforeseen additional works on the feed pump 
and on the common facilities intended for the provision of 
compressed air.

Maintenance
1.11

2017

2018

2019

2020

2021

Maintenance costs in EUR

Changes in maintenance  
costs (per year)

2,000,000 6,000,0004,000,000 8,000,000

4,736,452     

5,763,223     

7,918,696     

8,075,708     

6,532,702
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 In 2021, Germany as the leading country 
with the highest share of RES in Europe, 
increased the installed capacity of RES 
by approx. 14 GW.

 German solar power plants generated 
46.6 TWh which is 2% more than in 
2020.

 
 In 2021, Germany produced 114 TWh 

electricity from wind which is 13% less 
than in 2020.

 In SE Europe, the production from 
hydro power plants in 2021 was 33% 
higher than in 2020. This is due to low 
hydrology in 2020 and above-average 
one in 2021.

Range of movement: [19, 30]

 Ambitious regulatory plans of the 
European Union encourage numerous 
speculators to enter the market of CO2 
emission allowances.

 Higher consumption of CO2 emission 
allowance owing to less electricity being 
produced from RES and more electricity 
being produced from coal than from gas.

Range of movement: [15, 14]

 Extremely low supplies of gas in  
Europe owing to the longer heating 
season.

 High demand for LNG by Asia. 

 Reduced supply of gas from Russia. 

Range of movement: [51, 87]

 Agreement with OPEC+ on a gradual 
increase in production.

 Slow production growth in the USA. 
Recovery after the pandemic has 
caused an increase in consumption.

Range of movement: [63, 193]

 In the second half of the year, electricity 
produced from coal was cheaper than 
the one produced from gas.

 
 China introduced a ban on the import 

of coal from Australia.

 Diversion of trade routes contributed to 
high shipping prices.

 As a consequence of the recovery after 
Covid-19 and aid to the economy.

Range of movement: [-0.518, -0.443]

 ECB still insists on the low interest 
policy also with the aim to aid the 
economy to recover after the COVID-19 
pandemic.

Range of movement: [1.1206, 1.2338]

 Energy crisis was more  
pronounced in Europe.

 Swifter recovery of US economy  
after the Covid-19 pandemic.

1.12.1 Power industry market environment in 2021

  ECONOMIC GROWTH IN EUROPE   12 M EURIBOR INTEREST RATE   RATE FO EXCHANGE

2021 -0.501%  
2020 -0.499%

2021 79 €/MWh     
2020 16 €/MWh

2021 160 TWh     
2020 176 TWh

2021 1.1326    
2020 1.2271

2021 99 USD/t       
2020 63 USD/t

2021 79.4 EUR/t 
2020 29.9 EUR/t

2021 -5.2%    
2020 -5.1%

2021 79 USD/Bbl    
2020 52 USD/Bbl

2021 57.5 TWh    
2020 41.5 TWh

Market position

  PRICE OF OIL

  WATER ENERGY IN SE EUROPE

  PRICE OF GAS

  

  PRICE OF COAL

  PRICES OF CO2

1.12
In 2021, the market environment in the power industry as well as other associated markets were characterised by economic 
recovery after the Covid pandemic and the continuation of measures aimed at reducing the impact of the SARS-CoV-2 virus. 
In the second half of the year, however, the market conditions were affected not as much by the virus itself as by the fossil fuels 
energy crisis. With the prices of gas, coal and CO2 emission allowances sky-rocketing, the proportion among the electricity 
generating sources shifted. The production from coal-fired power plants increased, while the one from gas-fired plants 
decreased. The low production of electricity from renewable sources in Central Europe and the low production of hydro power 
plants at the end of the year in Central Eastern and South Eastern Europe caused an additional increase in electricity prices.

RENEWABLE ENERGY SOURCES  
IN GERMANY
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Average prices of electricity 

Germany

Greece

Italy

Hungary

Slovenia

Romania

2021 97€ /MWh
2021 125€ /MWh

2021 114€ /MWh
2021 116€ /MWh

2021 115€ /MWh

2021 111€ /MWh

Prices of electricity on the day-ahead 
markets have been on the rise for most 
of the year. The growth is even higher 
considering the prices were extremely 
low in 2020. The prices saw the 
sharpest rise in the last quarter of 2021 
owing to the energy crisis in Europe 
which contributed to a significant rise in 
prices of gas, coal and oil. Higher prices 
for CO2 emission allowances and low 
production from renewable sources in 
Germany also had a negative impact on 
electricity prices. 

For short-term products, prices in the 
long-term electricity supply markets 
reflected the prices in the day-ahead 
markets, while long-term products 
were generally quoted at lower price 
levels. This indicates that the situation 
will go back to normal in the future, yet 
at much higher levels from the ones we 
were used to in the past.

The first quarter of 2021 was 
characterised by below-average wind 
production in the NW Europe and low 
availability of French nuclear power 
plants until the beginning of March. In 
Germany, however, some coal-fired 
power plants were closed at the end of 
2020, with the majority of the remaining 
ones being unprofitable. Both these 
factors contributed to a lower balance 
of both France and Germany at the 
beginning of the year. In Sweden, 
hydrology was extremely high.

The second quarter was most 
characterised by extremely low (below-

average) temperatures across Europe 
which contributed to above-average 
consumption of electricity. In France, 
the nuclear power plants produced 
much more electricity than in 2020. 
However, despite this, the balance was 
significantly lower owing to a sharp 
increase in consumption. In Germany, 
low wind production continued in the 
second quarter as well. However, high 
gas prices contributed to the very first 
gas-to-coal-switches, which improved 
the Germany's balance in the second 
quarter of 2021 compared to that of 
2020.  Exceptionally high hydrology 
in the second quarter in SE Europe 
helped some countries in this region 
to achieve positive balance, or at least 
significantly higher than the one in the 
same period of 2020.

The crisis related to the availability 
of fossil fuels and the associated 
sharp increase in gas and coal prices 
on both the global markets and the 
European market caused that the 
proportion among the electricity 
generating sources shifted significantly 
thereby highlighting the situation on 
the electricity markets in the third and 
fourth quarter of 2021. In Germany, 
the production of electricity from coal 
in the last two quarters of 2021 was 
higher than the year before, namely 
by 65% in the third and by 35% in the 
fourth quarter. On the other hand, 
the production in gas-fired plants was 
lower than the year before, namely 
by 45% in the third and by 20% in 
the fourth quarter compared to the 

same period the year before. With 
the production of electricity from 
renewable sources in the same period 
being lower as well, the Germany's 
otherwise still highly positive balance of 
the second half of 2021 was below the 
2020 level for the same period. In the 
third quarter of 2021, the production of 
electricity from nuclear power plants 
was higher than in the same period of 
2020, namely by 30% in France and 
by 70% in Belgium. In the last quarter, 
however, the production of electricity 
from nuclear power plants was higher 
in Belgium only, namely by 35% 
compared to the same period of 2020. 
It is for this reason that Belgium's annual 
balance for 2021 was significantly higher 
than the one from 2020, while France's 
balance was even minimally lower 
at the beginning of the year due to 
problems with nuclear power plants.

Countries with electricity production 
being significantly dependent on gas-
fired power plants, such as Italy, Austria 
and Great Britain, had a significantly 
lower balance in 2021 compared to that 
of 2020, while countries with electricity 
production relying to a great extent 
on coal-fired power plants, such as 
Poland, recorded an improved balance.

In 2021, the bidding zone of Ireland and 
Northern Ireland was merged into a 
common IE-SEM (Ireland (IE) - Single 
Electricity Market (SEM)) zone.

2020 31€ /MWh 2020 39€ /MWh

2020 39€ /MWh2020 45€ /MWh

2020 38€ /MWh

2020 40€ /MWh
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4,0137,627 66%2020

Slovene electricity  
market in  GWh

In Slovenia, 1 TWh of electricity was 
produced in 2021 which is 8% less 

than in 2020. Thermal generating units 
and Krško Nuclear Power Plant (both 
Krško Nuclear Power Plant and Unit 

6 underwent overhaul works in 2021) 
produced significantly less electricity 
than the year before; the same holds 

true for hydro power plants. A slightly 
poorer balance is also the result of an 

increase in electricity consumption.

 
Share of the HSE Group 

production in total electricity 
production in Slovenia

In 2021, the production of electricity 
within the HSE Group failed to 

reach the anticipated plan which 
is a consequence of down times 
of Unit 6. Owing to the complex 

geomechanical conditions in the 
mine and frequent sick leaves of 
employees due to the Covid-19 

pandemic, the coal production was 
below the levels of the previous year. 
Accordingly, the market share of the 

HSE Group also went down and is as 
such by 1 percentage point lower than 

in 2020. Despite tumultuous events 
on the electricity market and other 

raw materials market the HSE Group 
strived to produce as much electricity 

as possible from its own generation 
units. Despite the Covid-19 related 

infections the operations within the 
HSE Group remained intact.

 
Share of the TEŠ production in 

total electricity production in 
Slovenia

In 2021, TEŠ generated 3,166 GWh  
of electricity. This is 474 GWh less 

than in 2020 (the reason for this  
being as stated in Section 1.9).

production

import

export

consumption

the values in the graph are in GWh

the values in the graph are in GWh

the values in the graph are in GWh

the values in the graph are in GWh

10,640

8,387

5,952

12,725

6,878

production of HSE

production of TEŠ osthers

others

3,762

-1,017

-2,435

65%

2021

2020

production

2021

import

export

consumption

3,166 3,71146%2021

3,640 3,98748%2020

11,640

7,120

6,103

12,658
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1.12.2 Sales and customers
In 2021, TEŠ generated net revenues from sales in the amount of EUR 223,262,186 
which is EUR 14,762,853 or 6% less than a year before. This was mainly due to less 
electricity sold.

Sales of electricity

In 2021, TEŠ generated revenues from sales of electricity in the amount of  
EUR 211,436,193, which is 7% or EUR 16,566,336 less than in 2020. Lower 2021 sales 
revenues resulted from 13% or 474 GWh less electricity being sold while the price was 
7% higher. We sell electricity in the market through the owner i.e., Holding Slovenske 
elektrarne d.o.o. 
 
Structure of net sales for 2021:

The structure of revenues from sales shows that Holding Slovenske elektrarne d.o.o. 
is the major customer that purchases the total electricity produced, which accounts 
for 95% of total sales.

Net sales of electricity according by years:

2017

199,053,765 €

2018

190,102,974 €

2019

217,811,137 €

2020

228,002,483 €

2021

211,436,193 €

Sales of thermal energy

In 2021, TEŠ generated revenues from the sales of thermal energy in the amount 
of EUR 9,908,159, which is 43% more than in 2020. The revenues from the sales 
of thermal energy increased on account of the increase in the selling price which 
was due to the increase in the price of CO2 emission allowances that constitute a 
component part of the variable price of thermal energy. The amount of the sold 
thermal energy has also increased by 7% i.e., 23 GWh.

2017

3,886,449 €

2018

5,066,830 €

2019

5,985,749 €

2020

6,700,411 €

2021

6,907,145 €

Other sales

Other revenues from sales amount to EUR 1,917,834. They refer to the sales of fly 
ash and gypsum, sales of industrial water, rentals, sales of waste and other material. 
These revenues constitute only 1% of revenues in the overall structure of revenues 
from sales. Compared to 2020, they were 38% lower due to warranty claims (repairs 
on Unit 6) in 2020.

2021 
223.3 mio EUR

95%
electricity energy

-7%

+7%

4%
thermal energy

1%
other sales  

ravenue
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1.12.3  Purchasing and 
suppliers

The main objective of purchasing is to 
provide raw materials, materials, spare 
parts, equipment and services required 
for regular operation, as well as to 
purchase investment equipment at most 
favourable prices, under most favourable 
payment and delivery terms, from most 
reliable sources, and through optimal 
supply channels. Only such approach 
will enable the Company to achieve its 
development and strategic goals. 

 
Structure of purchasing in 2021

The Company is obliged to carry out 
public procurements in line with the 
Public Procurement Act (ZJN-3). In 
order to run our business in line with the 
aforementioned procurement act and 
in order to manage the purchasing in a 
comprehensive manner, we organised 
adequately and ensured cooperation 
with other services within the Company. 
The implementation of public tenders 
requires good knowledge of legislation 
covering this particular field. Otherwise, 
we provide adequate economic, 
financial and technical competence with 
appropriate conditions, requirements 
and criteria which are associated with 
the subject of the public tender in a 
meaningful way. We pursue the goal of 
centralising the purchasing as this means 
achieving better commercial conditions, 
better standardisation and providing 
better quality of materials. Thus, in 
purchasing input materials and services, 
we comply with the Agreement on 
business cooperation in the provision of 
services, concluded at the HSE level, with 
the aim to positively contribute to the 
business results of the Group HSE.

The Company's most important strategic 
supplier is Premogovnik Velenje 
(Velenje Coal Mine). The purchase of 
coal for electricity and thermal energy 
production accounts for 59% of all 
purchases. In the previous year,  
31,393 TJ of coal was used for electricity 
production, and 1,038 TJ of coal for 
thermal energy production.

2021
152.0 mio EUR

21%
investments

11%
services

68%
material
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Electricity users expect electricity to be available when they need it, which is why 
the principal task of the electric power supply system is the punctual, sufficient 
and reliable supply of quality electricity. The efficient performance of production 
activities therefore requires timely development planning and investments in reliable 
production, which will eliminate technological and technical risks in ensuring 
production.

in EUR

INVESTMENT MAINTENANCE WORKS 2021

INVESTMENT IN NEW PRODUCTION CAPACITY 100,014

Studies 100,014

Studies, investment and project documentation 100,014

INVESTMENT MAINTENANCE 31,293,935

Overhaul of Unit 6 15,618,974

Investments in production reliability 15,674,961

OPM (operation performance module implementation) of Unit 6 4,148,449

APM (application performance management  
module implementation) of Unit 6

4,024,590

LTSA (long-term servicing) of Unit 6 2,730,125

DCS (control system replacement) of Unit 6 783,191

Spare parts for B&R valves of Unit 6 913,860

Replacement of level 2 and 3 LUVO packages of Unit 6 681,428

Relocation and reconstruction of internal heating  
station from Unit 1 to Unit 6

335,871

Spare parts of a feeding pump of Unit 6 292,423

Reconstruction of the Topolšica pumping station 250,450

Upgrading the control system DCS of FGD of Unit 6 228,233

Other investments within maintenance 1,286,342

INVESTMENTS IN OTHER FIXED ASSETS 944,047

Business Information System 11,361

Corporate security 312,517

Other 620,169

Minior investments 498,579

Other  investments 121,590

Total 32,337,996

1.13
Investments
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The majority of investment funds (EUR 15.6 million) were dedicated to the second 
overhaul of Unit 6 (overhaul of C scope) which lasted almost three months. In the 
framework of the overhaul, the major repairs under the manufacturers’ programmes, 
and the very last warranty repairs under the agreement for the supply and installation 
of Unit 6 were carried out. The feed water preheater (LUBECO), eight hundred PP1 
superheater pipes, and two thirds of the air heater packages (LUVO) were replaced, 
and the steam supply system was upgraded for the requirements of cleaning boiler 
surfaces. The increased scope of work only pertained to the individual turbine 
assemblies that were taken to a factory in Berlin.  This increased volume of work 
caused a delay in the resynchronisation of Unit 6. Overhaul work was performed 
by 182 maintenance workers, operators and technicians of TEŠ and 344 external 
associates, with strict observance of measures related to preventing the spread of 
Covid-19. 

In the framework of an out-of-court settlement reached with the GE Group, a Long-
Term Service Agreement (LTSA) for Unit 6 was concluded. Based on this agreement, 
EUR 11.7 million of investments in assets were dedicated to the supply of services 
entailing long-term maintenance (maintenance works entailing reviews, repairs, 
revamps, replacements in line with the operation and maintenance instructions 
provided by the manufacturer of equipment (OMM)) and digitalisation of Unit 6 with 
a view of achieving advanced maintenance of crucial technical equipment of Unit 6 
and positive effects of availability and efficiency of the same.

In order to achieve a good condition of start-up fittings which are a prerequisite 
for ensuring high level of operational readiness of Unit 6, regular maintenance and 
replacement of damaged and worn-out elements of start-up fittings are carried out.  
In the framework of this investment, all urgent spare parts for all start-up fittings were 
ordered/supplied.

As regards Unit 6, we are increasingly dealing with an excessive clogging of heating 
packages on both regenerative air heaters (Ljungström). The cause is an excessive 
intake of moisture from steam blowers of boiler heating surfaces into flue gas 
and ammonium that fails to react with flue gas in the DeNox reactor, thus forming 
ammonium bisulphate which causes the clogging. Due to the clogging of the heaters, 
the so-called "stall" effect appears on the flue gas draught fans, which limits the 
power of Unit 6. Due to heavy clogging and frequent cleaning, level two and level 
three packages can no longer be properly cleaned. By technologically improving 
(increasing parameters of the steam), modifying the steam blowers and replacing 
level 2 and level 3 heating packages with a new single level, which is enamelled, we 
will prevent the power of Unit 6 to be further limited.

Other investments in assets were reduced to a bare minimum. In 2021, investments in 
assets were financed with the Company’s own funds.
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1.14.1 Business operations in 2021
In 2021, business operations of TEŠ were based on the Long-term agreement for the 
purchase of coal, lease of power and purchase of electricity of 12 March 2015 concluded 
between TEŠ, HSE and PV; the Agreement on the purchase of coal, lease of power and 
purchase of electricity concluded between TEŠ, HSE and PV for the year 2021, together with 
annexes to this Agreement, the Business Plan of TEŠ for the year 2021 and an additional plan 
for 2022 and 2023. 

In 2021, the Company generated positive net profit or loss in the amount of EUR 7,130,518. 
A good operating result, which has been positive for the first time since 2013, is a result 
of an out-of-court settlement reached with the General Electric Group in relation to the 
construction of unit 6 (EUR 231.8 million). The profit could even be higher. However, it was 
negatively affected by the impairments of the Company’s long-term assets (EUR 161.1 million) 
as well as by the unfavourable ratios between the prices of electricity and prices of CO2 
emission allowances. The impairment of long-term assets was recognised on the basis of the 
assessment of recoverable amount of long-term assets (final report of 17 May 2022) which 
the Company needs for the performance of its core activity.
  

PROFIT OR LOSS FROM OPERATIONS in EUR 2021 2020

Result from operating activities 27,323,388 (257,239,889)

Result from financing activities (19,588,825) (23,188,254)

PROFIT OR LOSS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES (7,734,563) (280,428,143)

Current tax 604,045 0

Deferred taxes 0 0

PROFIT OR LOSS FOR THE PERIOD 7,130,518 (280,428,143)

The net profit or loss for the year 2021 is a profit in the amount of EUR 7,130,518 which 
translates to EUR 7,734,563 before taxes. This year’s net profit or loss is significantly better and 
is EUR 287.6 million higher than the one in 2020. This is mainly the result of the compensation 
received and the impairments of long-term assets performed in 2021 due to changed 
circumstances on the market (the shortened useful life of Unit 6 is taken into account in 
accordance with the national coal phase-out strategy). Without the compensation, the 
operating result (before taxes) would be negative amounting to EUR 63.6 million i.e.,  
EUR 26.6 million less than in 2020, mainly due to higher costs of CO2 emission allowances.

The financial result of 2021 was negative and amounted to EUR 19,588,825. The negative result 
was influenced by interest on and costs of loan guarantees received from banks for financing 
investments and sustainable business operations. Compared to those of the previous year, 
the financial expenses are lower owing to the lower borrowings raised with the banks (regular 
repayment of loans’ principals, including an early repayment of the fixed part of the loan 
raised with EBRD) and undrawn loans raised with the parent company.

1.14
Analysis of business operation
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Revenues

2021 % 2020 %

OPERATING INCOME 454,827,552 100 239,223,372 100

FINANCE INCOME 154,823 0 147 0

INCOME 454,982,375 100 239,223,519 100

In 2021, the Company generated revenues in the amount of EUR 454,982,375. The 
2021 revenues are 90% higher than the ones from the previous year, which is mainly 
due to the compensation reached in the framework of the out-of-court settlement 
against General Electric in relation to the construction of Unit 6. Under the revenues 
item, the revenues generated from the sales of thermal energy were EUR 3 million 
higher owing to the higher selling price (the variable part). Compared to the year 
before, revenues generated from the sales of electricity were EUR 16.6 million lower 
owing to less electricity sold (the second overhaul of Unit 6) despite 7% higher selling 
price.

Expenses 

2021 % 2020 %

OPERATING COSTS 427,504,164 95.59 496,463,261 96

FINANCE COSTS 19,743,648 4.41 23,188,401 4

COSTS 447,247,812 100 519,651,662 100

In 2021, expenses amounted to EUR 447,247,812, which is 14% less than in 2020. 
Operating expenses decreased by 14% compared to the previous year, mainly due to 
lower impairment of the Company's long-term assets, which amounted to  
EUR 161.1 million for 2021 i.e., EUR 82.4 million less than the year before. The cost of 
material (mainly energy-generating products) is also EUR 5.9 million lower than the 
year before which is due to lower production. The same applies to the amortisation 
cost which is EUR 5.5 million lower than the year before which is due to impairments 
of the Company’s long-term assets in 2020. An additional factor contributing to 
this was also the cost of CO2 emission allowances due to the increase in the price 
thereof. 
 
Financial expenses declined by 15% and reflect lower borrowings raised with banks, 
while no borrowings from the parent company were necessary in 2021.

Structure of expenses: 

2021
288.6 mio EUR

2020
276.8 mio EUR

coal

36%

7% 8%financial expenses

35% 28%other operating expenses

11%  13%write-downs

5% 5%labour costs

5% 5%costs of services

6%  5%other costs of material

coal

31%

Note: to ensure the comparability of data, 
the 2021 expenses do not include the cost 
of impairment of plant and equipment in 

the amount of EUR 161.1 million and the 
cost of capitalisation in the amount of  

EUR -2.4 million. Similarly, the 2020 
expenses do not include the cost of 

impairment of plant and equipment in the 
amount of EUR 243.5 million and the cost 

of capitalisation in the amount of  
EUR -0.6 million.
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The structure of expenses (without impairment and capitalisation) shows that 
the costs of coal consumption went down by 5% (lower quantity which was 
also the result of lower production of electricity). The cost of other material and 
services are 1 percentage point higher owing to the consumption of fuel oil for 
the generation of electricity from gas-fired units, and the cost of attorneys who 
participated at the arbitration proceedings related to the construction of Unit 6. 
However, the coal depot management cost went down. Write-offs are lower by 2 
percentage points, the reason for this being lower amortisation due to the already 
impaired assets in 2020. Compared to the year before, other operating expenses 
went up by 7% which was due to higher prices of CO2 emission allowances which 
the Company is obliged to provide to compensate for the emissions of carbon 
dioxide in line with the provisions of Environmental Protection Act (ZVO-1). 
Financial expenses decreased by 1% due to lower indebtedness which forms the 
basis for the calculation of interest, guarantees and fees.

The Company’s balance sheet total amounted to EUR 757,931,934 and decreased by 
4% or EUR 29,489,711 in comparison with the balance sheet total as at 31 December 
2020. Taking into account the inflation rate (December 2021/December 2020), which 
stood at 4.9%, the balance sheet total was lower by 4% in real terms.

As at 31 December 2021, the Company’s assets amounted to EUR 757,931,934  
(31 December 2020: EUR 787,421,646) and decreased by 4% from the beginning of 
the year. Out of the said amount, the long-term assets decreased by 11% while the 
short-term assets increased by 33%. 

Long-term assets account for 77% of all Company’s assets. The most important 
among these assets are property, plant and equipment. In 2021, the value of these 
assets decreased by EUR 158,632,937, primarily due to the impairment and annual 
amortisation expense; new investments had positive effect (investments in the 
reliability of production). In the framework of long-term assets, the long-term 
operating receivables went up by EUR 86 million in 2021 (receivables due from the 
companies within the GE Group under the Settlement Agreement).

Short-term assets account for 23% of all Company's assets, and increased by 
EUR 42,854,252 compared to the previous year. In the framework of these assets, 
the assets for the lease of power foreseen under the agreement increased due 
to the settlement of the costs of purchasing CO2 emission allowances required 
for the production of electricity in 2021. Short-term financial investments have 
increased due to a short-term loan granted to PV. However, the value of the deposit 
earmarked for the settling of the liabilities against EBRD decreased. Operating 
receivables (receivables under the SA agreement based on the settlement reached 
in the framework of an arbitration proceedings) and the cash position went up.

As at 31 December 2021, the Company's equity to debt ratio stood at 1:2.1, which 
means that the share of equity increased in comparison with the previous year (the 
reason being the operating profit resulting from the compensation received under 
the out-of-court settlement, despite the impairment of long-term assets).

Under liabilities, equity represents 32% of the total amount, which is more than 
at the end of 2020 (30%). In 2021, equity increased by 3% i.e., by EUR 7,367,433. 
This was the result of current profit in the amount of EUR 7,130,518 and effects of 
actuarial gains/losses arising from certain employee benefit schemes.

Long-term liabilities, consisting mostly of long-term borrowings, account for 48% 
of total liabilities. Apart from regular due payments, the Company also made an 
early repayment of the fixed portion of the loan raised with EBRD in the amount of 
EUR 28,757,143 (the principal) in 2021.  Principal amounts of long-term loans with 
maturity date in 2021 were transferred to short-term financial liabilities.

Assets, equity and liabilities

Assets

Equity and liabilities
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Short-term liabilities account for 21% of total amount of liabilities, and increased by 
EUR 19,003,941 in 2021. These liabilities went up due to higher contractual liabilities 
for the already accounted cost of CO2 emission allowances for emissions released in 
2021 (higher price) and higher accounts payable (liabilities under the LTSA agreement 
for the maintenance and digital services on Unit 6). Financial liabilities went down 
which is due to an early repayment of the fixed part of the loan raised with EBRD 
while the final repayment deadline remained unchanged.

Structure of liabilities as at 31 December 2021:
 

Due to the impairment of assets made on the basis of the assessment of recoverable 
amount of the Company’s long-term assets in 2021 (final report of 17 May 2022), 
the unrelieved loss exceeded one half of the Company's registered capital making 
the Company allegedly insolvent (the second point of Article 14(3) of the Financial 
Operations, Insolvency Proceedings, and Compulsory Dissolution Act – ZFPPIPP). 
To remedy the insolvency, the procedures for a simplified reduction in the registered 
capital by EUR 383 million (transfer to capital reserves) to EUR 195.6 million are under 
way (the minimum to be complied with under the financial covenants agreed with the 
EBRD amounts to EUR 193.3 million). Taking this measure, the Company will regain its 
solvency and capital adequacy.

The activity of steam & hot water supply recorded a negative net profit or loss for 
2021, primarily due to the impairment of long-term assets and high prices of CO2 
emission allowances. The activity of electricity production and other activities 
concluded their operations with a positive net profit or loss.

1.14.2 Ensuring solvency
TEŠ operates in accordance with business and financial standards and the rules laid 
down in the Financial Operations, Insolvency Proceedings and Compulsory Dissolu-
tion Act, as well as the Act on the Prevention of Late Payments.
The fundamental task of financial management is the provision of long-term and 
short-term solvency which in turn enables unhindered operation of the rest of busi-
ness functions.

In 2021, the Company’s liquidity situation was good mainly due to the funds  
(EUR 137.8 million) received from the compensation paid by the companies within the 
GE Group in March 2021.  By receiving these funds, TEŠ had excess liquidity while PV 
faced a deficit. Consequently, in the framework of a short-term management of cash 
assets TEŠ granted a short-term loan to PV in the amount of EUR 20 million. In 2021 
TEŠ benefited from the transaction financially as they paid less safekeeping fees to 
the banks and received the interest on the borrowed amount at the same time. Being 
granted the loan, PV repaid the advance to TEŠ.

Until we received the compensation (in March 2021), we utilised a short-term loan to 
manage daily liquidity which was raised at a commercial bank, and was repaid early 
in April. In May we also early repaid one portion of the loan raised with the EBRD 
(EUR 28.8 million) with a fixed interest rate.

Company’s business activities 

 48% Long-term liabilities

 32% Equity

 12% Contractual obligations

 4% Short-term liabilities

 3% Short-term operating liabilities

 1% Other short-term liabilities

2021
757.9 mio EUR

1%
3%

4%

48%

32%

12%
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1.14.3 Capital adequacy
Ensuring capital adequacy is one of the most important tasks of responsible 
persons at TEŠ. The objective of the company is to provide adequate equity and 
funds considering the scope and types of its business transactions and risks to 
which it is exposed. Capital adequacy is a prerequisite for borrowings and investing 
capacity, as well as a consequence of previous business decisions.

A horizontal analysis of the structure of assets and liabilities as at 31 December 2021 
indicates that the Company's assets are financed as follows:
• with long-term sources – 79% (of which 32% refer to equity and 48% to long-term 

liabilities), and
• with short-term sources – 2%.
At the end of 2021, all Company’s long-term assets were financed through long-
term funding sources.

The Company's working capital is positive and has slightly improved compared to 
the year before, mainly due to the increase in short-term operating receivables due 
from Group companies, and due to cash and cash equivalents.

Structure of the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021:

assets liabilities

77%
long-term

79%
long-term

short-term

23%
short-term

21%

Owing to the unrelieved loss brought forward from the previous years and the 
impairment of long-term assets in the amount of EUR 161.1 million (final report of 
17 May 2022) applied at the end of 2021, the Company’s loss brought forward from 
the previous years exceeded one half of the Company’s registered capital, making it 
allegedly insolvent. A preliminary anticipated measure to provide capital adequacy of 
TEŠ (a simplified reduction of the Company’s registered capital by EUR 383 million, 
transferring this amount to capital reserves) is under way as is the conclusion of the 
agreement on the sale of electricity for 2022 which is based on the amended transfer 
pricing model i.e., the cost-plus fee method. The agreement was concluded on 22 
April 2022. The Company is solvent as is also shown in the updated liquidity plan of 
TEŠ by the end of 2022. 

1.14.4 Debt ratio
As at 31 December 2021, the Company's financial liabilities (short-term and long-term) 
stood at EUR 372,252,991 and accounted for 49% of the total amount of liabilities. 
They refer to long-term loans raised for the construction of replacement Unit 6. 
Compared to 2020, they went down by 15%.
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The Company monitored its business operations from the financial evaluation 
perspective with the following ratios:

Financial condition ratios (in EUR)

EQUITY FINANCING RATE 31.12.2021 31.12.2020

1. Equity and liabilities 757,931,934 787,421,646

2. Equity 241,010,274 233,642,840

Equity financing rate (%) = 2 / 1 31.80 29.67

End of year, the Company’s equity accounted for 3 2% of all liabilities. Compared to 
2020, the equity financing rate improved by 2 percentage points. The reason for this 
is a decrease in long-term financial liabilities and an increase in the value of equity 
resulting from the Company's operating with profit. 

LONG-TERM FINANCING RATE 31.12.2021 31.12.2020

1. Equity 241,010,274 233,642,840

2. Long-term liabilities 361,201,911 417,733,852

3. Total ( 1 + 2 ) 602,212,185 651,376,692

4. Equity and liabilities 757,931,934 787,421,646

Long-term financing rate (%)  = 3 / 4 79.45 82.72

TEŠ financed 79% and 21% of its assets with long-term and short-term sources, 
respectively. Compared to the end of 2020, the long-term financing rate is lower by 
4 percentage points which is due to a decrease in long-term liabilities.  The latter 
decreased owing to the repayments of regular principals of loans raised with EIB and 
EBRD and an early repayment of a portion of the loan raised with EBRD. 

OPERATING FIXED ASSETS RATE 31.12.2021 31.12.2020

1. Property, plant and equipment  497,633,678 656,266,615

2. Intangible assets     265,601 166,151

3. Right to use leased assets 2,016,756 2,007,244

4. Total fixed assets at carrying amount ( 1 + 2 + 3 ) 499,916,035 658,440,010

5. Assets  757,931,934 787,421,647

Operating fixed assets rate (%) = 4 / 5 65.96 83.62

The indicator shows the share of fixed assets in all company's assets. The property, 
plant and equipment and intangible fixed assets account for 66% of the Company’s 
assets. Compared to the previous year, the share went down mainly due to the 
impairment of the property, plant and equipment. 

1.15
Company ratios
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Horizontal financial structure ratios (in EUR)

EQUITY TO FIXED ASSETS RATIO 31.12.2021 31.12.2020

1. Equity 241,010,274 233,642,840

2. Property, plant and equipment  497,633,678 656,266,615

3. Intangible assets 265,601 166,151

4. Right to use leased assets 2,016,756 2,007,244

5. Total fixed assets at carrying amount ( 2 + 3 + 4 ) 499,916,035 658,440,010

Equity to fixed assets ratio  = 1 / 5 0.48 0.35

 
The equity to operating fixed assets ratio stood at 0,48 at the end of 2021, which 
means that less than half of the most illiquid assets were financed from equity. 
Compared to the year before, the value of the ratio is higher, mainly due to a 
decrease in the value of property, plant and equipment, due to the impairment and 
amortisation.
 

QUICK RATIO 31.12.2021 31.12.2020

1. Cash and cash equivalents 7,923,235 5,298,202

2. Short-term investments 25,896,932 12,185,863

3. Short-term operating receivables 30,239,245 20,839,801

4. Total ( 1 + 2 + 3 ) 64,059,412 38,323,866

5. Short-term liabilities 155,719,750 136,044,954

Quick ratio = 4 / 5 0.41 0.28

The quick ratio stood at 0.41 at the end of 2021, which means that TEŠ covers 41% of 
all its short-term liabilities from short-term receivables and short-term investments. 
The short-term financial investments include a short-term loan granted to PV and a 
deposit earmarked for a repayment of financial liabilities to EBRD (March 2022). 

CURRENT RATIO 31.12.2021 31.12.2020

1. Current assets 171,239,091 128,384,839

2. Short-term liabilities 155,719,750 136,044,954

Current ratio (short-term liabilities) = 1 / 2 1.10 0.94

At the end of 2021, the current ratio stood at 1,1, which means that TEŠ covered of 
all its short-term liabilities from short-term assets. Compared to the balance at the 
end of 2020, the ratio went up as the short-term assets (accounts receivables, cash) 
increased more than short-term liabilities.
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Operating efficiency and profitability ratios (in EUR)

OPERATING EFFICIENCY RATIO 2021 2020

1. Operating revenue 457,227,377 239,850,472

2. operating expenses 429,903,989 497,090,361

Operating efficiency ratio = 1 / 2 1.06 0.48

Operating efficiency ratio indicates that despite impairments of long-term assets and 
unfavourable ratios between the price of electricity and the price of CO2 emission 
allowances, TEŠ had a positive operating result owing to the compensation received 
in the framework of the out-of-court settlement with GE Group in relation to the 
construction of Unit 6. 

NET RETURN ON EQUITY RATIO (ROE)                                         
- at an annual level

2021 2020

1. Net profit or loss 7,130,518 (280,428,144)

2. Average equity 237,326,557 299,089,934

Net return on equity ratio = 1 / 2 0.03 (0.94)

Net profit to equity ratio (ROE) for 2021 amounts to 3 percentage points. The ratio 
improved due to operating profit. 

DEBT SERVICE RATIO 2021 2020

1. Cash flows arising from Operating Activities (2,169,594) 16,898,213

2. Contributions from equity/loans 0 57,006,227

3. Cash flows for to acquiring long-term assets 32,337,995 5,879,695

4. Interest paid 12,405,219 15,041,612

5. Total cash flows from Operating Activities (1+2-3+4) (22,102,370) 83,066,357

6. Principal repayments 71,457,974 47,179,402

7. Interest repayments 12,405,219 15,041,612

8. Total Principal repayments and interest payments 83,863,193 62,221,014

9. HDSCR=5/8 (0.26) 1.34

The debt servicing indicator for 2021 does not meet the conditions set by the EBRD. 
In connection with this violation, TEŠ received a waiver letter from the bank.
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In doing its business, the company must constantly monitor and analyse all the 
risks that might arise in their line of business. The company strives for continuous 
operation, performance improvement, and added value formation. All of this can 
be more easily attained with adequate risk management which defines potential 
effects posing a threat to the company, and provides a framework for enhancing its 
resilience and its ability for an efficient response.

In the context of managing the company's risks and especially limiting their potential 
consequences, we especially highlight and pay attention to the risks that are not part 
of the risk profile due to their dependence on other risks, but are managed within the 
framework of comprehensive risk management. Risks are recognized, dealt with and 
assessed in the catalogue of risks. For the risks it recognizes as such, the company 
identifies their consequences, impacts, and takes out measures. 

The following key risks are dealt with:

Liquidity risk is defined as a risk of inconsistency between matured funds and 
liabilities or a possibility of not having enough funds to repay due liabilities. With the 
liquidity risk being a common denominator to other risks the management thereof 
is of particular importance. Therefore, the management of liquidity risk cannot be 
implemented on its own but together with other risks management. The control over 
the cash flow, in particular, is a key factor for a successful management of liquidity 
risk. Liquidity has been managed by carefully monitoring and planning daily, monthly 
and annual cash flow at the Company’s level. 

In managing solvency and capital adequacy, all the risk factors which have a long-
term impact on the company’s operations are taken into account; this risk is therefore 
managed simultaneously with other risks. End of 2021, the Company became 
insolvent when the loss exceeded one half of the Company’s registered capital 
due to the recognized impairment of property, plant and equipment. A preliminary 
anticipated measure to provide capital adequacy of TEŠ (a simplified reduction of the 
Company’s registered capital by EUR 383 million, transferring this amount to capital 
reserves) is under way as is the conclusion of the agreement on the sale of electricity 
for 2022 which is based on the amended transfer pricing model i.e., the cost-plus fee 
method. The agreement was concluded on 22 April 2022.

Quantity/production risks are the risks which occur due to the differences between 
the planned and actually produced quantity of electricity. They are associated with 
technological and logistical restrictions of productions, and with a timely supply of 
power-generating products.

The risk of failure of production facilities of Unit 5, Unit 6 and gas units arises from 
the degradation mechanisms and wear/tear of materials, overloads and highly 
dynamic operation, lack of supervision over the condition of the equipment and 
postponing urgent maintenance works. The consequences include unplanned 
and major outages (also limitations) of production infrastructure. In this regard, 
TEŠ carefully monitored the operation of devices and failures, and carried out 
regular and preventive maintenance. We have upgraded the functionalities of the 
information system to support our maintenance service - SAP PM (EAM), and set up 
a notification system for a continuous logging of events and carrying out measures 
on devices and production units. In this way the SAP system contributed to an even 
better overview and more efficient response to plant and equipment management, 

1.16Risk management

Financial risks and risks under 
the Financial Operations, 

Insolvency Proceedings and 
Compulsory Dissolution Act 

(ZFPPIPP)

Risks associated with operation 
and quantities
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and consequently to a more efficient management of unplanned incidents in relation 
to the management of production units.
The risk of coal supply (production failure in PV) which in the event of insufficiently 
supplied amounts causes disturbances in electricity production process. The 
consequence is a possible reduction in power or a shut-down of units (and loss of 
income). To control this risk, the required quantities are coordinated on a daily basis 
according to the planned electricity production. 

This group of risks also entails the corona virus infection issues. Numerous 
infections, especially among the members of teams in charge of the control of 
Unit 5 and Unit 6, could hinder the production of electricity. The same applies for 
maintenance teams. With the aim to prevent the above scenarios, measures were 
adopted this year, which enabled the normal production of electricity and thermal 
energy according to the requirements imposed by HSE. 

The risk arises from the loss of permit or a part thereof due to non-compliance with 
the environmental permit or significant legal requirements, despite the decision 
issued by the inspectorate, or due to inability to prevent pollution (e.g. inability to 
prevent leakage from the subsidence reconstruction area). The consequence is the 
loss of the environmental permit. The risk is controlled by regular and consistent 
fulfilment of requirements specified in the environmental permit. This risk has 
increased due to more strict criteria as to the end-of-waste status under the waste 
management decree that was adopted without public debate.

Among other, these risks include regulatory risks. Regulatory risks are managed by 
keeping abreast with legislative changes, analysing their impact on the Company’s 
operations, and responding actively in order to protect the interests of the Company 
even before the proposed changes are transposed to the applicable acquis. Our 
employees are regularly informed of relevant legislative amendments that affect the 
Company's operations.

On 2021, we became engaged, through our parent company HSE, in the activities 
aimed at preparing the National Coal Phase-Out Strategy in line with the just 
transition principles in order to ensure competitiveness of both TEŠ and PV for as 
long as they will operate. The Government adopted the strategy on 13 January 2022 
and determined the year 2033 as the year by which Slovenia will stop using coal 
for electricity production. Upon adopting the strategy, the Government also made 
a commitment to prepare a Gradual Closure of PV Act within six months of the 
adoption of the Strategy and make it available for public debate. 

As to the European regulatory framework, in 2021 the HSE Group 's efforts were 
aimed at including the views of the HSE Group in the legislative proposals within the 
framework of the first part of the new legislative package "Fit for 55", which affects 
the key areas for HSE Group companies i.e., the operation of the EU Emissions 
Trading Scheme (EU ETS), the introduction of a carbon tax at the EU borders, and 
setting more ambitious goals considering the share of RES by 2030. The adoption 
of technical criteria for the sustainability of RES projects (what is known as EU 
Taxonomy) was also significant. The key success of the efforts made by the HSE 
Group in this particular field is that the Slovenia’s official position regarding the 
amendments to the EU ETS Directive states that the Government will strive for 
Slovenia to become a beneficiary of the funds of the EU Modernisation Fund which, 
considering the activities supported by the Fund, would constitute a potential 
additional financial incentive for the RES projects to be implemented within the HSE 
Group.

As regards regulatory risks, in the next year we will, through the HSE Group, focus 
in particular on enabling good regulatory and back-up conditions that will allow 
the implementation of new projects and restructuring. To be able to preserve the 
energy-generating location in the Šalek Valley and our potential gas projects, the 

Risk of losing the environmental 
permits and Slovenian Technical 

Approval

Strategic and business risks 
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adoption of technical criteria for the sustainability of gas projects will also be of 
crucial importance. In this respect, our endeavours will be focused on considering 
the actual state and capabilities of the best gas technologies in terms of emission 
factors, as well as the development of the market and possibilities of blending natural 
gas with low-carbon gases and renewable gases in the decade to come.

The investment risk stems from unrealised return on invested funds as a result of 
untimely, uneconomical or technically inadequate execution of investment projects. 
The consequences include loss of income, increased investment expenses, non- 
competitiveness, loss of a market share, lack of profitability of investments, and sunk 
investment costs. This type of risk is managed by compiling tender documentation 
and preparing and concluding quality agreements, and by ensuring adequate 
supervision over the implementation of agreements. In 2021, TEŠ did not invest in 
any projects aimed at increasing the production.

For now, the production process runs smoothly and is unhindered. Raw materials 
required for electricity production and on which the production at TEŠ is dependent 
upon, have recently been supplied in the required amounts (super light fuel oil, gas, 
chemicals) to cover in particular the needs of the production by gas-fired units. 
TEŠ did not face any significant difficulties in the supply of these raw materials 
as the production by these units is minimal. So far, the Ukraine/Russian conflict 
has not affected other supplies. However, the fact is that other raw materials have 
seen a sharp increase in prices. For the time being, the situation in the supply of 
materials (iron) required for the maintenance of the mills is slightly strained. Current 
supplies of the aforementioned materials suffice for an unhindered production until 
September 2022. Consequently, we have already changed the dynamics of supply. 
Materials which were usually supplied every six months are now being supplied 
every 2-3 weeks with prices being determined on a rolling basis to reflect the growth 
trends. Apart from the changed dynamics of supply to ensure sufficient quantities 
of required materials and better price acceptability, we are also on the look for 
new suppliers in the region which will enable us to provide sufficient quantities at 
acceptable prices. For the time being, a significant change in the prices of input raw 
materials and other materials required for the production processes constitute the 
major risk in terms of production. So far, we have not noticed for the Ukraine/Russia 
conflict to have any impact on our services. However, should the aforementioned 
conflict continue, we estimate it will soon be reflected in the prices of maintenance 
services.

The risk of protecting tangible property is managed by setting up and maintaining 
security systems i.e., security architecture that comprises organisational and 
functional measures aimed at setting up or providing business and internal security, 
security sub-systems (video surveillance, physical and technical security etc.) and 
safety culture of employees. In 2021, the companies within the HSE Group have 
successfully completed the publication of a joint (uniform) public tender for an 
upgrade of technical security systems, the aim of which is to ensure an adequate 
level of security for employees and assets of the companies within the Group as well 
as unhindered operations of companies and continuous operation of production 
units.

The risk arises from difficult working conditions, driving hazards, electric shock 
hazard, general danger of fire, explosion, stress, physical overexertion in the 
workplace, etc. The consequences include higher labour costs, injuries, reduced 
productivity, increased absence from work, higher insurance premiums, and claims 
for damages. The risk is controlled by implementing the adopted rules in the areas 
of occupational health and safety and fire safety, as well as by adopting additional 
adequate measures, by regularly managing and monitoring status indicators, 
complying with legislation in the areas of occupational health and safety and fire 
safety, implementing workplace health promotion programmes, verifying and, if 
necessary, updating the register of occupational health and safety perspectives, and 
by harmonising jobs and working environment with risk assessment requirements. 

The risk of protecting tangible 
property

The risk of occupational health 
and safety and fire safety
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Statement on non-financial operations
This particular field is governed by the Companies Act (ZGD-1), which in paragraph 
one of Article 70.c stipulates that only large public-interest entities whose average 
number of employees in the financial year is more than 500 are obliged to include 
a statement on non-financial operations in its business report. The same applies for 
companies who are obliged to compile a consolidated annual report and whose 
average number of employees at a consolidated level is 500.

Subsidiaries fall under paragraph six of the same Article: “A subsidiary included in 
the consolidated business report of the parent company or a separate report of the 
parent company or any other company, shall not be required to fulfil the obligation 
referred to in paragraph one of this Article.”

Since Termoelektrarna Šoštanj d.o.o., which is defined as the public-interest entity, 
made a commitment of ensuring sustainable business and sustainable development 
of the company, our annual report also discloses economic, environmental and soci-
al aspects of our operation. Additional information is available in the 2021 consolida-
ted annual report of the HSE Group.

Šoštanj, 20 May 2022

Director: Termoelektrarna Šoštanj d.o.o.
Mitja Tašler Managing Director:
      Matjaž Vodušek, M.Sc.

Agenda 2030 (UN), the Paris Agreement and the European Green Deal are key 
international documents that show companies how to adapt their operations to 
environmental reality and social trends while simultaneously creating added value 
for the company. At TEŠ we support the set sustainable goals and we are aware of 
the necessity of the transition from a post-industrial to a climate-neutral society 
by 2050. This, however, must be achieved in accordance with the just transition 
principles. There are major challenges ahead of us in terms of electricity production 
decarbonisation, investments in sustainable development and activities compliant 
with the EU Taxonomy and circular economy principles. In this context, new 
technologies driven by digitalisation in practically all spheres of human activity play 
an important role. We are aware of the fact that the transformed operations will 
require significant investments. Therefore, we are actively engaged in the preparation 
of sustainable projects and programmes which could also be (co) funded from the 
European funds. We will continue to pursue the goal of providing stable, reliable and 
competitive production of electricity as well as:
• providing electricity in accordance with the applicable environmental legislation;
•  complying with statutory standards and requirements as regards waste 

management;
•  introducing best available technologies which enable us to reduce impacts on 

the surroundings and environment;
• carefully complying with the precautionary principle.

1.17 Sustainability report
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At TEŠ we monitor, measure and control numerous environmental indicators on a regular basis. Our strategy is to provide stable 
and safe production of electricity.  This is achieved by continuously improving the operation of our facilities (investments in the 
efficiency of Unit 6) which in turn contributes to reduced carbon footprint and other environmental impacts. The spreadsheet shows 
that absolute greenhouse gas emissions have also been in decline in recent years.

Greenhouse gas emissions by TEŠ:

Greenhous/gasescarbon print
Unit of 

measure 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

Direct emissions (Set 1)

Due to the combustion t CO2eq 3,976,500 3,848,962 3,739,414 3,677,806 3,291,126

          of which for own usage t CO2eq 440,309 434,747 422,965 421,302 388,701

Due to natural gas combustion, ELKO t CO2eq 22,931 9,725 14,368 19,166 21,814

Indirect emissions (Set 2)

Energy sources for direct implementation of activitiest t CO2eq 421 439 80 18 16

Administrative buildings t CO2eq 856 841 796 741 721

Other indirect emissions (Set 3)

Commity services t CO2eq 165,632 167,490 167,498 172,800 180,965

Other emissions (limestone flour) t CO2eq 74,011 68,475 63,565 63,467 62,099

Air pollutants 

Intensity for electricity production SO2 mg/kWh 333 454 278 280 321

NOx intensity for electricity production mg/kWh 821 842 607 597 640

Sulphur dioxide (SO2) t 1320 1703 1034 1021 1016

Nitrogen gases, NO2 t 3256 3160 2259 2174 2025

Carbon monoxi (CO) t 830 763 683 667 665

Particles (PM) t 72 64 56 51 42

TEŠ is recording a downward trend in emissions. We have significantly decreased emission of SO2, NOx and dust particles. We 
succeeded this by replacing obsolete units at TEŠ with better technology, and by installing adequate contemporary filters. This 
contributed to better quality of air, soil and water which in turn reduced the impact on the health of people, animals and plants. Unit 
6, which is one of the most contemporary units in Europe, enabled us to reduce CO2 emissions by one third per unit of generated 
electricity.

CO2 emissions in the period from 2010 to 2021:

On account of growing demands to lower emissions in the air, soil and water we are on the verge of significant changes, which in 
practice translate into gradual and well deliberated fossil fuels phase-out. 

To this aim we, together with our parent company, facilitated the preparation of new projects which will allow us to start with alter-
native industrial activities in the area of shut down thermal units 1-4. By the year 2027, the completion of gas-steam generation units 
is anticipated. Considering their high efficiency and flexibility, these will also allow us to use synthetic, environment-friendly fuels as 
well as to keep providing thermal energy to local environment. 
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1.17.1 Responsibility towards employees
Responsibility towards employees, including the management of human resources, 
is something that we, as a socially responsible company, pay special attention to. To 
attract and maintain the best staff is a special challenge which companies have to 
face nowadays.

On one hand, we endeavour for and encourage personal and professional 
development of our employees, while on the other hand, we wish to set up an 
efficient rewarding system reflecting dedication, development and achievements of 
our employees. Good communication, participation of employees in the decision-
making process and fair rewarding system are the things we use to achieve the 
maximum possible satisfaction of our employees. 

Even at times of the epidemic and unenviable economic and social circumstances, 
our employees tried particularly hard, showing dedication and loyalty to the 
Company, to provide unhindered supply of electricity.

A challenge which we, as a company, will be confronted with in a few years’ time 
will have a strong impact on the field of human resources when restructuring 
will be required. Therefore, we are bracing for the changes which will require our 
employees to be even more engaged, flexible and understanding. We are already 
informing them of these changes to prepare them for the time when this will actually 
have to be done.
In these times of uncertainty, the Management is spending a great deal of effort to 
talk extensively and openly to employees, and to include them in all the decisions it 
takes.

When it comes to taking socially responsible measures, our employees are our first 
and most important concern, which is why they are given most attention.
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1.17.2 Human resources
As at 31 December 2021, there were 316 employees at TEŠ, of which 1 person 
had a fixed term contract. Compared to the year 2020, the number of employees 
decreased by 6. Male employees prevail with 91% (288) while there are only 9% of 
female employees (28). 
Average age of employees slightly increased i.e., to 47.4 years (in 2020 it was 46.6 
years). The highest share of employees falls under the 51-60 age category which 
employs 126 of them.

LEVEL OF PROFESSIONAL EDUCATION 31.12.2021 31.12.2020

8/2 0 0

8/1 3 5

7 15 15

6/2 18 18

6/1 49 48

5 126 132

4 77 75

3 13 13

2 13 13

1 2 3

TOTAL 316 322

EMPLOYMENT 
We acquire new colleagues according to the needs of the working process. We 
advertise vacancies through the Employment Service, on our intranet as well as on 
the Company’s website. If required, we also advertise vacancies on employment 
portals and in cooperation with faculties and schools. Employees of all companies 
within the HSE Group are acquainted with the vacancies.

EMPLOYEE FLUCTUATION
Compared to 2020, the fluctuation rate decreased by 0.9 percentage point with no 
major operational risks or dysfunctions being observed in this context. In 2021, the 
fluctuation rate accounts for 3.8% (in 2020 it accounted for 4,7%). 
Approximately 19% of our employees will meet the retirement conditions in the next 
three years, so we estimate the fluctuation rate will gradually rise.

ABSENTEEISM
Stopnja absentizma se je v primerjavi z letom 2020 zelo zvišala predvsem zaradi 
bolezni COVID-19. Stopnja absentizma v letu 2021 je bila 8-odstotna (v letu 2020 
5-odstotna).

EMPLOYING THE DISABLED
At the end of 2021, there were 11 disabled persons employed in the Company.

EDUCATION AND DEVELOPMENT
Through education (in line with the work place requirements) and internal trainings 
and knowledge transfer, we ensure continuous development of employees and 
appropriate additional skills for filling available posts. 

Planned education and training allow us to improve the competences, productivity, 
creativity and innovation of our employees. We exchange and transfer knowledge 
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to our colleagues trough formal and informal forms of training. Mentoring is the 
most common form of knowledge transfer which is also being implemented for 
mandatory work placement for students.
Despite the epidemic, we increased the volume of education and training as we 
increased the number of trainings per employee. In 2021, the employees of TEŠ 
performed 15,669 hours of trainings (in 2020 this figure amounted to 15,529 hours). 
On average, each of our employees spent 50 hours at trainings. 

The effects of epidemic were reflected mostly in the introduction of remote work 
and an increase in on-line trainings. The option of e-education was well received by 
colleagues, as this would allow more of them to be trained with less impact on their 
working hours.

We are actively involved in projects aimed at developing professional and personal 
competences of employees. In 2021, this was primarily the SPIN project (encouraging 
persons facing job loss to be included in the measures on the labour market - ready 
for changes).

MENTORING
The company has a mentoring system in place, which serves either as training for 
filling a new post or is intended for intergenerational transfer of knowledge.

External training of mentors was carried out with the aim of upgrading soft skills, 
recognizing one's own knowledge, raising self-esteem and transferring knowledge 
and experience to younger colleagues. At the on-line conference “Let’s get creative”, 
the employees of the training department presented the mentoring system in TEŠ 
and the transfer of knowledge between different generations as an example of 
good practice. The conference was organised by the Competence Centre for the 
Development of Personnel in the Electric Power Industry. The system as depicted 
above is aimed at increasing creativity and innovation among our employees.

Apart from introducing newly employed to their jobs using our mentoring system, 
we are also preserving, developing and upgrading key knowledge and skills that 
are required for an independent performance of work at a new job. This way 
we encourage internal succession and intergenerational transfer of knowledge 
and experience. This applies in particular to technical skills which are difficult 
or impossible to acquire on the market. Therefore, mentors have a particularly 
important role in transferring their knowledge to their younger associates.

EPIDEMIC AND ACCELERATED DIGITAL DEVELOPMENT 
With the onset of the epidemic, digital development was also accelerated. The 
effects of epidemic were reflected mostly in the introduction of remote work and 
an increase in on-line trainings. The option of e-education was well received by 
colleagues, as this would allow more of them to be trained with less impact on their 
working hours. In the framework of digital development, we introduced an electronic 
issuance of payrolls and enabled access to electronic version to all employees who 
wish to receive documents in an electronic format.

REMUNERATING AND MOTIVATING EMPLOYEES
We wish for all our employees to be motivated and dedicated. Therefore, we 
upgraded and set up a new individual work performance evaluation system and a 
promotion system with detailed evaluation criteria.
This constitutes additional motivation for our employees to achieve better results. 
Remuneration system encourages success of both individuals and groups. Rewards 
are paid out based on entrepreneurial collective agreements and other internal acts. 

Group remuneration is based on pre-determined or expected results. Year-end 
bonuses are paid out considering the achieved operating result at the end of the year. 
Employees also receive long-service awards. Regular annual interviews were not 
carried out in 2021 owing to the onset of the COVID epidemic.
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EMPLOYEE COMMUNICATION  
We communicate with our employee through the intranet, e-mail, notice boards, 
directly through their superiors, through management letters to employees, as well 
as by posting on our website.  
Employees are proactively informed of all current events throughout the year.
 
We continued to communicate with our employees on a daily basis during the 
epidemic as well, namely through e-mails and other activities (notices by the 
Management, preventive measures, various posts on the intranet). This way we 
enhanced trust and build up connection

EMPLOYEE CARE
Our employees had the opportunity of psychological counselling and a specialist 
insurance was also introduced. Apart from that, our employees also have many 
benefits through Sports and Cultural Society of TEŠ.

A preventive active break at work place was also introduced. Our employees were 
also given the opportunity to participate at a free workshop “Communicating with 
Stress” or at a seminar “Psychological Stability during Epidemics”.

For the children of our employees, we prepared Christmas and New Year's gift-giving 
in the framework of which 101 child received gifts.

Various forms of above-standard insurance which we provide allow our employees 
and their families to see a doctor in the shortest possible time. This way their 
recovery after an illness or injury takes less time. 

Contributions to the second pension pillar which are made in the form of an 
additional voluntary pension insurance for employees are part of our payroll policy. 
This way we, as an informed employer, also provide better financial security for our 
employees once they retire.
Should the working process allow, our employees have also been given the 
opportunity to work from home. Based on this we concluded new employment 
agreements in line with the applicable legislation.

STRESS MANAGEMENT AND BURNOUT PREVENTION
Our employees were also given the opportunity to participate at a workshop 
“Communicating with Stress” or at a workshop “Psychological Stability during 
Epidemics”. We also introduced an active break at work place which was adapted 
according to the situation and was more flexible in terms of time.
Organised meals with a possibility of a warm meal for every employee also have an 
impact on the satisfaction of our employees.

WELL-BEING AT TIMES OF THE CORONAVIRUS OUTBREAK
Owing to the safety of our employees and the goal of continued uninterrupted 
electricity production, the impact of COVID-19 also meant managing increased 
daily absences, which dictated a different organization of work. Where this was 
possible, our employees were given instruction to work from home. In the field 
of maintenance services we provided “work in bubbles” and divided work to two 
shifts at times of increased absences. To ensure unhindered operation, we also 
had a team isolation scenario in place which, however, did not happen. By regularly 
communicating with and providing psychological assistance to our employees, 
the latter were able to better understand the situation which in turn helped us in 
communicating and adjusting work absences in a swifter manner. Based on the 
measures adopted, we also got to know other forms of work which we will preserve 
to a certain extent in the future as well. Owing to openly conversing with our 
employees we were able to make a connection with them. This in turn allows us for 
our employees to notify us of any potential contacts and malaise in advance and 
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not to come to work if they feel unwell. In such cases, we also used the measure of 
hospitalization for up to three days without visiting a doctor. We provide all protective 
equipment, rapid tests as well as regular rapid testing for all employees; we also 
organized the vaccination of employees at the TEŠ location several times. We have a 
work group that is in charge of preparing an operational plan and that prepares and 
coordinates measures on a daily basis. Our employees are given the opportunity 
to benefit from the force majeure measure. Owing to special concern for the health 
of our employees, we organized an active break at several locations and, due to the 
situation, also introduced flexible use of services in the afternoon. 

TAKING CARE OF EMPLOYEES OUTSIDE WORKING HOURS 
Our employees benefit from specialist insurance which allows them to use the 
services at times they most need them. At the end of the year our employees were 
distributed vitamin C and vitamin D3 and were provided fruit at work place. These 
measures were taken in the framework of our health promoting initiative.

In their free time our employees are also encouraged to take part in cultural, sports 
and other activities organised by the Sports and Cultural Society of TEŠ. 

RESPONSIBILITY TO BROADER SOCIETY
Socially responsible action is part of the Company’s strategic policy and is one of 
the key tools to achieve sustainable development. Our employees are engaged in 
numerous local societies acting as volunteers.

COOPERATION WITH EMPLOYEE REPRESENTATIVES
We have open dialogue with social partners such the trade union and Worker’s 
Council. In 2021, the Supervisory Board of TEŠ was formed again with an employee 
representative being one if its members.

1.17.3 Responsibility towards natural environment
For a number of years, we have been implementing our responsibility towards 
the natural environment through constant controls, warnings and measures. To 
this aim, we monitor the production of by-products, emissions and ambient air 
quality, supervise the consumption of raw materials and additional water as well as 
the quantity and quality of waste waters, monitor the accumulation of wastes and 
the management thereof, implement environmental administrative procedures, 
and propose the necessary measures. Special attention is paid to protecting and 
safeguarding the environment which we belong to, in which we operate and which 
we help to shape.

Our goal is to provide electrical and thermal energy in the future, too, with as little 
strain on the environment and near-by residents as possible. With the Company 
being inextricably linked with local environment, the awareness of necessity for 
all stakeholders to participate is a prerequisite for successful, reliable and safe 
production. 

UNIT 6 FOR REDUCED ENVIRONMENTAL BURDEN
Unit 6, which is designed and built in accordance with international standards, 
significantly reduces environmental burden at all levels. The emissions on this unit are 
reduced by a factor of 3 compared to the values emitted by worn-out and obsolete 
older units. The concentration of dust we emit into the environment and the noise we 
cause are also significantly reduced. Owing to the state-of-the-art technology, Unit 6 
allows us to consume less coal and, due to Unit’s better efficiency, produce the same 
amount of electricity with less CO2 emissions released into the environment than in 
the past.
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ENVIRONMENTALLY REVAMPED UNIT 5
In the framework of revamping Unit 5 some primary 
measures and urea dosing for additional denitrification of 
flue gas were performed. This allowed us to reduce the 
concentration of NOx from 500 mg/m3 to under 175 mg/m3. 
A desulphurisation plant was revamped, and the sealing on 
the GAVO heat exchanger was reconstructed. Owing to this 
the concentration of SO2 reduced from 400 mg/m3 to 200 
mg/m3.

OTHER PROJECTS
In 2021, TEŠ abandoned the SOEN (co-incineration for 
energy) project. This was a step forward to reducing 
greenhouse gas emissions and following the policy of gradual 
phase-out of fossil fuels. The use of biomass has become 
relevant in the production of electricity and thermal energy, 
because it is less burdensome on the environment than 
coal. In the years to come, we are planning to increase the 
production from gas-fired units as gas has lower specific CO2 
emissions than coal; we are also monitoring the advances of 
new CO2 capturing technologies.

By the end of March, we compiled all environmental records 
for the previous year i.e., a record of raw and waste waters; a 
record of closed loop water circuit; a record of combustion 
products; and a review of generated waste. Monitoring 
officers sent us the annual environmental reports which we 
studied and sent to ARSO on time. For the statistical office 
we prepared the statistics on water and environmental 
expenses. In March, the quantity of emitted CO2 for 2020 was 
reported to the emission allowances register. In April, we also 
submitted the appropriate amount of these. In line with the 
requirements and form of EBRD, we compiled a review of 
environmental issues for 2020. In July, we also prepared the 
statistics of environmental protection expenses to be sent to 
the Statistical Office of the Republic of Slovenia.

As regards waste cooling waters, the temperatures of these 
in the cooling tower of Unit 5 were exceeded in summer 
months. We suggested that better alarm systems be put 
in place and discharge of waste water be put on hold at 
times of highest temperatures. Despite more frequent 
control of copper content in the waste cooling water of the 
cooling tower of Unit 5, annually allowed copper content 
was exceeded. It seems that increased corrosion of brass 
elements causes very irregular operation of Unit 5. We 
estimate that the process of sampling and control will bring 
the copper content in waste cooling waters of Unit 5 back to 
normal in the year to come.

In the past years more water was pumped from water 
sources than required. In 2021 the situation reversed. In order 
to prevent unnecessary loss of water, we put in place an 
automatic hourly control which allows real time warnings as 
well as identifying leaks, overflows and other inconveniences. 
We were granted a permit to use the Topolšica water source.

Transforming waste into the stabilising material at mixing 

plants of Unit 6 proved to be very good in terms of gypsum 
content, and slightly less good in terms of ash content. 
Compared to Unit 6, the situation in terms of gypsum and ash 
content was slightly lower on Unit 5. In 2021 we observed a 
slightly poorer bonding properties of ash with this being the 
main reason for molybdenum and sulphate leaching.

Excess water could still be observed in the closed-loop 
water circuit system. Therefore, we drew the attention of 
those competent to the possibility of enhancing the situation 
by using the closed-loop water circuit on the underwater 
slag conveyor (PIŽ 6). Owing to the issues related to the 
supply of electronic control elements the project could not 
be completed until the end of the year. To monitor excess 
waters, we updated the spreadsheet for pumping water on 
the subsidence reconstruction area.
To improve the control over the stabilising material 
incorporation, we coordinated the specification for external 
control. We prepared the application for the extension of 
Slovenian Technical Approval and participated at a meeting 
with Slovenian National Building and Civil Engineering 
Institute in this regard. Subsequently, we were granted a six-
month extension of the Slovenian Technical Approval. The 
Slovenian National Building and Civil Engineering Institute 
has second thoughts regarding the extension of the Slovene 
Technical Permit mainly due to significant leaching of 
molybdenum and sulphate from the stabilising material which 
is a consequence of poor bonding properties of ash in it.

We reported waste packaging, waste electrical and electronic 
equipment and lubricants to the Financial Administration of 
the Republic of Slovenia.

We compiled quarterly environmental reports on key 
parameters for SDH. In the beginning of the year, we 
prepared expanded environmental indicators for the 2015-
2020 period required for annual sustainability report.

We performed the noise monitoring process with result being 
within the admissible limits.

As regards additional fuels for use in large combustion 
plants (VKN 3 and VKN 6), in the third quarter we received an 
ARSO Decision to stay the procedure of change notification. 
Based on this Decision we then prepared our opinion and 
subsequently also a draft response addressed to ARSO. 
Afterwards, we also drew up a request for clarification of 
the aforementioned Decision, and sent it to ARSO. Based on 
their response we have concluded that we will not be able to 
use additional types of coal until we have been granted an 
amendment to the environmental permit. 
In March we received an ARSO request for amendments 
related to the transfer of the cooling tower and subsidence 
reconstruction area to PV, permanent shut-down of Unit 
4, and additional amendments related to the amended 
Decree on Waste. As regards the subsidence reconstruction 
area, we prepared a draft agreement between TEŠ and 
PV, coordinated the preparation of partial comparison of 
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stabilising material leachates with a new decree, coordinated the preparation of the 
opinion of the Slovenian National Building and Civil Engineering Institute regarding 
the end-of-waste status and prepared an amendment required under the ARSO 
request. Since under this new decree the stabilising material can no longer lose its 
waste status, TEŠ included in the amendments to be sent to ARSO the possible uses 
from Article 3(17)(3) of the EU Directive on Waste according to which non-hazardous 
waste may be used for back-filling and land reclamation in the excavation areas. In 
the framework of this amendment, we also updated the waste management plan for 
waste to be transformed into stabilising material (NRO R5 TEŠ 21). 

As far as meeting the conditions of the banks is concerned, we participated at a 
meeting with EIB regarding the validity of CCR Certificate and permanent shut-down 
of Unit 4. Concerning the latter, we later interacted with ARSO regarding an expedited 
issuance of an amended environmental permit for Unit 4.

As regards examining potential CC-technologies, we, based on the composition of 
coal, determined the composition of wet flue gas coming out of FGD, and we also 
participated at meetings of the group in charge of the preparation of the blueprint for 
the pilot device.

In the framework of preparations for the application of BAT conclusions for large 
combustion plants we verified multiannual maximum entry concentrations of SO2 
before FGD, coordinated examinations of burners using dry techniques to lower the 
concentration of NOx on gas units, and prepared a calculation of limit values in the 
event of using combined fuel (biomass + coal). 

In the context of new requirements for additional flue gas measurements we 
prepared an application to replace permanent measurements of Hg and NH3 at large 
combustion plants (VKN3 and VKN6) with temporary measurements. Based on this, 
ARSO required an amendment including all the positions regarding BAT conclusions 
for large combustion plants. We prepared these positions in the third quarter and 
sent them to ARSO.
In monitoring changes in the legislative field, we also drew up proposals to the draft 
amendment to the Decree on the Emissions of Substances into the Atmosphere 
from Stationary Sources of Pollution, proposals to the draft resolution on the 
national environmental protection programme, and other proposals to the draft 
amendment to the IED Regulation.

Considering various possibilities of introducing new technologies, we started 
examining a possibility to replace hydrazine with more adequate substances such 
as polyamines; a possibility to cover the coal depot with paper mill sludge; and 
the applicability of 17225-1 standard for the supply of bio fuels for use at TEŠ. In 
examining the possibility to use paper mill sludge to cover the coal depot, we 
conducted a laboratory test to observe how the sludge reacts in suspension, and 
asked a potential supplier to provide us with the analyses of the material. In 2021 
no such analyses were received. However, we prepared the drafts for a change 
notification to be sent to the Ministry of Environment and Spatial Planning. As 
regards the use of biomass at Unit 6, we also prepared our BAT positions considering 
the use of biomass, as well as a change notification referring to its use. At the end of 
the year, we also received a favourably resolved decision allowing us to continue with 
the environmental permit amendment procedure. 
As regards the operation of gas units, we started examining option of them operating 
more than 500 hours/year.

In September, we were subject to the inspection conducted by the Inspectorate of 
the Republic of Slovenia for the Environment and Spatial Planning in the framework 
of which we prepared a written explanation on what measures have been taken 
in our Company to adapt to the new Decree on Waste. It was on this basis that 
the inspector who initiated an inspection procedure due to an alleged violation of 

64  /  BUSINESS REPORT



environmental permit also stopped the procedure at a later stage. We also prepared 
a clarification regarding the operator of the subsidence reconstruction area for the 
Inspectorate of the Republic of Slovenia for Protection Against Natural and Other 
Disasters.

1.17.4 Responsibility to greater social community
Both by its location and activities, TEŠ is strongly integrated in the local community 
as well as the greater area. We are aware of the importance of the environment in 
which we operate and which we help to shape. We are particularly aware of this 
because of the impacts the production of electricity has on the environment. 

We realize that the presence of TEŠ in the local community is not without 
disruptions, which is why we shall continue to assume a responsible role in its 
development by participating in various projects and supporting them.

1.17.5 Public relations
Communication is a key to success. Successful companies always have a good 
communication strategy which serves as a company’s guidance on various levels. 

At TEŠ, public relations are planned and carried out in line with the Rules on 
Communication applicable within the HSE Group, and the communication 
strategy. The team of representatives of the companies within the HSE Group 
plans and carries out communication activities at the level of the HSE Group. 

The management submits all data and information which they want to 
communicate to the public to their sectoral communication officer. It is 
common for sectoral communication officer to receive inquiries and requests 
for information directly to his/her e-mail. Most of the time, such requests are 
made by the media. The content prepared by the sectoral communication officer 
is then sent for approval to the main communication officer who gives his/her 
approval. Upon his approval, the information becomes public, which applies 
for all forms of publications in internal, external or emergency communication. 
When approved by the main communication officer, the information is published 
by the sectoral communication officer, all in accordance with the rules on 
communication of TEŠ and rules on communication of the HSE Group. 

The basic communication tools with the external and internal public continue to 
be the TEŠ's website (www.te-sostanj.si), press releases, articles and interviews 
in various local and national media, and the power industry magazine Naš stik. 
In communicating with internal public, we also use the TEŠ intranet, e-mail, 
notice boards, instructions to employees, trainings, the manager’s rounds among 
employees, meetings, committees, online social tools and video conferences.

For our employees to be able to exchange experience, knowledge and opinion, 
the HSE Group also has the intranet available. 

The Company is aware of the importance of the environment in which it operates 
and which it helps to shape. We know TEŠ has an important role in the local 
community, and that we have to inform people of our activities. Therefore, we 
organise open-door days for visitors, when our doors are open to public. In 2021 
these activities were restricted due to Covid-19 situation. We will do our best to 
continue taking a responsible role in the town’s development and informing the 
general population about our energy production efforts.
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Constantly monitoring the development of new technologies and materials allows 
us to implement all contemporary solutions which in turn enable us to optimise 
maintenance costs, realise technological advances and improve the operation of 
our plants by the end of their useful life. Due to the limited financial resources, 
these were intended for most urgent research only. In 2022, we intend to start with a 
development project of erecting a gas-steam unit (PPE) at TEŠ.

1.18Research and development
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2.1 Auditor’s report
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2.2 Statement of the  
management’s  
responsibility

The Management is responsible for preparing financial statements for 
each individual financial year in accordance with the International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) and applicable laws as adopted by the European 
Union, in such a manner that they give a true and fair view of the financial 
position of the company Termoelektrarna Šoštanj d.o.o.

The Management reasonably expects that in the foreseeable future, the 
Company will have sufficient assets to continue its operations, and therefore 
the financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis.

The Management's responsibility in preparing the financial statements 
includes the following:
• accounting policies have been appropriately selected and consistently 

used;
• assessments and estimates are reasonable and prudent;
• financial statements are prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted by 

the EU.

The Management is responsible for keeping relevant records which, at 
every moment, present the Company's financial position with reasonable 
precision, as well as for ensuring that the Company's financial statements 
are consistent with IFRS. The Management is also responsible for protecting 
the Company's property, as well as preventing and detecting any abuse and 
other irregularities.

The Management confirms that the financial statements are prepared in 
accordance with the provisions of IFRS without reservations as to their use.

The Management approved the Company's financial statements for the 
financial year that ended on 31 December 2021 on 20 May 2022.        

Šoštanj, 20 May 2022
Termoelektrarna Šoštanj d.o.o.

Director General Director
Mitja Tašler Matjaž Vodušek, M.Sc. 
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Pursuant to a resolution of the General Meeting of the owner of Termoelektrarna 
Šoštanj of 20 August 2010, as of 1 January 2011 the Company prepares the financial 
statements and the accompanying notes in accordance with the International 
Financial Reporting Standards (hereinafter: IFRS) as adopted by the EU.
 
The auditing company Deloitte revizija d.o.o. has audited the financial statements and 
the accompanying notes and has prepared an independent auditor's report included 
at the beginning of the chapter.

2.2.1 Reporting company
Termoelektrarna Šoštanj d.o.o. (hereinafter: the Company) is a company with its 
registered seat in Slovenia. The address of its registered office is: Cesta Lole Ribarja 
18, Šoštanj. Hereafter are the separate financial statements of the Company for the 
year that ended on 31 December 2021. 

The consolidated financial statements of the Holding Slovenske elektrarne Group are 
prepared by Holding Slovenske elektrarne d.o.o. The consolidated annual report of 
the HSE Group is available at the company's registered office at Koprska ulica 92 in 
Ljubljana. 
 

2.2.2 Basis for preparation
In preparing the financial statements as at 31 December 2020, the Company 
considered the following:
• IFRS, which include the International Accounting Standards (IAS), Interpretations 

issued by the Standing Interpretations Committee (SIC), International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS), and the Interpretations issued by the International 
Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) as adopted by the European 
Union;

• Companies Act;
• Energy Act;
• Corporate Income Tax Act and its implementing regulations;
• Accounting Rules of Termoelektrarne Šoštanj d.o.o.; and
• other applicable legislation.

The Company’s financial statements have been prepared taking account of the 
anticipated date of closure of the Velenje Coal Mine in the activities related to the 
public disclosure and exposure draft of the National Strategy on Coal Phase-Out 
and the Restructuring of Coal Regions in line with the just transition principles and 
the amended environmental report. The proposed coal phase-out scenario for the 
Savinja-Šalek Region is by 2033.

a) First application of new amendments to the existing standards applied in the 
current reporting period

In the current reporting period, the following new standards, amendments to 
the existing standards and interpretations issued by the International Accounting 
Standards Board (IASB) and adopted by the EU are applied:

• Amendments to IFRS 9 – Financial instruments, IAS 39 – Financial instruments: 
Recognition and measurement, IFRS 7 – Financial instruments: Disclosures, 
IFRS 4 – Insurance contracts and IFRS 16 – Leases – Reform of reference interest 
rate – Phase 2, adopted by the EU on 13 January 2021 (they apply to annual periods 
starting on 1 January 2021 or later), 
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• Amendments to IFRS 16 – Leases – Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond 
30 June 2021, adopted by the EU on 30 August 2021 (they apply as of 1 April 2021 to 
annual periods starting on 1 January 2021 or later), 

• Amendments to IFRS 4 – Insurance contracts – Deferral of effective date of IFRS 
9, adopted by the EU on 16 December 2020 (deferral of effective date was extended 
from 1 January 2021 to annual periods starting on 1 January 2023 or later).

Adoption of these new standards, amendments to the existing standards and notes 
did not lead to any significant changes of the existing financial statements of the 
Company.

b) Standards and amendments to existing standards issued by the IASB and 
adopted by the EU but not yet in force

On the effective date of these financial standards the International Accounting 
Standards Board issued the following amendments to the existing standards adopted 
by the EU but not yet in force:

• Amendments to IAS 16 – Property, plant and equipment – Proceeds before 
intended use, adopted by the EU on 28 June 2021 (they apply to annual periods 
starting on 1 January 2022 or later); 

• Amendments to IAS 37 – Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets 
– Onerous contracts – Costs of fulfilling a contract, adopted by the EU on 28 June 
2021 (they apply to annual periods starting on 1 January 2022 or later);

• Amendments to IFRS 3 – Business combinations – Reference to the conceptual 
framework with amendments to IFRS 3, adopted by the EU on 28 June 2021 (they 
apply to annual periods starting on 1 January 2022 or later); 

•  IFRS 17 – Insurance contracts, including amendments to IFRS 17, adopted by the 
UE on 19 November 2021 (applies to annual periods starting on 1 January 2023 or 
after);

• Amendments to various standards with the aim of improving IFRS (2018-2020 
cycle), with the amendments being the result of annual project of improving IFRS 
(IFRS 1, IFRS 9, IFRS 16 and IAS 41), aimed especially at eliminating inconsistencies 
and explanation of the text, adopted by the EU on 28 June 2021 (amendments to 
IFRS 1, IFRS 9 and IAS 41 apply to annual periods starting on 1 January 2022 or later. 
Amendment to IFRS 16 refers only to the illustrative example. Therefore, the date of 
entry into force is not indicated.).

c) New Standards and amendments to existing standards issued by the IASB but 
not yet adopted by the EU

Currently, the IFRS as adopted by the EU do not significantly differ from the ones 
adopted by the IASB, except for the following new standards and amendments to the 
existing standards (dates of entry into force stated hereafter apply to IFRS as adopted 
by the IASB): 

• IFRS 14 – Regulatory deferral accounts (applies to annual periods starting on 1 
January 2016 or later) – the European Commission decided not to start with the 
procedure of approving this interim standard, and to wait for its final version; 

•  Amendments to IAS 1 – Presentation of accounting statements – Classifying 
liabilities to current and non-current (they apply to annual periods starting on 1 
January 2023 or later);
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•  Amendments to IAS 1 – Presentation of accounting statements – Disclosure of 
accounting policies (they apply to annual periods starting on 1 January 2023 or later) 

• Amendments to IAS 8 – Accounting policies, changes in accounting estimates and 
errors – Definition of accounting estimates (they apply to annual periods starting on 1 
January 2023 or later);

• Amendments to IAS 12 – Income tax – Deferred tax related to assets and liabilities arising 
from a single transaction (they apply to annual periods starting on 1 January 2023 or later);

• Amendments to IFRS 10 – Consolidated accounting statements, and IAS 28 – Long-
term interests in an associate or joint venture – Sale or Contribution of Assets between 
an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture, and further amendments (date of entry into 
force has been postponed for an indefinite period of time until the project relating to the 
equity method is completed);

• Amendments to IFRS 17 – Insurance contracts – Initial application of IFRS 17 and IFRS 9 - 
Comparative information (apply to annual periods starting on 1 January 2023 or after). 

The Company envisages that the introduction of these new standards and amendments to 
the existing ones will have no significant impact on the Company’s financial statements in this 
initial application period. 
The field of hedge accounting in relation to the portfolio of financial assets and liabilities, the 
principles of which have not yet been adopted by the EU, continues to be unregulated.
The Company estimates that the application of hedge accounting in relation to the portfolio 
of financial assets and liabilities under IAS 39 – Financial instruments: recognition and 
measurement would not have any significant impact on the Company’s financial statements 
if applied on the balance sheet date.

2.2.3 Basis for measurement
The financial statements are prepared on the basis of a going concern assumption and taking 
into account the occurrence of a business event.

The financial statements of the Company are prepared on the basis of historical values of 
balance sheet items.

The following qualitative characteristics of financial statements have been considered:
• fair presentation and compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards 

(IFRS): the financial statements present fairly the financial situation, financial performance 
and cash flows of the Company.

• consistency of presentation: the presentation and classification of items in the financial 
statements is the same from one period to another. 

• materiality and aggregation: each material group which comprises similar items is 
presented separately in the financial statements. Items of a dissimilar nature or function are 
presented separately unless they are immaterial.

• off-setting: neither assets and liabilities nor revenue and expenses are offset, unless so 
required or allowed by a standard or a note.

• comparative information: comparative information from previous periods is to be 
reported for all amounts disclosed in the financial statements, unless a standard or note 
allows or requires otherwise. Comparative information is included among narrative 
and descriptive information, where it is relevant for the understanding of the financial 
statements of the relevant period.

• changes to significant accounting policies: the same accounting bases, policies and 
recognition-related principles were observed while compiling the financial statements as 
for the fiscal year 2020.
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Going concern assumption:
The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern assumption: In 
2021, the Company generated profit in the amount of EUR 7.1 million (2020: loss in 
the amount of EUR 280.4 million). The main reason for the profit generated in current 
year is an out-of-court settlement reached in an arbitration procedure regarding 
the construction of Unit 6 on account of which the Company recorded revenues in 
the amount of EUR 231.5 million. On the other hand, the Company performed the 
impairment of assets in the amount of EUR 161.1 million. Owing to the unrelieved loss 
brought forward from the previous years and the impairment of long-term assets, 
the Company’s loss brought forward from the previous years exceeded one half of 
the Company’s registered capital at 31 December 2021 (final report of 17 May 2022), 
making it allegedly insolvent. A preliminary anticipated measure to provide capital 
adequacy of TEŠ (a simplified reduction of the Company’s registered capital by 
EUR 383 million, transferring this amount to capital reserves) is under way as is the 
conclusion of the agreement on the sale of electricity for 2022 which is based on the 
amended transfer pricing model i.e., the cost- plus fee method. The agreement was 
concluded on 22 April 2022.

The Company is also very much dependent on its affiliated company PV which 
faces a difficult liquidity situation and generates repeated losses at the same time. PV 
monitors the liquidity situation on a regular basis. The liquidity deficit incurred by PV 
due to production down times and sales of coal was partially covered with advance 
payments by TEŠ, as well as with postponing the investments and postponing 
the payments to suppliers. A high dependence of TEŠ on PV constitutes a risk 
for unhindered production of electricity in the event PV faces major operational 
difficulties (and disrupted coal supply). 
The circumstances depicted above constitute a going concern risk.

2.2.4 Functional and presentation currency
In this report, the financial statements are presented in EUR (excluding cents), which 
constitutes both the functional and representational currency of the Company. Due 
to the rounding of amounts, minor but insignificant deviations exist in the tables.

2.2.5 Use of estimates and assessmentsj
The preparation of financial statements requires the Company’s management to 
form certain estimates and assumptions which affect the disclosed amounts of 
assets and liabilities, revenue and expenses and disclosures of contingent assets and 
liabilities in the reporting period. The formation of estimates and of accompanying 
assumptions and uncertainties are disclosed in notes to individual items.

Estimates and assumptions are based on past experience and other factors that 
are considered justified in the given circumstances, and on the basis of which the 
assessments on the carrying amount of assets and liabilities are expressed. Since the 
estimates and assumptions are subject to subjective assessment and certain level of 
uncertainty, subsequent actual results can differ from assessments. The estimates 
are examined at least once a year to verify if there are indicators for the impairment 
of individual cash-generating unit. Changes in accounting estimates are recognised 
in the period in which the assessments were changed if the change affects only that 
period or in the period of change and in future periods in case the change affects 
future periods.

Estimates and assumptions are present at least in the following judgements:

• Assessment of useful life of amortisable assets 
When assessing the useful life of assets, the Company takes into account 
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expected physical exploitation, technical ageing, economic ageing and expected 
legal and other usage restrictions. In the case of major assets, the Company shall 
verify the useful life and determine whether there have been any changes in the 
circumstances that led to a change in the useful life.

• Impairment testing of non-financial assets 
At least once a year, the Company verifies whether there are any impairment 
indicators for each cash-generating unit, where the recoverable value of non-
financial assets is determined on the basis of the present value of cash flows, 
based on an estimate of expected cash flows from cash-generating units and the 
determination of an appropriate discount rate. In assessing whether there is a need 
to carry out the impairment of the property, the Company takes into account that 
the individual property as a whole generates cash inflows depending on the rest of 
the property. 

• Assessment of net realisable value of inventories 
The cost of inventories is not recoverable if the inventories are damaged, totally or 
partially obsolete or if their selling price has decreased. The cost of inventories is 
also not recoverable if there is an increase in the estimated cost of completion or 
in an estimated cost to sell. Partial write-offs of inventories under their initial value 
or costs up to their net realisable value complies with the point of view that assets 
cannot be denominated with amounts bigger than the ones expected at the time 
when they are sold or used.

•  Assessment of impairment of receivables and assets arising from contracts with 
buyers  
At the time of drawing up the financial statements, the Company estimates the 
value adjustments based on the expected credit loss model, according to which 
the expected losses to be incurred in the future are estimated.

• Assessment of provisions for post-employment and other long-term employee 
benefits 
Under employment benefit obligations, the present value of severance payments 
upon retirement is recorded. It is recognised on the basis of an actuarial calculation 
based on the assumptions and estimates in force at the time of the calculation, 
which may differ from the actual assumptions that will apply at the time due to 
future changes. This mainly concerns the determination of the discount rate, 
estimates of employee fluctuations, mortality estimates and estimates of wage 
growth. Due to the completeness of actuarial calculation and their long-term 
character, the obligations for the post-employment benefits of employees are 
sensitive to changes in those estimates. 

• Recognition of provisions for lawsuits and contingent liabilities  
Provisions are recognised when the Company has legal or constructive liabilities 
arising from a past event, which can be reliably assessed, and when it is likely that 
that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to 
settle the liability. The management of the Company shall regularly check whether 
an outflow of funds allowing economic benefits is likely to be fulfilled in order 
to settle a possible liability. If it becomes fulfilled, the possible liability shall be 
redistributed by forming a provision in the financial statements at the time when 
the probability rate changes.

2.2.6 Events after the date of the statement of   
 financial position
Significant events after the date of the statement of financial position:

1. On the basis of the Long-term agreement on the purchase of coal, lease of power 
and purchase of electricity signed on 12 March 2015, and the Agreement on the 
regulation of mutual relations in the area of electricity market performance, a 
uniform agreement was signed on 22 April 2022. The Agreement specifies the 
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rights and obligations of the respective parties regarding the purchase of coal, 
lease of ancillary services, and the purchase of electricity produced from coal, 
gas, fuel oil and biomass in 2022. The agreement is based on the amended transfer 
pricing model i.e., on the cost-plus fee method.

2. In March 2022, the Company’s specialist services and HSE agreed the Sales/
Purchase agreement on the sale, purchase, transfer and acceptance of emission 
allowances valid in the fourth period of the European trading scheme (2021-
2030), and the payment of the contractually agreed price. The subject of the 
agreement is the purchase of 3,263,823 emission allowances needed by TEŠ to 
fulfil its obligations arising from greenhouse gas emissions generated in 2021. The 
agreement was executed on 23 March 2022.

3. Hereafter, we provide a description of the Ukrainian war which, however, has no 
impact on the 2021 financial statements: 

 
 The escalation of the conflict between Russia and Ukraine has shaken the energy 

and stock markets and caused an extreme rise in energy prices at global level. 
Russia is the third largest producer of crude oil, the second largest producer of gas 
and among the five largest producers of iron, nickel and aluminium. As a result, 
any reduction in supplies leads to an increase in the prices of the aforementioned 
raw materials in the world markets. The uncertainty regarding the expectations 
for a quick recovery after the two-year-long COVID pandemic has also increased. 
The conflict will have a very significant impact on economic growth, especially in 
Eastern Europe, which is also most dependent on the import of goods from Russia 
and Ukraine. On the other hand, the European-Russian mutual dependence on 
energy sources has become one of the key elements of the negotiations to end 
the war.  

 The scope of the consequences of the war will depend mainly on the duration of 
the invasion and the severity of the consequences, but its impact has already been 
reflected on global markets through: 
• raw materials price "shocks" which cause inflationary pressures and negatively 

affect the mood of consumers;
• sanctions against Russia, business interruptions and restrictions, and the 

volatility of financial markets, which will have major financial consequences 
(some of which will be delayed);

• additional security challenges (in addition to the impact on cyber security that 
has already been felt) that could arise in the event of an escalation or spread of 
military conflict.

 For now, the production process within the HSE Group runs smoothly and is 
unhindered. Raw materials required for electricity production and on which 
the production at TEŠ is dependent upon, have until recently been supplied in 
the required amounts. However, in March there was already some strain on 
the quantities of supplies and prices of energy-generating products (super light 
fuel oil, diesel fuel (D2)) required for the production in gas-fired units at TEŠ. The 
supply of the aforementioned energy-generating products was interrupted in 
March 2022. This, however, had no major impact on the operations of TEŠ as the 
production in gas-fired units is minimal. So far, the Ukraine/Russian conflict has 
not affected other supplies. However, the fact is that other raw materials have seen 
a sharp increase in prices, mainly as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic. We are 
facing difficulties especially in supplying the materials (iron) for the maintenance 
of mills at TEŠ. Current supplies of the aforementioned materials suffice for an 
unhindered production at TEŠ until September 2022. Consequently, we have 
already changed the dynamics of supply. Materials which were usually supplied 
every six months are now being supplied every 2-3 weeks with prices being 
determined on a rolling basis to reflect the growth trends (since January the prices 
went up by 70% on average). Apart from the changed dynamics of supply to 
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ensure sufficient quantities of required materials and better price acceptability, we 
are also on the look for new suppliers in the region which will enable us to provide 
sufficient quantities at acceptable prices. For the time being, a significant change in 
the prices of input raw materials and other materials required for the production 
processes constitute the major risk in terms of production. So far, we have not 
noticed for the Ukraine/Russia conflict to have any impact on maintenance services 
at TEŠ. However, should the aforementioned conflict continue, we estimate it will 
soon be reflected in the prices of maintenance services.  
In the long run, the measures aimed at promoting RES, diversification of gas 
supply routes, and accelerated production of biomethane and hydrogen are 
envisaged.

4. On 13 January 2022, the Government of the Republic of Slovenia adopted a 
National strategy on coal phase-out and the restructuring of coal regions in 
line with just transition principles. The adoption of the strategy and the soonest 
possible implementation thereof are crucial for energy transformation of Slovenia, 
both coal regions, and everyone connected with the coal industry, in order to 
provide a just transition for the affected employees and their families in a swift and 
comprehensive manner. According to the strategy, Slovenia will stop generating 
electricity from coal no later than by 2033.  
Consequently, the adoption of the strategy impacts the operations and 
restructuring of TEŠ as well as a reliable power supply of Slovenia.

2.2.7 Significant accounting policies
Company's financial statements are prepared on the basis of accounting policies that 
are defined in the Company’s internal act and have been applied for both presented 
years.
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2.2.7.1 Foreign currency translation
 
Transactions expressed in foreign currencies are translated into the relevant 
functional currency at the exchange rate applicable on the date of transaction. 
Cash and liabilities expressed in a foreign currency at the end of the reporting period 
are converted into functional currency at then applicable exchange rate. 
Positive or negative foreign exchange differences are the differences between 
amortised cost in the functional currency at the beginning of the period, which is 
adjusted for the amount of effective interest and payments during the period, as well 
as amortised cost in foreign currency converted at the exchange rate at the end of 
the period. Foreign exchange differences are recognised in the income statement, 
namely in net amounts.

2.2.7.2 Intangible assets
Intangible assets are long-term assets enabling performance of the Company’s 
registered activity, whereas physically they do not exist. The Company's intangible 
assets comprise licences, computer software and emission allowances.

Upon initial recognition, an intangible asset is measured at cost. The cost also 
includes import and non-refundable purchase taxes after the commercial and other 
discounts have been deducted, and all costs directly attributable to the preparation 
of an asset for the intended use. Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the 
acquisition of a qualifying asset, i.e., until the capitalisation of an asset, are recognised 
as part of the cost of such an asset.

Intangible assets are subsequently measured using the cost model. 

Emission allowances are long-term property rights with an indefinite useful life and 
are measured in accordance with the interpretations of the Slovenian Institute of 
Auditors.

Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line amortisation method, taking 
into account the useful life of an individual (integral) part of an intangible asset. 
Amortisation begins to be calculated from the cost when an asset is available for use.

The residual value of an intangible asset is an estimated amount which the Company 
would receive upon the disposal of such an asset after it is reduced by the estimated 
costs of disposal, if such asset were old enough and if its state reflected the end of 
its useful life. The Company has no intangible assets for which it would record the 
residual value upon their purchase.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortised, but impaired.

Amortisation methods, useful lives and other values of groups of intangible assets 
are examined at the end of each financial year and adjusted, if needed.

If the useful life of an asset is extended, the cost of amortisation for the financial 
year decreases. If, on the other hand, the useful life of an asset is shortened, the 
amortisation cost increases. The adjustment of useful life has to be calculated in a 
manner that the intangible asset will be amortised in the new, predicted useful life. 
The change in useful life is considered as a change in the accounting estimate, and 
it affects only the period in which the accounting estimate was changed, and every 
following period of the remaining useful life. 

Foreign exchange differences 
are recognised in the income 
statement, namely in net 
amounts.
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Estimated useful life – intangible assets

In years from - to

Software 2-10 years

Licences 2-10 years

Subsequent costs in relation to intangible assets are capitalised only in cases when 
they increase future economic benefits arising from an asset to which the costs 
refer. All other costs are recognised in profit or loss as expenses as soon as they are 
incurred.

2.2.7.3 Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are long-term assets owned by the Company and 
used for the performance of its registered activities. Property, plant and equipment 
comprise land, buildings, production equipment, other equipment and assets in the 
course of construction.

Property, plant and equipment are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation 
and accumulated losses from impairments, except land and other assets that are not 
amortised and are presented at cost, less all impairments. The cost includes costs 
that can be directly attributed to the acquisition of an individual items of assets. 
The parts of items of plant and equipment with different useful lives are accounted 
for as individual assets. 
The anticipated costs of major regular inspections and repairs (overhauls) of plant 
and equipment are considered as parts. These include repairs that are usually carried 
out every few years (periodically) and require substantial resources.

The Company has no items of property, plant and equipment acquired free of 
charge.

Borrowing costs that are directly allocated to the purchase, construction or 
production of a qualifying asset, i.e., until capitalisation of the asset, are recognised 
as part of the cost of such an asset. 
For subsequent measurement of property, plant and equipment, the cost model is 
used. 

Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method of amortisation, taking into 
account the useful life of each individual (integral) part of an asset and the residual 
value. Amortisation begins to be calculated from the cost when an asset is available 
for use. Assets that are in the process of production or construction are not subject 
to amortisation.

The amortisation rates of property, plant and equipment are defined on the basis of 
the management’s assessment with regard to the estimated useful lives of individual 
production units.
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Estimated useful live – property plant and equipment, production equipment and 
parts thereof.
 

In years from - to

Buildings 12-40 years

Parts of buildings 12-40 years

Production equipment

     Unit 5 (major maintenance and other) 4-12 years

     Unit 5 revitalisation 12 years

     Unit 6 5-40 years

Parts of production equipment

     Major maintenance of Unit 5 4 years

     Major maintenance of Unit 6 2-3 years

Computer equipment 2-5 years

Furniture 3-10 years

Small tools 5 years

Personal vehicles 5-8 years

Other vehicles 5-20 years

Other plant and equipment 3-50 years

Amortisation methods, useful lives and other values of groups of assets are 
examined at the end of each financial year and adjusted, if needed. 

In the event their useful life is extended, the cost of amortisation in the current year 
is decreased. If useful life is shortened, amortisation costs increase. The adjustment 
of useful life has to be calculated in a manner that the asset will be depreciated in 
the new predicted useful life. The change in useful life is considered as a change in 
accounting estimate and only affects the period in which the accounting estimate 
was changed, and every subsequent period of the remaining useful life. 

The costs of replacing a part of fixed asset are attributed to the carrying amount of 
this asset in case it is possible that future economic benefits related to a part of this 
asset will flow to the company and if costs can be reliably measured. All other costs 
(e.g. regular maintenance) are recognised in profit or loss as expenses as soon as they 
are incurred.

The residual value of an asset is the estimated amount the Company would receive 
upon disposal of such asset after its reduction by the estimated costs of disposal, if 
such asset were old enough and if its state reflected the end of its useful life.
Gains and losses that occur upon disposal of property, plant and equipment are 
recognised as a difference between the net sales value and carrying amount of a 
disposed asset and are recognised among other operating income or write-offs in 
value.

2.2.7.4 Right to use leased assets 
On the basis of lease agreements, the lessees shall, in their statement of financial 
position, disclose the leased funds among fixed assets as right-of-use assets, in 
connection with the lease liabilities. The value of the leased assets is transferred to 
costs through amortisation, and the cost of financing is charged against financial 
expenses. The standard provides lessees with two exceptions to recognition, namely 
in the case of leases of low-value assets and short-term leases. 
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The Company reviewed and analysed lease agreements concluded with a duration 
of more than one year. Based on the costs of leases and the duration of the lease 
agreements, the Company assessed the value of the right to use the leased assets 
and lease liabilities and recognised them on 1 January 2019 in its statement of 
financial position for a period of five years. In the case of agreements with indefinite 
duration with the right to terminate the agreement, the management, in accordance 
with section 18 of IFRS 16, estimates it is quite certain that the lease will not be 
terminated for at least another five years, while the estimate of a longer lease 
agreement cannot be given with considerable certainty. Therefore, in the case of 
agreements with indefinite duration, the lease period is set at five years.

The values of the right to use the leased assets and the lease liabilities are estimated 
on the basis of discounting future cash flows for the duration of the lease. As regards 
leases, the Company used an interest rate calculated as the average of interest 
rates for 2018, published in the Bulletin of Banka Slovenije, for maturity over 1 to 5 
years separately for amounts up to 1 million and for amounts above 1 million. The 
average interest rate thus calculated for amounts up to 1 million is 2.69% and 1.96% for 
amounts above 1 million.

In line with Section 5 of IFRS 16, TEŠ applied an exemption regarding the recognition 
of the right-to-use-assets, namely for vehicles leased up to a year. 

2.2.7.5 Financial assets
Financial assets include cash and cash equivalents, receivables and loans, as well 
as financial investments. Among financial investments, the Company includes 
investments in jointly-controlled companies, investments in associates and 
investments in financial instruments.
 
The Company initially recognises loans and receivables as well as deposits on the 
date of their formation. Other financial assets are initially recognised at the exchange 
date or when the Company becomes a party to the instrument's contractual terms.

A financial asset is derecognised when contractual rights to cash flows from this asset 
are discontinued or when the rights to contractual cash flows from the financial asset 
are transferred on the basis of a transaction in which all risks and benefits from the 
ownership of financial asset are transferred.

Upon initial recognition, the Company's financial instruments are classified as follows: 
• financial assets measured at amortised cost 
• financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income, and 
• financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss.

The classification depends on the business model selected for asset management 
and on whether the Company acquires contractual cash flows from financial 
instruments exclusively from the payment of principal amounts and interest on 
the outstanding principal amount. Apart from operating receivables that do not 
contain significant components of financing, the Company measures the financial 
asset during its initial recognition at fair value, which is increased by the transaction 
costs. Operating receivables that do not contain significant components of financing 
are measured at the transaction price which is determined in accordance with the 
provisions of IFRS 15 standard.

Cash and cash equivalents

DCash and cash equivalents comprise cash in the cash register, bank deposits 
of up to three months and other short-term quickly realisable investments with 
original maturity of three months or less.
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For the conversion of cash from foreign currency, the Company uses the reference 
rate of the European Central Bank (ECB) published by the Banka Slovenije, 
summarised by the exchange rate of the ECB, except for those currencies for which 
the ECB does not publish reference rates on a daily basis and are subject to a 
monthly exchange rate.

Financial assets measured at amortised cost

Financial assets at amortized cost include financial assets held by the company within 
the business model for obtaining contractual cash flows, provided cash flows constitute 
exclusively payments of principal amounts and interest on outstanding principal 
amounts. Financial assets at amortized cost also include loans and receivables. Given 
their maturity, they are classified as short-term financial assets (maturity of up to 12 
months after the date of the statement of financial position) or long-term financial assets 
(maturity over 12 months after the date of the statement of financial position).

Financial assets at amortized cost are initially recognized at fair value increased by direct 
transaction costs. Upon initial recognition, they are measured at amortized cost using the 
effective interest rate method less any losses arising from impairment. Gains and losses 
are recognized in profit or loss upon reversal, changes or impairments.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include:
• financial assets held for trading, 
• financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, and 
• financial assets that must be measured at fair value.

Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for selling or 
repurchasing in the near future. Derivatives are classified as financial assets held for 
trading, except in the case of effective hedging instruments.
 
Financial assets that generate cash flows and are not solely principal and interest 
payments, are classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss regardless of 
the selected business model.
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are disclosed at their fair value in the 
statement of financial position, including the net change in the fair value recognized in the 
income statement.

2.2.7.6 Assets held for sale 
An asset or a group of assets held for sale are those assets for which it can be reasonably 
expected that their value will be settled through sales in the following 12 months, and not 
with continuing use. Assets meeting the conditions to be classified as held for sale are no 
longer amortised and are measured at the lower of the carrying amount and fair value 
less costs to sell.
 
The following conditions must be met for an asset to be classified as held for sale:
• the asset is available for immediate sale:
• the sale is highly probable;
• the asset is being actively marketed for sale at a sales price reasonable in relation to its 

fair value; the probability of the plan (to sell the asset) being significantly changed or 
withdrawn shall be minimal:

• the sale is expected to take place within a year.

Assets no longer meeting the conditions shall be classified back among the fixed assets 
or a different category of assets. In this case the asset is measured at the lower of the 
values:
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• its carrying amount before being classified as held for sale less any amortisation 
expense that would have been recognised if it had not been classified as held for 
sale; any retrospectively calculated amortisation shall be charged against the profit 
or loss of the current financial year;

• recoverable amount applicable on the date on which the asset is reallocated from 
the assets held for sale back to the fixed assets.

2.2.7.7 Assets arising from contracts with buyers
Assets arising from contracts include the right to compensation in return for goods 
or services, which are transferred to the buyer. Unaccounted revenues are revenues 
that are taken into account in the profit or loss, although they have not been charged 
yet, and include the right to compensation in return for goods or services, which are 
transferred to the buyer.

2.2.7.8 Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of the cost or net marketable value. The cost 
includes the purchase price, import duties, and direct costs of purchase. The 
purchase price is reduced by discounts received. Direct costs of purchase are 
costs of transport services, costs of loading, cargo handling and unloading, costs 
of monitoring goods, and other costs that can be attributed to directly obtained 
merchandise and materials. Purchase price discounts comprise discounts indicated 
in the invoice as well as discounts that are received later and refer to an individual 
purchase. 

The company uses the moving average price method to evaluate the inventories, 
spare parts and small tools as well as to record costs and expenses.

The first-in, first out (FIFO) method is used only to evaluate the consumption of coal 
and gas, as coal and gas, which are purchased first, are also the first ones to be used 
up. End of year, the Company recorded a safety stock of coal in the amount of 1,722 
TJ.

Net realisable value is estimated on the basis of the selling price in the ordinary 
course of business less the estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs 
of sales. Write-offs of damaged, expired and useless inventories are regularly 
performed during the year per individual items. 

At least once a year, at the reporting date, the evidence on the impairment of 
inventories is assessed. The impairment of inventories is assessed for each 
individual type of inventory. Individual types of inventories are classified into groups 
of inventories with similar characteristics, on the basis of the time component of 
changes in inventories. In the assessment of impairment for an individual group, the 
criteria of professional assessment, further use, or sale are applied.
 

2.2.7.9 Impairment of assets

2.2.7.9.1 Financial assets

Pursuant to IFRS 9, the Company started to apply the expected loss model, 
according to which not only incurred losses are recognised but also losses that are 
expected to occur in the future.

A financial asset is considered impaired if there is objective evidence from which it is 
evident that, due to one or more events, the expected future cash flows arising from 
such an asset, which can be reliably measured, have been decreased.
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Objective evidence on the impairment of financial assets can be: non-compliance 
or violation by the debtor, signs that the debtor will go bankrupt; restructuring the 
amount, owed to the company by others, and disappearance of active market for 
such instrument.

2.2.7.9.2 Impairment of receivables and loans granted

The Company shall assess the evidence of impairment either on an individual or 
collective basis. All significant receivables shall be measured on an individual basis 
for a potential impairment. If it is assessed that the carrying amount of receivable 
has exceeded its fair value (realisable value), the receivable is impaired. Receivables 
which are assumed not to be settled by the original date of payment or up to their full 
amount are deemed doubtful; however, if court proceedings have been initiated or if 
a decision on the initiation of a compulsory composition, liquidation or bankruptcy 
has been published, they are deemed disputable.

The Company considers a financial asset to be in default when contractual payments 
have been 180 days past due. In certain cases, the Company may also assess there 
is a higher credit risk if, based on the available information, it is likely they will not 
receive the unsettled contractual amounts in full. The Company recognizes a write-
off of an asset when it reasonably expects not to be able to recover the contractual 
cash flows.

The Company shall assess the evidence on the impairment of loans for each loan 
separately. 

The impairment assessment is based on the expected credit losses associated with 
the probability of defaults on loans and receivables in the next 12 months, unless 
the credit risk significantly increased since the initial recognition. In these cases, the 
impairment assessment is based on the probability of default over the entire duration 
of the financial asset (LECL). Expected credit losses represent the difference between 
contractual cash flows that are due under the contract and all cash flows which the 
company expects to receive. Expected cash flows will include the cash flows from 
the sale of security.

Impairments for expected credit losses are assessed in two stages. As for credit 
exposures where no significant increase in credit risk was established after initial 
recognition, impairments for expected credit losses are recognised for credit losses 
arising from defaults that are possible within the next 12 months. For those credit 
exposures for which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial 
recognition, the Company is required to recognise a loss allowance for credit losses 
expected over the remaining useful life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of 
the default.

2.2.7.9.3 Non-financial assets

At each reporting date, the Company reviews the carrying amounts of significant 
non-financial assets to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If 
any such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. 

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value 
in use and its fair value less costs to sell. In determining the asset’s value in use, the 
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax 
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money 
and the risks specific to the asset. For the purpose of impairment testing, assets that 
cannot be tested individually are grouped together into the smallest group of assets 
that generate cash flows from continuing use and are largely independent of the cash 
inflows of other assets or groups of assets (the cash-generating unit). 

The impairment of an asset or a cash generating unit is recognised if its carrying 

”
“

At each reporting date, 
the Company reviews 
the carrying amounts of 
significant non-financial 
assets to determine whether 
there is any indication of 
impairment. If any such 
indication exists, then the 
asset’s recoverable amount is 
estimated.
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amount exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment is recognised in profit or loss. 
Impairment losses recognised in prior periods are assessed by the Company at each 
reporting date for any indications that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. 
An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to 
determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent 
that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would 
have been determined, net of amortisation, if no impairment loss would have been 
recognised in previous years.

2.2.7.10 Equity
Total equity of the company represents its liability towards the owners which falls 
due if the company ceases to operate, with the amount of equity being adjusted 
with respect to the then attainable price of the company’s net assets. The equity is 
determined by both the amounts invested by owners and the amounts generated 
in the course of operation that belong to the owners. It is decreased by the loss 
incurred in the course of operations and increased by the profit in the given period. 

Share capital and capital surplus represent owner’s cash contributions and 
contributions in kind.

Capital surplus comprises the general equity revaluation adjustments. The amount 
may only be used for capital increase and covering of loss. 

Statutory and other reserves arising from profit are amounts that are intentionally 
retained from the previous years' profit. They are created on the basis of a decision 
adopted by a relevant management body and a supervisory body.
Fair value reserve constitute revaluation amounts for individual categories of assets. 
The fair value reserve includes actuary gains or losses relating to the provisions for 
post-employment and other long-term payables to employees (severance payments 
upon retirement). 

Retained earnings include unallocated profit for the current year as well as previous 
years.

2.2.7.11 Provisions for post-employment and other long-term 
employee benefits

Pursuant to the law, the collective agreement and the internal rules, the Company is 
obligated to pay its employees long-service awards and post-employment benefits 
on retirement, for which it has established long-term provisions. Other obligations 
related to employee post-employment benefits do not exist.
The provisions amount to estimated future payments for post-employment benefits 
on retirement and long-service awards discounted to the end of the reporting period. 
The calculation is made separately for each employee by taking into account the 
costs of post-employment benefits on retirement and the costs of all expected long-
service awards until retirement. The calculation is made by a certified actuary using 
the projected unit credit method. Post-employment benefits on retirement and long-
service awards are charged against the provisions created.

Labour costs and costs of interest are recognised in the statement of profit or 
loss, whereas the adjustment of post-employment benefits or unrealised actuarial 
gains or losses arising from post-employment benefits are recognised in other 
comprehensive income.

2.2.7.12 Employee benefits
Liabilities arising from the short-term employee benefits are measured on an 
undiscounted basis and are recognised among expenses when the work relating to 
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a certain short-term benefit is completed. Liabilities are recognised for the amount 
expected to be paid under short-term benefits if the company has a present legal or 
constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the 
employee, and the obligation can be estimated reliably.

2.2.7.13 Other provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Company has legal or constructive liabilities 
arising from a past event, which can be reliably assessed, and when it is likely that 
that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle 
the liability. 
The amount of the provision shall match the present value of expenses expected 
to be required to settle the liability. Since provisions are intended to cover probable 
and not certain liabilities, the amount recognised as a provision is merely the best 
estimate of the expenses needed for the settlement of liabilities existing on the date 
of the statement of financial position. In achieving the best estimate of a provision, 
the risks and uncertainties that inevitably surround the events and circumstances are 
taken into account.
Provisions are reduced directly for costs and expenses for which they were created. 
This means that in the financial year such costs or expenses no longer appear in the 
income statement. 

If the expected liabilities do not occur, the reversal of created provisions is carried 
out and disclosed under other operating revenue.

2.2.7.14 Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are, upon initial recognition, classified as financial liabilities at fair 
value through profit or loss, loans received or operating liabilities. Initially, a financial 
liability recognizes issued debt securities as at the date on which they are created. 
All other financial liabilities are initially recognized as at the date of trading or when 
the Company becomes a contracting party in connection with the instrument. Apart 
from the loans received, all financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. 
Loans received are measured at amortized cost using the applicable interest rate. 
Given their maturity, loans and leases are classified as short-term financial liabilities 
(maturity of up to 12 months after the date of statement of financial position) or long-
term financial liabilities (maturity over 12 months after the date of the statement of 
financial position). Profits and losses are recognised in the income statement upon 
derecognising the financial liability within the amortisation of the applicable interest 
rate.
The Company derecognises a financial liability when the obligations defined in the 
relevant contract are met, cancelled or expired.

2.2.7.15 Other assets and liabilities
Other assets include advances given, receivables due from state and other 
institutions, and short-term deferred costs and accrued income, constituting 
deferred costs and unaccounted revenues not related to sales contracts. Deferred 
costs constitute the amounts incurred but not yet charged against the Company’s 
profit or loss. 

Other liabilities include advances received, liabilities to employees and governmental 
and other institutions, long-term and short-term accrued costs and deferred income 
consisting of accrued costs and deferred revenues not related to liabilities arising 
from sales contracts.
Accrued costs are amounts that have not occurred yet but will and have already had 
an impact on the Company’s profit or loss. 
With the introduction of IFRS 15, deferred income from sales contracts with buyers 
is no longer part of other liabilities but is recognised under contract liabilities. 
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2.2.7.16 Liabilities arising from contracts with buyers
A liability arising from a contract includes a liability to transfer goods or services to 
the buyer in return for compensation which the Company received from the buyer.  
Deferred revenues are recognized as revenues when the Company fulfils their 
obligation under the contract. 

2.2.7.17 Contingent liabilities and contingent assets
Contingent liability is:
•  a potential liability which arises from past events and whose existence is confirmed 

solely by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future 
events that the Company does not fully control; or

•  a present liability which arises from past events but is not recognised, because 
it is unlikely that the outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be 
required to settle the liability, or because the amount of liability cannot be reliably 
measured.

A potential asset is an asset which arises from past events and whose existence is 
confirmed solely by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain 
future events that the Company does not fully control.  
The Company has not yet recognised contingent liabilities and assets in its statement 
of financial position.

2.2.7.18 Revenues  
In line with IFRS 15, the Company applies a five-step model in recognising revenues. 
According to the model, an entity recognises revenue to depict the transfer 
of promised goods or services to the customer in an amount that reflects the 
consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods 
or services. Given the criteria met, the revenues are recognised:
• at a point in time; or
• over a period of time.

Revenues from contracts with customers are recognized when control over goods 
or services is transferred to the buyer in an amount that reflects the consideration, 
which the company believes to be entitled to receive in return for these goods or 
services. Each promised service or supply of goods is considered an independent 
performance obligation if it differs from all other promised services and supplies. 
This is the case, when the buyer benefits from the service or supply of goods 
provided. The performance obligation is a promise the buyer to provide them a 
service or goods.

Revenues are recognised the very moment when the Company carried out the 
performance obligation i.e., when the control over the service or goods is transferred 
to the buyer. The control means that the buyer can direct the use of the asset and 
receive all essential benefits arising therefrom, while at the same time they are able to 
prevent others to use and receive the benefits arising from the asset.

Discounts granted at the time of signing the agreement are allocated to all 
performance obligations for the term of the contract. All subsequently granted 
discounts are recognised in the period for which they have been granted and in 
which they are charged against the revenues.

Sale of products and goods – the performance obligation occurs upon the supply. 
Goods are invoiced on a monthly basis.  
Sales of electricity account for the largest share within the sales of goods, which is 
followed by the sales of thermal energy and other waste material.
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Sale of services – the performance obligation arises when rendering the services, 
while invoicing is performed on a monthly basis. 
The largest share within the sales of services relates to services provided in 
connection with allowances for using entry capacities, rentals and other.

2.2.7.19 Other operating and financial revenues
Other operating revenues relating to products and services include revenues from 
reversal of provisions, revenues from using deferred revenues, gains arising from 
sales of fixed assets, reversal of impairment of receivables, received compensations 
and contractual penalties and similar revenues (e.g. state benefits). 
A state benefit is treated as deferred (and accrued) revenue which is recognised by 
the Company on a strictly consistent and prudential basis as other operating revenue 
over the useful life of the relevant asset (on the other hand, the Company discloses 
the amortisation costs of such an asset under operating expenses).

Financial revenues comprise revenues from shares in investments, interest income 
from loans granted and deposits, foreign exchange gains from financing, and profits 
of associates. 

2.2.7.20 Other operating and financial expenses
 
Expenses are recognised if a decrease in economic benefits in the accounting 
period gives rise to a decrease in assets or increase in debt, and this decrease can 
be reliably measured. Operating expenses are recognised once costs are no longer 
held in inventories of products and work in progress, or once merchandise has been 
sold. Costs that cannot be held in inventories of products and work in progress are 
recognised as operating expenses when incurred. 

Costs of materials are historical costs of materials purchased that are directly 
used for creating products and services (direct costs of materials), as well as costs 
of materials that do not have such nature and are included in relevant purpose 
(functional) groups of indirect operating costs. The first subgroup includes costs 
of raw materials, other materials and purchased parts and semi-finished products 
whose consumption can be related to creating products and services. The second 
subgroup includes costs of auxiliary materials for maintenance of property, plant 
and equipment, low-value assets whose useful life does not exceed one year, office 
supplies, specialised literature, and other items. Costs of materials also cover the 
accrued costs of shrinkage, spill, failure and breakage. If the Company has more 
negative than positive exchange differences from operations, these are disclosed 
under costs of materials.

Costs of services are historical costs of purchased services that are directly used for 
creating products and services (costs of direct services), as well as costs of services 
that do not have such nature and are included in adequate dedicated (functional) 
groups of indirect operating costs. The first group mainly includes the costs of 
services for production of goods, while the second group mainly includes the costs 

The largest share within the 
sales of services relates 
to services provided in 
connection with allowances 
for using entry capacities, 
rentals and other.
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of transport services, maintenance services, services of fairs, advertising services, 
entertainment, insurance premiums, payment transactions and other banking 
services (except interest), rents, advisory services, business trips, and similar services.

Write-offs include amortisation costs related to consistently transferring the value 
of amortisable property, plant and equipment and amortisable intangible assets to 
profit or loss. They also comprise impairments, write-offs and losses from the sale 
of intangible assets and property, plant and equipment, as well as impairments or 
write-offs of receivables and inventories.

Labour costs are historical costs that refer to salaries and other payments to 
employees in gross amounts, as well as duties that are calculated from this basis 
and are not an integral part of gross amounts. These costs can be directly charged 
against the creation of products and services (costs of direct work), or they have the 
nature of indirect costs and are included in relevant dedicated (functional) groups of 
indirect costs.

Other operating expenses occur in relation to the creation of provisions, 
environmental taxes, donations, and other duties.

Financial expenses comprise borrowing costs (if these are not capitalised), negative 
exchange differences, changes in fair value of financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss, and losses due to impairment of value of financial assets recognised 
in the income statement. Borrowing costs are recognised in the income statement 
using the effective interest method. 

2.2.7.21 Taxation
Taxes include current and deferred tax liabilities. Current tax is disclosed in the 
income statement. The deferred tax is disclosed in the income statement and the 
statement of financial position.

Current tax liabilities are based on the basis for assessment for the period. The basis 
for assessment differs from the result reported in the income statement, since it 
excludes items of income or expenses that are taxable or deductible in other years, 
as well as items that are never taxable or deductible. The company’s current tax 
liabilities are calculated using the tax rate that is applicable on the reporting date. 
Current tax liabilities are reduced in the event of advance payments of corporate 
income tax during the year.

Deferred tax is disclosed in full by applying the liabilities method to temporary 
differences at the balance sheet date between the recognised carrying amount of 
an asset or liability in the balance sheet and its tax base. Deferred tax is determined 
using tax rates (and laws) that were applicable at the balance sheet date and are 
expected to be applied when the related deferred tax asset is realised or the deferred 
tax liability is settled.  
A deferred tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable 
profits will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised. 
It represents the amount of the calculated corporate income tax on deductible 
temporary differences. 

2.2.8 Statement of other comprehensive income  
The statement of other comprehensive income comprises revenues and expenses 
that are not recognised in the income statement but have an impact on the amount 
of Company's equity in the accounting period. It comprises all changes in equity in 
the current period resulting from transactions and events, other than those resulting 
from transactions with the owner.
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2.2.9 Statement of cashflows
The cash flows statement comprises changes in the balance of cash and cash 
equivalents for the period for which it was compiled. It is prepared by using the 
indirect method on the basis of data from the statement of financial position and 
the income statement, in accordance with the International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS). 

2.2.10  Determining fair value
As regards the disclosing of fair values of non-financial and financial assets and 
liabilities, the determination of fair value is required either for measuring individual 
assets or due to additional fair value disclosures.

Fair value is the amount by which an asset and a liability can be sold or settled, 
respectively, between knowledgeable and willing parties in an arm's length 
transaction.  
When determining fair value of financial instruments, the following hierarchy of fair 
value defining levels is considered: 
• the first level zcomprises quoted prices in active markets for equal assets or 

liabilities,
• the second level comprises values that are not equal to the quoted prices in the 

sense of the first level but which can nevertheless be obtained either directly or 
indirectly on the basis of comparable market data,

• the third level comprises input data for an asset or liability that are not based on 
discernible market data.

Quoted prices are used as a basis for determining the fair value of financial 
instruments. In case a financial instrument is not quoted on the regulated market or 
the market is assessed as inactive, the second and third level input data is used to 
assess the fair value of the financial instrument.

2.2.11 Financial risk management
The Company is exposed to the following types of financial risks: credit risk, liquidity 
risk and interest rate risk. These are described more in detail in section 1.16 in the 
business report of this document. In terms of value, financial risks are disclosed in 
the notes under section 2.9. 

94  /  ACCOUNTING REPORT ACCOUNTING REPORT  /  95



96  /  ACCOUNTING REPORT



in EUR

Note 31.12.2021 31. 12. 2020

ASSETS 757,931,934 787,421,645

A. LONG-TERM ASSETS 586,692,843 659,036,807

I. Intangible assets 1 265,601 166,151

II. Property, plant and equipment 2 497,633,679 656,266,615

III. Right to use leased assets 3 2,016,756 2,007,244

VI. Other long-term investments and loans 4 112,860 107,860

VII. Long-term oprating recevables 5 86,027,439 36,586

VIII. Other-long term assets 6 636,508 452,351

B. SHORT-TERM ASSETS 171,239,091 128,384,838

II. Inventories 7 21,749,327 23,970,035

III. Short-term investments and loans 8 25,896,932 12,185,863

IV. Short-term trade receivables 9 26,943,219 18,358,012

V. Contract assets 10 85,430,352 65,944,803

VII. Other short-term assets 11 3,296,026 2,627,923

VIII. Cash and cash equivalents 12 7,923,235 5,298,202

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 757,931,934 787,421,645

A. EQUITY 13 241,010,274 233,642,841

I. Called-up capital 578,579,850 578,579,850

II. Capital surplus 228,905,969 228,905,969

V. Fair value reserve (759,977) (952,743)

VI. Retained earnings or losses (565,715,568) (572,890,235)

B. LONG-TERM LIABILITIES 361,201,911 417,062,996

I. Provisions for termination benefits and  
jubilee premiums

14 3,536,112 3,727,030

II. Other provisions 15 16,139,189 15,387,126

III. Other-long term liabilities 16 86,741 35,500

IV. Long-term financial liabilities 17 339,870,017 396,531,562

V. Long-term financial liabilities from leases 18 1,569,852 1,381,778

C. SHORT-TERM LIABILITIES 155,719,749 136,715,808

II. Short-term financial liabilities 19 32,386,917 42,181,729

III. Short-term financial liabilities from leases 20 503,120 670,856

IV. Short-term operating liabilities 21 24,557,950 17,918,899

V. Contract liabilities 22 87,389,177 63,432,409

VI. Tax liabilities 604,045 0

VII. Other short-term liabilities 23 10,278,540 12,511,915

* The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of the financial statements and should be read in conjunction with them.

2.3 Statement of financial position
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in EUR

Note 2021 2020

OPERATING REVENUE 454,827,552 239,223,372

1. Net sales revenue 1 223,262,186 238,025,039

2. Other operating income 2 231,565,366 1,198,333

OPERATING EXPENSES 427,504,164 496,463,261

3. Costs of goods, materials and services 3 123,553,978 126,564,128

4. Labour costs 4 13,864,727 13,750,114

5. Value write-offs 5 191,702,731 279,553,900

a) depreciation 29,973,832 35,512,772

b) impairments/write-offs/disposal of intangible 
assets and investments, property, and equipment

161,604,607 243,575,493

d) Inventories impairments/write-offs 124,292 465,635

7. Capitalised own products and services 6 (2,399,825) (627,100)

8. Other operating expenses 7 100,782,553 77,222,219

OPERATING PROFIT/LOSS 27,323,388 (257,239,889)

9. Financial revenue 8 154,823 147

10. Financial expenses 9 19,743,648 23,188,401

FINANCIAL OUTCOME (19,588,825) (23,188,254)

PROFIT (LOSS) BEFORE TAX 7,734,563 (280,428,143)

TAX 10 604,045 0

PROFIT (LOSS) BEFORE TAX 11 7,130,518 (280,428,143)

* The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of the financial statements and should be read in 
conjunction with them.

in EUR

Note 2021 2020

Net profit/loss for the year 11 7,130,518 (280,428,143)

Actuarial profits and losses of programmes  
with certain income of employees

236,915 (115,840)

Items that will subsequently not be  
included in the income statement

236,915 (115,840)

Total comprehensive income for  
the reporting period

7,367,433 (280,543,983)

* The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of the financial statements and should be read in 
conjunction with them.

2.4

2.5

Income statement

Statement of other  
comprehensive income
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in EUR

CALLED-UP CAPITAL RETAINED EARNINGS OR 
LOSSES

Share capital
Capital 
surplus

Revaluation 
surplus

Retained 
earnings or 

losses

Net profit or 
loss for the 

period Total

Balance as at 1/1/2020 578,579,850 79,256,172 (830,117) (272,886,554) (19,582,324) 364,537,027

B.1. Transactions with owners 0 149,649,797 0 0 0 149,649,797

Additional paid - in capital 0 149,649,797 0 0 0 149,649,797

B.2. Changes in total comprehensive income 0 0 (122,626) 6,786 (280,428,143) (280,543,983)

Profit or loss for the period 0 0 0 0 (280,428,143) (280,428,143)

Items that will not be transferred to profit or loss 0 0 (122,626) 6,786 0 (115,840)

Actuarial gains and losses of employee defined 
benefit plans

0 0 (122,626) 6,786 0 (115,840)

B.3. Changes within equity 0 0 0 (19,582,324) 19,582,324 0

Allocation of the remaining portion of net 
profit of the comparable period to other equity 

components

0 0 0 (19,582,324) 19,582,324 0

Balance as at 31/12/2020 578,579,850 228,905,969 (952,743) (292,462,092) (280,428,143) 233,642,841

Balance as at 1/1/2021 578,579,850 228,905,969 (952,743) (292,462,092) (280,428,143) 233,642,841

B.2. Changes in total comprehensive income 0 0 192,766 44,149 7,130,518 7,367,433

Profit or loss for the period 0 0 0 0 7,130,518 7,130,518

Items that will not be transferred to profit or loss 0 0 192,766 44,149 0 236,915

Actuarial gains and losses of employee  
defined benefit plans

0 0 192,766 44,149 0 236,915

B.3. Changes within equity 0 0 0 (280,428,143) 280,428,143 0

Allocation of the remaining portion of net 
profit of the comparable period to other equity 

components

0 0 0 (280,428,143) 280,428,143 0

Balance as at 31/12/2021 578,579,850 228,905,969 (759,977) (572,846,086) 7,130,518 241,010,274

2.6 Statement of  
changes in equity
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in EUR

2021 2020 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Net profit/loss for the period 7,130,518 (280,428,143)

Adjustments for:

Amortisation of intangible assets 14,271 23,988

Amortisation of property, plant and equipment 29,455,372 34,811,164

Amortisation of right to use assets 504,189 677,620

Write-offs of intangible assets, property,  
plant and equipment 

161,087,000 243,494,000

Impairment of property, plant and equipment 517,607 81,493

Inventories write-offs 124,292 465,635

Elimination of write-offs of operating receivables (7,473) (63,781)

Financial revenue (154,823) (147)

Financial expenses 19,743,647 23,188,402

Profit from sale of real property, plant and equipment (5,291) (52,875)

Taxes 604,045 0

Operating profit before changes in net  
current assets and taxes

219,013,354 22,197,356

Changes in net current assets and provisions

Change in:

  Inventories 2,096,416 (2,116,052)

Trade receivables and other assets (114,906,394) (36,026,395)

Operating liabilities to suppliers and other liabilities 28,415,584 32,634,552

Provisions 45,996 208,752

Profit tax paid 0 0

Cash from operations 134,664,956 16,898,213

2.7 Statement of cash flows 
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in EUR

2021 2020 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Interests received and proceeds from other financing 56,950 147

Income from sale of real property, plant and equipment 6,637 52,875

Income from sale of intangible assets 32,042 85,423

Income from sale of other short-term investments 12,185,863 12,508,250

Expenses for purchase of real property, plant and equipment (32,238,774) (5,879,695)

Expenses for purchase of intangible assets (99,221) (13,630)

Expenses for leases (513,701) (42,684)

Costs for increasing other short-term investments (25,896,932) (12,185,863)

Costs for increasing other long-term investments (5,000) 0

Cash from investment (46,472,136) (5,475,177)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Income from long-term loans 0 1,378,059

Income from short-term loans 5,000,000 60,000,000

Income from other long-term financial liabilities 533,044 32,326

Expenses of interest for loan and costs for  
other financial liabilities

(19,130,152) (20,701,655)

Expenses of long-term loans (66,457,974) (42,179,402)

Expenses of short-term loans (5,000,000) (5,000,000)

Expenses of right to use assets (512,706) (647,486)

Cash from financing (85,567,788) (7,118,158)

INITIAL BALANCE OF CASH AND  
CASH EQUIVALENTS

5,298,202 993,324

Profit or loss for the period 2,625,033 4,304,878

CLOSING BALANCE OF CASH AND  
CASH EQUIVALENTS

7,923,235 5,298,202
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Intangible assets EUR 265,601
   in EUR

31.12.2021 31.12.2020

Emission coupons 147,715 133,215

Other long-term property rights 51,120 32,935

Intangible assets being acquired 66,766 0

Total 265,601 166,151

Movement of intangible assets in EUR

Emission coupons
Other long-term 
property rights

Intangible assets 
being acquired Total

Purchase cost as at 1/1/2021 133,216 1,839,640 0 1,972,856

Acquisitions 67,646,665 0 99,222 67,745,887

Disposals - write-offs, sales (67,632,166) 0 0 (67,732,166)

Transfer from investments 0 32,455 (32,455) 0

Purchase cost as at 31/12/2021 147,716 1,872,095 66,767 2,086,578

Written-off value as at 01/01/2021 0 1,806,705 0 1,806,705

Amortisation 0 14,271 0 14,271

Written-off value as at 31/12/2021 0 1,820,976 0 1,820,976

Book value as at 01/01/2021 133,216 32,935 0 166,151

Book value as at 31/12/2021 147,716 51,119 66,767 265,602

Emission coupons
Other long-term 
property rights

Intangible assets 
being acquired Total

Purchase cost as at 1/1/2020 206,100 1,838,549 0 2,044,649

Acquisitions 34,632,255 0 1,091 34,633,346

Disposals - write-offs, sales (34,705,139) 0 0 (34,705,139)

Transfer from investments 0 1,091 (1,091) 0

Purchase cost as at 31/12/2020 133,216 1,839,640 0 1,972,856

Written-off value as at 1/1/2021 0 1,782,717 0 0

Amortisation 0 23,988 0 23,988

Written-off value as at 31/12/2021 0 1,806,705 0 23,988

Book value as at 1/1/2021 206,100 55,832 0 261,932

Book value as at 31/12/2021 133,216 32,935 0 166,151

2.8 Notes to financial  
statements

2.8.1 Notes to the statement of financial position
NOTE 1 
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The movement of the Company's intangible assets mostly refers to the emission 
allowances. Pursuant to the Environmental Protection Act and the Ordinance on 
the list of operators of installations emitting greenhouse gases, the state granted the 
Company 69,590 free emission allowances for the period from 2021 to 2025 of which 
14,672 were granted for 2021. 

In March 2020, TEŠ purchased 3,745,347 emission allowances from HSE in order 
to fulfil its obligations arising from emissions generated in 2020. In April 2021, the 
number of allowances declined by 3,760,438 (Report on assessment of the Report 
on greenhouse gas emissions for 2020) allowances that were handed over for the 
emissions produced in 2020. As at 31 December 2021, the Company recorded 69,590 
free emission allowances among its intangible assets. 
Intangible assets include licences and software which amortise at rates from 9.09% to 
33.33%, depending on their useful life. 

The Company does not have any intangible assets under financial lease, nor does 
it have in its bookkeeping records any intangible assets given as a guarantee for 
liabilities related to contract commitments for the acquisition of intangible assets.

NOTE 2
Property, plant and equipment EUR 497,633,679

in EUR

31.12,2021 31.12,2020

Land 2,671,300 2,667,750

Buildings 38,313,323 45,852,127

Production equipment 441,079,279 601,217,071

Other equipment 3,405,752 3,229,809

Property plant and equipment being acquired 12,164,025 3,299,858

Total 497,633,679 656,266,615

In 2021, the Company verified the recoverable value of property, plant and 
equipment based on an appraisal. The appraisal was carried out by certified 
appraisers of the Slovenian Institute of Auditors. The appraisal report (final report of 
17 May 2022) showed that long-term assets shall be impaired in the amount of EUR 
161,087,000.

The table hereafter comprises the assumptions used in the implementation of 
impairment testing and results thereof. 
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Movement of property, plant and equipment in EUR

Land Buildings
Production 
equipment

Other 
equipment

Property, plant 
and equipment 
being aquired Total

Purchase cost as at 01/01/2021 4,068,782 283,831,900 2,343,344,730 15,739,814 3,299,858 2,650,285,084

Acquisition 0 0 0 0 32,238,774 32,238,774

Disposals (2,152) 0 0 (21,944) 0 (24,096)

Transfer from investments 4,896 64,425 22,001,635 786,807 (22,857,763) 0

Change in the discount on assets 
under construction

0 0 189,616 0 0 189,616

Write-offs 0 0 (72,574,382) (139,924) (516,844) (73,231,150)

Purchase cost as at 31/12/2021 4,071,526 283,896,325 2,292,961,599 16,364,753 12,164,025 2,609,458,228

Land Buildings
Production 
equipment

Other 
equipment

Property, plant 
and equipment 
being aquired Total

Written-off value as at 01/01/2021 1,401,032 237,979,773 1,742,127,659 12,510,005 0 1,994,018,469

Disposals (806) 0 0 (21,943) 0 (22,749)

Amortisation 0 1,490,109 27,355,163 610,100 0 29,455,372

Impairments 0 6,113,120 154,973,880 0 0 161,087,000

Write-offs 0 0 (72,574,382) (139,161) 0 (72,713,543)

Written-off value as at 31/12/2021 1,400,226 245,583,002 1,851,882,320 12,959,001 0 2,111,824,549

Book value as at 01/01/2021 2,667,750 45,852,127 601,217,071 3,229,809 3,299,858 656,266,615

Book value as at 31/12/2021 2,671,300 38,313,323 441,079,279 3,405,752 12,164,025 497,633,679

Land Buildings
Production 
equipment

Other 
equipment

Property, plant 
and equipment 
being aquired Total

Purchase cost as at 01/01/2020 4,068,782 283,442,885 2,336,967,835 14,720,094 2,809,189 2,642,008,785

Acquisition 0 0 0 0 5,879,694 5,879,694

Disposals 0 0 0 (27,780) 0 (27,780)

Transfer from investments 0 389,015 3,796,036 1,147,454 (5,332,505) 0

Change in discount on assets 
under construction

0 0 2,739,539 0 0 2,739,539

Write-offs 0 0 (158,680) (99,954) (56,520) (315,154)

Purchase cost as at 31/12/2020 4,068,782 283,831,900 2,343,344,730 15,739,814 3,299,858 2,650,285,084

Written-off value as at 
01/01/2020

1,401,032 227,580,792 1,474,938,802 12,054,120 0 1,715,974,746

Disposals 0 0 0 (27,780) 0 (27,780)

Amortisation 0 1,660,151 32,592,367 558,646 0 34,811,164

Impairments 0 8,738,830 234,755,170 0 0 243,494,000

Write-offs 0 0 (158,680) (74,981) 0 (233,661)

Written-off value as at 
31/12/2020

1,401,032 237,979,773 1,742,127,659 12,510,005 0 1,994,018,469

Book value as at 01/01/2020 2,667,750 55,862,093 862,029,033 2,665,974 2,809,189 926,034,039

Book value as at 31/12/2020 2,667,750 45,852,127 601,217,071 3,229,809 3,299,858 656,266,615
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ASSETS AT ŠOŠTANJ THERMAL POWER PLANT

2021 2020

Method used for the definition of the recoverable amount in the impairment testing

Value in use  
(present value of expected free cash flow)

Value in use  
(present value of expected free cash flow)

Date of performance of the impairment testing

31.12.2021 30.09.2020

Important assumptions used in the performance of the impairment testing

The company's operations until 2033. The thermal power plant 
operating life has been shortened due to the shortened operating 

life of the PV coal mine providing the thermal power plant with 
coal. At its session, held on 13 January 2022, the Government of 

the Republic of Slovenia adopted the National Coal Phase-Out and 
Coal Mining Region Restructuring in Compliance with Just Transi-
tion Principles Strategy. The Strategy lays down that Slovenia will 

discontinue generating electricity from coal no later than 2033. The 
adopted Strategy serves as the basis for adopting the Progressive 
Closure of PV Act which shall serve as the basis to obtain financial 

resources from the state to close the Velenje Coal Mine, rehabilitate 
the degraded areas and controlled progressive closure and financial-
ly sustainable operations of the Velenje Coal Mine. The Strategy lays 

down that the Progressive Closure of PV Act shall undergo public 
consultation within 6 months following the adoption of the Strategy. 

As at the reporting date, the Progressive Closure of PV Act is yet to 
be adopted.

The company's operations until 2054.

The discount rate at a nominal amount of 6.78% adjusted to the real 
level of 4.76%, which was taken into account throughout the period 

until 2033. 

The discount rate at a nominal amount of 7.02% adjusted to the real 
level of 5.02%, which was taken into account throughout the period 
until 2054. 

The forecast revenue is based on the so-called cost +5% method, 
namely: the sales price of electricity by TEŠ is calculated as the sum 
of the cost price of electricity by TEŠ less thermal energy generation 
costs and plus cost uplift. The 5 per cent uplift shall not be taken into 

account in CO2 emission allowance costs. 

Stock exchange prices for electricity forward contracts on HUPX for 
the period 2021 - 2023, with an initial price of 49.88 EUR/MWh and a 
price change over the period of 7.30%.

"The average procurement price of CO2 emission allowance futures 
(for yet-to-be-procured volumes, the exchange price of futures at 

the EEX exchange has been taken into account) for 2022 amounts to 
EUR 36.16/t, at the end of the forecast horizon (2033) EUR 75.12/t."

"Stock exchange prices for CO2 forward contracts on EEX for the 
period 2021 - 2023, with an initial price of 29.02 EUR/t and a price 
change over the period of 3.76%."

Non-current forecasts of trends in market prices for electricity 
(AFRY Management Consulting Austria GmbH) for the period 2024 
- 2028, with an initial price of 54.83 EUR/MWh and a price change 
over the period of 11.65% and a non-current forecast of valuation 
experts for the 2029-2054 period, whereby the initial price amounts 
to EUR 63.55/MWh and the price change during the same period to 
20.46%.

"Non-current forecasts of trends in market prices of CO2 emission 
coupons (AFRY Management Consulting Austria GmbH) for the peri-
od 2024 - 2028, with an initial price of 20.64 EUR/MWh and a price 
change over the period of 24.56%. As of 2029 the ratio between 
electricity and CO2 emission coupons prices remains at the 32-35% 
level."

"Average annual production of electricity from coal-fired power 
plants of 2.9 TWh over the period 2022 - 2033."

"Average annual production of electricity from coal-fired power 
plants of 3.9 TWh over the period 2021 - 2030, 2.8 TWh over the 
period 2031 - 2040 and 2.3 TWh over the period 2041 - 2054."

Value of other income (i.e. income on providing system services, 
thermal energy, income on sale of ash and gypsum) in the amount 

of EUR 11,411,000 in 2022 up to EUR 12,224,000 in 2033.

Value of other income (i.e. income on providing system services, 
thermal energy, income on sale of ash and gypsum) in the amount 
of EUR 11,295,000 in 2021 up to EUR 12,127,000 in 2054.

CAPEX over the projection period of EUR 146,857,000. CAPEX over the projection period of EUR 214,207,000.

Results of impairment testing carried out

The book value of assets before the impairment testing amounts to 
EUR 658,566,000.

"The book value of assets before the impairment testing amounts to 
EUR 900,916,000."

EUR 497,479,000 in recoverable amount of assets. EUR 657,422,000 in recoverable amount of assets.

Revaluation expenses due to impairment of EUR 161,087,000. Revaluation expenses due to impairment of EUR 243,494,000.
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Sensitivity analysis by categories

Non-current fixed assets "Recoverable valuein EUR"

Sensitivity (change) of recoverable value in EUR

Change in discount rate (WACC) in% points

0.5

At Šoštanj thermal power plant 497,479,000 14,686,000 (14,077,000)

 
Land EUR 2,671,300

Compared to the previous year, the value of the land increased owing to the 
purchase of the land in the amount of EUR 4,896 (investment in the revamp of the 
Topolšica pumping station) and decreased in the amount of EUR 1,346. Based on the 
above, the value of the land increased compared to the previous year and amounted 
to EUR 2,671,300 as at 31 December 2021.

Buildings EUR 38,313,323

Compared to the year before, the value of buildings decreased by accounted 
amortisation and the value of impairment in the amount of EUR 6,113,111. As regards 
the buildings, the following investments were initiated: repair and renewal of facade 
walls as well as renovation of roofs and drains in total amount of EUR 64,425.

Production plant, machinery and equipment EUR 444,485,031

Compared to the year before, the value of production plant, machinery and 
equipment decreased by the accounted amortisation and value of impairment, 
in the amount of EUR 154,73,889. The write-off of the production plant mainly 
refers to the write-off of technical equipment of Units 1–3 and the write-off of 
obsolete stock-keeping units (2018 overhaul). On the other hand, the write-offs of 
useless equipment mainly refer to the write-offs of obsolete and useless computer 
equipment, furniture and other equipment.

The value of production plants, machinery and other equipment increased 
primarily due to major maintenance and repair of Unit 6 - overhaul of unit 6 in the 
amount of EUR 15,728,951, investments made in order to secure the reliability of 
operation (EUR 6,630,077) and other investments, minor investments and business-
information system in total amount of EUR 688,351.

The increase in investments in Unit 6 also includes the effects of recalculated 
costs of decommissioning due to the change in the discount rate in the amount of 
EUR 189,616. On the basis of a technical detailed report and commitments under 
the Energy permit, the Company has assessed the costs of decommissioning 
in the amount of EUR 16,200,000. Provisions for the costs of decommissioning 
Unit 6, taking into account the discount rate of the 30-year German bond as at 31 
December 2021, amount to EUR 16,074,172.

In 2021, a review of useful life of major fixed assets was performed.  It was 
established that given the current expectations regarding their usefulness the 
estimates are correct, except for the assets which relate to the anticipated closure 
of TEŠ in 2033. This, however, was taken into account in the impairment testing of 
these assets.

The Company does not have any item of property, plant and equipment under 
mortgage or financial lease.
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Property, plant and equipment under acquisition EUR 12,164,025

In 2021, investments in a total amount of EUR 22,857,762 were made. A total amount 
of investments in assets that are under way amounts to EUR 12,164,026 and mainly 
refers to the works started in the framework of investments made to secure the 
reliability of operation (LTSA-OPM, LTSA-APM, LTSA-DCS, reconstruction and 
relocation of internal heating plant intended for heating the facilities at TEŠ from 
Unit 1 to Unit 6, renovation of industrial water distribution system - phase 4 with 
a renovation of Topolšica pumping station and Pusti Grad water reservoir, PT51 
generator and PT52 coolers and coal transport drives) and to works started in the 
framework of other investments (relocation of the material from Lake Šoštanj and 
reconstruction of the entire fence in the secured area of TEŠ).

Movement of investment in property, plant and equipment under 
construction

in EUR

Investments 
in production 

reliability
Investment 

documentation
Investments in 

Unit 5 and   Unit 6

Other  property, 
plant and 

equipment being 
acquired Total

Purchase cost as at 01/01/2021 1,382,445 144,407 172,804 1,600,202 3,299,858

Acquisition 15,653,711 100,015 15,618,974 1,055,690 32,428,390

Disposals 0 (63,070) 0 (453,774) (516,844)

Transfer from PPE under 
construction

(6,630,077) 0 (15,728,951) (688,351) (23,047,378)

Purchase cost as at 31/12/2021 10,406,080 181,352 62,827 1,513,767 12,164,026

Investments 
in production 

reliability
Investment 

documentation
Investments in 

Unit 5 and   Unit 6

Other  property, 
plant and 

equipment being 
acquired Total

Purchase cost as at 01/01/2020 1,954,576 95,780 0 758,833 2,809,189

Acquisition 4,109,308 114,887 172,804 1,482,696 5,879,695

Disposals 0 (56,520) 0 0 (56,520)

Transfer from PPE under 
construction

(4,681,439) (9,740) 0 (641,327) (5,332,506)

Purchase cost as at 31/12/2020 1,382,445 144,407 172,804 1,600,202 3,299,858

NOTE 3
Right to use leased assets  EUR 2,016,756

in EUR

31.12.2021 31.12.2020

Right to use leased assets 2,016,756 2,007,244

Total 2,016,756 2,007,244

Under the rights to use the leased assets the Company records the lease of land 
by the Municipality of Velenje. In 2021, a 5-year agreement for lease of land was 
concluded i.e., from 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2025. The Company leases land 
in the area where the coal, ash and desulphurisation by-products depot in Velenje is 
located.
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Movement of the right to use leased assets
in EUR

Land Total

Purchase cost as at 01/01/2021 3,345,409 3,345,409

Acquisition 2,520,945 2,520,945

Transfers and restatements (3,345,409) (3,345,409)

Purchase cost as at 31/12/2021 2,520,945 2,520,945

Written-off value as at 01/01/2021 1,338,165 1,338,165

Transfers and restatements (1,338,165) (1,338,165)

Amortisation 504,189 504,189

Written-off value as at 31/12/2021 504,189 504,189

Book value as at 01/01/2021 2,007,244 2,007,244

Book value as at 31/12/2021 2,016,756 2,016,756

Zemljišča Total

Purchase cost as at 01/01/2020 3,302,725 3,302,725

Acquisition 42,684 42,684

Purchase cost as at 31/12/2020 3,345,409 3,345,409

Written-off value as at 01/01/2020 660,545 660,545

Amortisation 677,620 677,620

Written-off value as at 31/12/2020 1,338,165 1,338,165

Book value as at 01/01/2020 2,642,180 2,642,180

Book value as at 31/12/2020 2,007,244 2,007,244

NOTE 4
Other long-term financial investments EUR 112,860

in EUR

31. 12. 2021 31. 12. 2020

Other long-term investments 112,860 107,860

Total 112,860 107,860

Other long-term investments in the amount of EUR 112,860 refer to the investments 
made in RGP d.o.o. and in HSE Invest d.o.o. The companies form part of the HSE 
Group. Therefore, they are measured at cost in individual statements.

 
Movement of other long-term financial investments 

in EUR

2021 2020

Balance as at 01/01/ 107,860 107,860

Acquisition 5,000

Balance as at 31/12/ 112,860 107,860

In 2021, the Company increased other long-term assets by the non-monetary 
contribution made in the company HSE Invest d.o.o. in the amount of EUR 5,000, 
which accounts for a 1.32% equity interest. The RGP has the status of a joint 
company, which means that the company member who submits transactions for 
direct execution must verify whether all terms and conditions as set forth in the 
Protocol for submitting transactions for direct execution to the joint venture RGP 
d.o.o. have been met. No indication of impairment was identified in relation to the 
disclosure of long-term investments as at 31 December 2021.
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Other shares in the amount of EUR 500 constitute investments in Center odličnosti 
nizkoogljične tehnologije (Centre of Excellence for Low-carbon Technologies). 

The Company has made investments in holiday facilities (Krvavec, Rab, Portorož) 
in the amount of EUR 154,133. These investments were impaired as at 31 December 
2010 in the total amount of invested funds due to formally unresolved ownership and 
management relations and unexpected future cash flows.

In 2021, a total financial investment of EUR 200,000 in Razvojni center energije 
(energy Development Centre) was written off. The investment was impaired in its 
entirety on 31 December 2014.

NOTE 5
Long-term operating receivables EUR 86,027,439

in EUR

31.12.2021 31.12.2020

Long term operating receivables 86,000,000 0

Long term advances 27,439 36,586

Total 86,027,439 36,586

The majority share of long-term operating receivables arises from the arbitration 
procedure which ended in 2021. Under long-term operating receivables is recorded 
a long-term advance payment in the amount of EUR 27,439 EUR secured with a 
registered title on land. 

NOTE 6
Other long-term assets EUR 636,508

in EUR

31.12.2021 31.12.2020

Reserve fund 4,518 3,209

Emission coupons 631,990 449,143

Total 636,508 452,352

Other long-term assets include payments made by the Company as the floor owner 
of apartments, which will be used to cover the future costs of maintenance under 
the Housing Act. At the end of year, the Company has 147,715 emission allowances in 
stock.

NOTE 7
Inventories EUR 21,749,327

in EUR

31.12.2021 31.12.2020

Material for maintenance works 2,867,745 2,715,864

Spare parts 14,358,704 15,216,979

Safety stock of coal 3,067,158 4,735,500

Other material 1,455,720 1,301,692

Total 21,749,327 23,970,035

Inventories are mostly comprised of inventories of spare parts, a safety stock 
of coal, and inventories of maintenance materials. Inventories of spare parts 
and maintenance materials are needed for immediate elimination of defects in 
production equipment and, consequently, reliable operation. 
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Inventories are not pledged as collateral for liabilities. 
 
The fair value of the spare parts inventories was determined based on an appraisal 
conducted by certified appraisers holding a licence of the Slovenian Institute of 
Auditors. According to the appraisal report the fair value of spare parts inventory 
amounts to EUR 14,358,704. The inventories of spare parts were thus impaired by 
EUR 124,292 because their carrying amount exceeded their net realisable value.

NOTE 8
Short-term investments and loans EUR 25,896,932 

in EUR

31.12.2021 31.12.2020

Short-term financial receivables and loans to group 
companies without interest

20,000,000 0

Short-term financial receivables and loans to group 
companies for interest

97,873 0

Short-term deposits to others 5,799,059 12,185,863

Total 25,896,932 12,185,863

A short-term purpose-specific call deposit that amounted to EUR 12,185,863 end of 
2020, was used to repay loan liabilities to EBRD in March 2021. The amount of the 
purpose-specific deposit decreased as a result of an early repayment of the fixed 
part of the loan raised with EBRD in June. End of 2021, a short-term purpose-specific 
deposit in the amount of EUR 5,799,059 was tied in the form of a provision for the 
repayment of loan liabilities to EBRD in March 2022 and is not to be used for balancing 
current liquidity.

The Company granted a short-term loan to PV in the amount of EUR 20,000,000 with 
a repayment deadline by the end of 2021 which was then extended by the end of 2022.

 
Movement of short-term investments and loans in EUR

2021 2020

Balance as at 01/01/ 12,185,863 12,508,250

Acquisition 25,896,932 12,185,863

Repayment (12,185,863) (12,508,250)

Balance as at 31/12/ 25,896,932 12,185,863

NOTE 9
Short term trade receivables  EUR 26,943,219

in EUR

31.12.2021 31.12.2020

Short-term operating receivables due  
from Group companies

15,495,157 15,761,428

Short-term trade receivables from customers 11,448,062 2,596,584

Total 26,943,219 18,358,012

At the reporting date, the fair value of operating receivables was equal to their 
carrying amount.

”
“

Inventories are not pledged 
as collateral for liabilities. 
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Short-term operating receivables due from Group companies in EUR

 

Slovenia 31.12.2021 31.12.2020

HSE 11,298,998 15,694,002

DEM 19,665 19,616

SENG 176 0

PV 4,165,818 30,112

HTZ I.P. 123 0

RGP 8,412 16,459

SIPOTEH 0 511

HSE Invest 1,965 728

Total 15,495,157 15,761,428

Operating receivables due from Group companies mainly comprise receivables due 
from HSE for electricity sold in December. 

Most of the other trade receivables include receivables due from Komunalno 
podjetje Velenje (Velenje Public Utility Company) for thermal energy sold in 
November and December 2021 in the amount of EUR 3,142,303. 

Receivables from the sale of thermal energy in the amount of EUR 3,142,303 are 
secured by a blank bill of exchange. Security for other receivables was not necessary 
due to their specific nature.

Receivables by their due date are disclosed in Section 2.9.1. 

NOTE 10
Contract assets EUR 85,430,351

in EUR

31.12.2021 31.12.2020

Contract assets 85,430,351 65,944,804

Total 85,430,351 65,944,804

Unaccounted revenues include revenues that have been taken into account in the 
income statement even though they have not yet been charged for. In compliance 
with IFRS 15, these assets are disclosed as contract assets in the income statement 
and include the right to compensation in return for goods or services, which have 
been transferred to the buyer. Accrued revenues in 2021 refer to accounted revenues 
for leased power in 2021 for the settlement of costs of CO₂ emission allowances 
purchased for the needs of electricity production in 2021.

”
“

Operating receivables due 
from Group companies 
mainly comprise receivables 
due from HSE for electricity 
sold in December. 
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NOTE 11
Other short-term assets EUR 3,296,026

in EUR

31.12.2021 31.12.2020

Short-term advances 425,363 1,150,895

Short-term operating receivables due  
from state and other institutions

2,683,382 1,318,274

Short-term operating receivables due from others 12,174 12,619

Short-term deferred costs and expenses 175,107 146,135

Total 3,296,026 2,627,923

Short-term advances were mainly given for the purchase of appliances and 
equipment, and short-term guarantees were granted to the General Customs 
Directorate for accounting of excise duties. 

Short-term operating receivables due from state and other institutions mostly 
comprise the input VAT under the invoices received.

NOTE 12
Cash and cash equivalents EUR 7,923,235

in EUR

31.12.2021 31.12.2020

Cash in banks 7,923,235 5,298,202

Total 7,923,235 5,298,202

Cash and cash equivalents include balances on the Company's bank accounts.

NOTE 13
 

Equity EUR 241,010,274
in EUR

31.12.2021 31.12.2020

Called-up capital 578,579,850 578,579,850

Capital surplus 228,905,969 228,905,969

Fair value reserves (759,977) (952,743)

Retained profit/loss (565,715,568) (572,890,235)

Total 241,010,274 233,642,841

The Company's total equity consists of share capital, capital surplus, revenue 
reserves, fair value reserves, retained earnings from the previous period, and 
previously unappropriated net profit for the financial year.

The Company's share capital, as recorded in the accounting records, is defined in 
the Company’s Articles of Association and has been duly registered with the court 
in the amount of EUR 578,579,850. 

The fair value reserves consist of the “revaluation” adjustment related to the actuary 
losses or gains. 

”
“

Short-term operating 
receivables due from state 
and other institutions mostly 
comprise the input VAT under 
the invoices received.
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In the current year, the Company realised positive profit and loss in the amount 
of EUR 7,130,518 which is the result of acquired funds from compensations and 
the impairment of long-term assets in total amount of EUR 161,087,000. With no 
impairments of long-term assets being performed and without taking into account 
the funds received from the arbitration award, the Company would have ended the 
year with a negative profit or loss in the amount of EUR 56,782,483. Unrelieved loss 
brought forward from previous periods amounts to EUR 572,846,086.

Movement of fair value reserves
in EUR

Actuarial profits/losses 
on severance payments 

upon retirement Other Total

Balance at 1/1/2021 (964,308) 11,565 (952,743)

Formation, increase (4,205) 0 (4,205)

Decrease 241,120 0 241,120

Transfer to transfered profit or loss (44,149) 0 (44,149)

Balance at 31/12/2021 (771,542) 11,565 (759,977)

Actuarial profits/losses 
on severance payments 

upon retirement Other Total

Balance at 1/1/2020 (841,682) 11,565 (830,117)

Formation, increase (174,051) 0 (174,051)

Decrease 44,639 0 44,639

Transfer to transfered profit or loss 6,786 0 6,786

Balance at 31/12/2020 (964,308) 11,565 (952,743)

In 2021, the fair value reserve changed by the actuarial calculation for termination 
benefits upon retirement in the amount of EUR 192,766. 

Based on the actuarial calculation, retained earnings or losses brought forward 
increased by EUR 44,149 due to the reversal of termination benefits upon retirement.

 
 

Retained profit/loss in EUR

2021 2020

Retained profit/loss (565,715,568) (572,890,235)

Total (565,715,568) (572,890,235)

 
Balance-off profit/loss in EUR

2021 2020

Net profit or loss for year 7,130,518 (280,428,143)

Retained profit/loss (572,846,086) (292,462,092)

Total (565,715,568) (572,890,235)

At the end of the year the Company had a negative retained operating result 
consisting of the net profit in the amount of EUR 7,130,518 for 2021, minus a negative 
retained operating result for 2020, adjusted by the amount of utilisation of provisions 
for retirement benefits in 2021 in the amount of EUR 44,149.
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NOTE 14
Provisions for long-service awards and retirement benefits EUR 3,536,112

in EUR

31.12.2021 31.12.2020

Provisions for retirement benefits 2,944,614 3,089,415

Provisions for long-service awards 591,498 637,615

Total 3,536,112 3,727,030

Long-term provisions comprise provisions for long-service awards and termination 
benefits upon retirement as determined in the actuarial calculation as at 31 December 
2021.

The actuarial calculation was based on the following assumptions:
•  the average wage growth rates in the Republic of Slovenia for 2022 and 2023, 

taken from the Autumn Forecast of Economic Development for 2021 (UMAR) 
have been taken into account. From 2024 onwards, the average wages in Slovenia 
are expected to increase by a 2% inflation rate and an actual growth rate of 1%. It 
is assumed that the amounts as set in the Decree will not increase by 2023, but 
thereafter they are expected to increase in line with inflation; 

• a discount rate of 0.6% per year on the basis of the published yields of Slovenia's 
government bonds as at 30 December 2021;

• the number of employees in the Company as at 31 October 2021 (gender, age, total 
and pensionable years of service, gross salary for the month of October 2021);

• employee fluctuation according to age categories.

In 2021, the Company paid long-service awards in the amount of EUR 28,746 and 
termination benefits upon retirement in the amount of EUR 22,216.

Movement of provisions for retirement benefits and long-service awards
in EUR

Provisions 
for retirement 

benefits

Provisions for 
long-service 

awards Total

Balance as at 01/01/2021 3,089,415 637,615 3,727,030

Interest costs 2,976 573 3,549

Ongoing service costs 147,530 35,515 183,045

Past service costs (36,176) (5,135) (41,311)

Actuarial gains and losses - 
accompanying actuarial post

(182,379) (41,566) (223,945)

Actuarial gains - elimination (58,741) (6,758) (65,499)

Actuarial losses - formation  
and utilisation

4,205 0 4,205

Benefit payments during the  
financial year

(22,216) (28,746) (50,962)

Balance as at 31/12/2021 2,944,614 591,498 3,536,112

Balance as at 01/01/2020 2,919,613 575,997 3,495,610

Interest costs 11,084 2,130 13,214

Ongoing service costs 141,037 35,535 176,572

Past service costs (84,122) (9,386) (93,508)

Actuarial gains and losses - 
accompanying actuarial post

157,127 60,774 217,901

Akturaski gains - elimination (44,639) (4,141) (48,780)

Actuarial losses - formation  
and utilisation

3,352 0 3,352

Benefit payments during the  
financial year

(14,037) (23,294) (37,331)

Balance as at 31/12/2020 3,089,415 637,615 3,727,030
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Sensitivity analysis of provisions for retirement benefits and  
long-service awards

in EUR

2021

Discount rate Salary growth

Decrease 
by 0.5%

Increase  
by 0.5%

Decrease 
by 0.5%

Increase  
by 0.5%

Provisions for retirement benefits 150,457 (138,243) (142,755) 150,727

Provisions for long-service 
awards

25,898 (24,011) (25,271) 26,571

Total 176,355 (162,254) (168,026) 177,298

in EUR

2020

Discount rate Salary growth

Decrease 
by 0.5%

Increase  
by 0.5%

Decrease 
by 0.5%

Increase  
by 0.5%

Provisions for retirement benefits 168,940 (155,806) (156,975) 164,727

Provisions for anniversary 
bonuses

29,020 (26,991) (28,150) 29,642

Total 197,960 (182,797) (185,125) 194,369

 

NOTE 15
Other provisions EUR 16,139,190

in EUR

31.12.2021 31.12.2020

Provisinos for decommissioning 16,074,172 15,322,108

Other provisions 65,018 65,018

Total 16,139,190 15,387,126

On the basis of Energy permit and an estimate of the costs of decommissioning, in 
June 2015, the Company created the provisions for the costs of decommissioning for 
the removal of Unit 6 after the end of its useful life in the amount of EUR 9,113,400. 
According to a technical detailed report, the estimated costs of decommissioning 
amount to EUR 16,200,000. The present value of estimated decommissioning costs, 
taking into account the two-year average discount rate of 30-year German bonds as 
at 31 December 2021, amounts to EUR 16,074,172. The increase in provisions for the 
decommissioning of Unit 6 also includes finance costs in the amount of EUR 562,447 
(discounting due to lapse of time), while the increase in the amount of EUR 189,616 
relates to the effects of the amended discount rate.      

Company's other provisions include unpaid Christmas bonuses and the difference 
of the vacation bonus up to the amount specified in the Entrepreneurial Collective 
Agreement for previous years (up to 2016), which were largely paid in 2017 and 2018 
but remain open by the statute of limitations (2023).

”
“

On the basis of Energy permit 
and an estimate of the costs 
of decommissioning, in June 
2015, the Company created 
the provisions for the costs 
of decommissioning for the 
removal of Unit 6 after the 
end of its useful life in the 
amount of EUR 9,113,400.
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Movement of other provisions
in EUR

For decommissioning
Other 

provisions Total

Balance as at 1/1/2021 15,322,108 65,018 15,387,126

Formation, increase 752,063 0 752,063

Balance at 31/12/2021 16,074,171 65,018 16,139,189

Balance as at 1/1/2020 12,489,398 65,018 12,554,416

Formation, increase 2,832,710 0 2,832,710

Balance at 31/12/2020 15,322,108 65,018 15,387,126

NOTE 16
Other long-term liabilities EUR 86,741

in EUR

31.12.2021 31.12.2020

Emission coupons 54,918 0

Other received government grants 31,823 35,500

Total 86,741 35,500

Under accruals and deferrals, the Company records emission allowances received 
free of charge from the state for the period 2021-2025. In 2021, the amount of 
emission allowances increased by newly acquired free allowances granted by 
the state and decreased by allowances considered by the Company in fulfilling 
its obligations of handing over the allowances for the production of emissions 
generated in 2021.

Accruals and deferrals arising from exemptions from the payment of contributions 
were created in accordance with the Vocational Rehabilitation and Employment 
of Persons with Disabilities Act. These are used to cover the costs defined in the 
previously mentioned Act.

 
Movement of other long-term liabilities

in EUR

Emission 
coupons

Other received 
government 

grants Total

Balance as at 01/01/2021 0 35,500 35,500

Acquisition 69,590 0 69,590

Disposals (14,672) (3,677) (18,349)

Balance as at 31/12/2021 54,918 31,823 86,741

Balance as at 01/01/2020 32,041 41,013 73,054

Disposals (32,041) (5,513) (37,554)

Balance as at 31/12/2020 0 35,500 35,500
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NOTE 17
Long-term financial liabilities EUR 339,870,017

in EUR

31.12.2021 31.12.2020

Long-term financial liabilities to banks 339,870,017 396,531,562

Total 339,870,017 396,531,562

Long-term loans are denominated in EUR. The nominal interest rates for borrowings 
ranged from the lowest 1.624% (1-month Euribor (-0.376%) + 2.0% margin) to the highest of
3.158% (fixed). 
End of 2021, the Company met all the covenants under the financial contracts.

Movement of long-term financial liabilities 
in EUR

Long-term 
financial 
liabilities 
to Group 

companies 
without interest

Long-term 
financial 
liabilities 
to Group 

companies  
for interest

Long-term 
financial 

liabilities to 
banks

Total

Balance as at 
01/01/2021

0 0 396,531,562 396,531,562

Transfers to short-
term liabilities

0 0 (56,661,545) (56,661,545)

Balance as at 
31/12/2021

0 0 339,870,017 339,870,017

Balance as at 
01/01/2020

81,432,956 8,643,169 438,710,964 528,787,089

Acquisition 1,378,059 2,567,445 0 3,945,504

Transfers to short-
term liabilities

0 0 (42,179,402) (42,179,402)

Repayment (82,811,015) (11,210,614) 0 (94,021,629)

Balance as at 
31/12/2020

0 0 396,531,562 396,531,562

As at 31 December 2021, the Company records liabilities under the long-term portion 
of long-term borrowings in the amount of EUR 339,870,017, namely:
• EUR 316,370,017 towards EIB with maturity by 15 March 2038
• EUR 23,500,000 towards EBRD with maturity by 15 March 2025

In 2021, the repayments of principal amounts and interest were made in accordance 
with existing amortisation schedules.

A portion of long-term financial liabilities in the amount of EUR 56,661,545, which falls 
due for payment within 12 months after the balance sheet date, was recorded under 
short-term financial liabilities.
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Securing long-term financial liabilities  
(including short-term portion)

in EUR

31.12.2021 31.12.2020

Governmet guarantees 337,674,418 358,139,535

HSE guarantee 34,678,571 80,571,429

Total 372,352,989 438,710,964

As at 31 December 2021, TEŠ had 81.63% of its financial liabilities secured through a 
government guarantee, and 18.37% through an HSE guarantee.

To secure the liabilities under the loan agreement – TEŠ Power Plant Šoštanj/B 
Finance Contract, FI No. 25.541 SI concluded with the European Investment Bank 
for the purpose of financing Unit 6 (22 April 2010) in the amount of EUR 440 million, 
the Republic of Slovenia and the European Investment Bank concluded a guarantee 
agreement in the amount of EUR 440 million on 6 December 2012. 
            
As a joint-an-several guarantor for up to 80% of liabilities under the short-term loan 
agreements, HSE d.o.o. has become a party to the contractual relationship between 
TEŠ and BKS bank. The cost of guarantee amounts to 0.80% p.a. of the actual annual 
liability of TEŠ towards the bank.

For additional security TEŠ:
•  pledged bank accounts and monetary funds to secure existing and future, actual 

and contingent liabilities of the pledgor under or in accordance with the EBRD loan 
agreement i.e., by pledging each secured accounts and monetary funds including 
all interests. The agreement was concluded on 3 February 2011 and is valid for the 
duration of validity of the loan agreement; and

•  assigned receivables as collateral for the entire repayment of all secured liabilities 
in the maximum principal amount of EUR 80,571,429 (balance of the principal 
amount as at 31 December 2021) plus interest, including default interest. A relevant 
agreement thereon was signed with EBRD. The agreement on the assignment 
of receivables was concluded on 3 February 2011 and is valid for the duration of 
validity of the loan agreement.

NOTE 18
Long-term financial lease liabilities EUR 1,569,852

in EUR

31.12.2021 31.12.2020

Long-term financial liabilities from leases to others 1,569,852 1,381,778

Total 1,569,852 1,381,778

”
“

As at 31 December 2021,  
TEŠ had 81.63% of its 
financial liabilities secured 
through a government 
guarantee, and 18.37% 
through an HSE guarantee.
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Movement of long-term financial lease liabilities 
in EUR

Long-term financial liabilities  
from leases Total

Balance as at 01/01/2021 1,381,778

Acquisition 533,044

Transfers from short-term liabilities 158,150

Transfers to short-term liabilities (503,120)

Balance as at 31/12/2021 1,569,852

Balance as at 01/01/2020 2,667,795

Acquisition 32,326

Transfers to short-term liabilities (670,856)

Other (647,486)

Balance as at 31/12/2020 1,381,778

NOTE 19
Short-term financial liabilities EUR 32,386,917

in EUR

31.12.2021 31.12.2020

Short-term financial liabilities to group companies  
without interest

3,943 2,327

Short-term financial liabilities to banks without interest 32,382,974 42,179,402

Total 32,386,917 42,181,729

 
Movement of short-term financial liabilities

Short-term 
financial 
liabilities 
to group 

companies 
without interest

Short-term 
financial 
liabilities 
to group 

companies for 
interest

Short-term 
financial 

liabilities to 
banks without 

interest

Short-term 
financial 

liabilities to 
banks for 

interest

Other  
short-term 

financial 
liabilities Total

Balance as at 01/01/2021 2,327 0 42,179,402 0 0 42,181,729

Acquisition 427,430 0 5,000,000 13,154,371 0 18,581,801

Transfers from long-term 
liabilities

0 0 56,661,545 0 0 56,661,545

Short-term repayments (425,814) 0 (5,000,000) 0 0 (5,425,814)

Long-term repayments 0 0 (66,457,974) (13,154,371) 0 (79,612,345)

Balance as at 31/12/2021 3,943 0 32,382,973 0 0 32,386,916

Balance as at 01/01/2020 711,120 0 42,179,402 0 72 42,890,594

Acquisition 55,548,066 628,168 5,000,000 15,041,612 4,629,901 80,847,747

Transfers from long-term 
liabilities

0 0 42,179,402 0 0 42,179,402

Short-term repayments (56,256,860) (628,168) (5,000,000) (15,041,612) (4,629,973) (81,556,613)

Long-term repayments 0 0 (42,179,402) 0 0 (42,179,402)

Balance as at 31/12/2020 2,326 0 42,179,402 0 0 42,181,728
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As at 31 December 2021, short-term financial liabilities refer to the principal 
amounts of loan agreements concluded with EIB and EBRD in the amount of  
EUR 32,382,974, which fall due for payment in the next 12 months, and to liabilities 
to HSE under guarantees in the amount of EUR 3,943.

NOTE 20
Short-term financial lease liabilities in EUR

31.12.2021 31.12.2020

Other short-term financial liabilities from leases 503,120 670,856

Total 503,120 670,856

 
Movement of short-term financial lease liabilities in EUR

Short-term financial liabilities from leases Total

Balance as at 01/01/2021 670,856

Acquisition 0

Transfers from long-term liabilities 503,120

Transfers to long-term liabilities (158,150)

Long-term repayments (512,706)

Balance as at 31/12/2021 503,120

Balance as at 01/01/2020 0

Transfers from long-term liabilities 670,856

Long-term repayments (647,486)

MSRP 16 647,486

Balance as at 31/12/2020 670,856

NOTE 21
 

Short-term operating liabilities EUR 24,557,950
in EUR

31.12.2021 31.12.2020

Short-term operating liabilities to group companies 8,075,864 12,128,891

Current operating liabilities to suppliers 16,482,086 5,790,008

Total 24,557,950 17,918,899
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Short-term operating liabilities to Group companies in EUR

Slovenija 31.12.2021 31.12.2020

HSE 279,585 978,046

DEM 56,172 58,959

PV 7,168,210 10,287,505

HTZ I.P. 128,055 140,615

RGP 295,011 372,329

HSE Invest 137,496 265,445

ECE 1,255 0

PLP 10,080 0

SIPOTEH 0 25,992

Total 8,075,864 12,128,891

Payables to Group companies mainly include payables to Premogovnik Velenje d.o.o. 
for supplied quantities of coal for electricity and thermal energy production in the 
period from 1 November 2021 to 31 December 2021.

NOTE 22
Contract liabilities EUR 87,389,177

in EUR

31.12.2021 31.12.2020

Contract liabilities 87,389,177 63,432,409

Total 87,389,177 63,432,409

The Company disclosed short-term accrued costs in the amount of EUR 87,389,177 
at the price envisaged under the Agreement for the purchase of CO2 emission 
allowances, less the portion recorded under payables to the state.

NOTE 23
Other short-term liabilities EUR 10,278,540

in EUR

31.12.2021 31.12.2020

Short-term operating liabilities to employees 1,321,206 1,384,310

Short-term operating liabilities to state and other institutions 4,167,397 4,345,744

Short-term operating liabilities to others 146,057 147,305

Short-term accrued costs and expenses 4,643,880 6,634,556

Total 10,278,540 12,511,915

Other short-term operating liabilities include salaries and other employment-related 
benefits payable to employees for the month of December 2021 in the amount of 
EUR 891,735 which were paid on 14 January 2022, and accrued costs of unused 
annual leaves at the end of 2021, which amount to EUR 429,471.

Payables to state and other institutions amount to EUR 4,167,397. The environmental 
tax for CO2 emissions accounts for the major portion of liabilities. The anticipated 
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liabilities for 2021 amount to EUR 3,381,468 (1 allowance/1 ton of CO2). The purchase 
of emission allowances was carried out in March 2022.

The accrued costs also comprise the accounted costs of interest, accounted costs of 
suppliers, and accounted labour costs. 
The Company usually settles all liabilities within the agreed time limits.

Contingent assets  EUR 99,910,444
in EUR

31.12.2021 31.12.2020

Performance bonds for regular operation 94,237,166 2,153,280

Performance bonds for investment 3,000,000 3,309,030

Executive 2,673,278 2,653,003

Total 99,910,444 8,115,313

Under contingent assets the Company discloses bank guarantee i.e., bonds for 
regular operation that consist of: performance bonds, maintenance bonds, bank 
guarantees granted for investment purposes, and enforcement drafts which 
constitute the statements of debtors to settle certain amounts of their liabilities. 
An increase under the bank guarantees item is a result of the performance bond 
received from GE Power GmbH under the LTSA.

2.8.2 Notes to the income statement

NOTE 1
Net revenues from sale EUR 223,262,184

in EUR

2021 2020

On the domestic market 222,556,180 235,858,627

Electricity 211,436,198 227,937,106

Heat energy 9,908,157 6,907,146

Other products 73,665 69,918

Other goods and material 665,997 417,034

Other services 472,163 527,423

On foreign market 706,004 2,166,412

Other goods and material 326,004 288,001

Other services 380,000 1,878,411

Total 223,262,184 238,025,039

Net revenues from sales are disclosed at invoiced amounts and show a decrease by 
nearly 7% compared to the year before. The majority share of revenues (99.13%) was 
generated through the sale of electricity and thermal energy. Revenues generated 
through the sale of electricity decreased compared to 2020 on account of less 
electricity sold.

”
“

The anticipated liabilities  
for 2021 amount to  
EUR 3,381,468 (1 allowance/ 
1 ton of CO2). The purchase 
of emission allowances was 
carried out in March 2022.
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NOTE 2
Other operating revenues EUR 231,565,366

in EUR

2021 2020

Drawing deferred revenue 14,672 32,042

Elimination of impairment of receivables 7,473 63,781

Revenue from damages and contractual penalties 231,459,934 227,612

Default interest 29,467 333,986

Profit on sale of fixed assets 5,291 52,875

Other 48,529 488,037

Total 231,565,366 1,198,333

Among other operating revenues, the revenues in the amount of EUR 231,459,934 
received as compensation and liquidated damages payable by GE in the out-of-court 
settlement reached in the framework of the arbitration proceedings related to the 
construction of Unit 6 account for the majority share.

NOTE 3
Costs of goods, materials and services EUR 123,553,978

in EUR

2021 2020

Material costs 107,569,098 113,467,914

Costs of services 15,984,880 13,096,214

Total 123,553,978 126,564,128

2021 2020

Costs of material 103,686,628 109,921,292

Cost of supplementary material 96,765 90,302

Costs of energy 162,499 422,154

Costs of spare parts 3,265,455 2,780,616

Costs of small tools 214,124 213,804

Other 143,627 39,746

Total material costs 107,569,098 113,467,914

Costs of transport services 50,737 33,987

Costs of maintenance 5,199,919 6,117,880

Costs of rents 40,002 25,012

Costs of reimbursements of work-related  
expenses to employees

7,907 5,795

Costs of insurance and bank services 1,834,727 1,550,443

Costs of intellectual and personal services 4,688,783 635,626

Costs of fairs, advertising and administration 4,523 2,898

Costs of services of natural entities 63,967 35,509

Costs of utilities 447,690 149,784

Security and surveillance costs 281,625 269,286

Membership contributions 31,189 29,994

Real property management 1,403 984

Costs of arranging the waste desposal sites 2,429,646 3,431,084

Other 902,762 807,932

Total costs of services 15,984,880 13,096,214

Total 123,553,978 126,564,128

The majority share of costs 
of material refers to the 
consumption of coal (as an 
energy product used in the 
production of electricity 
and thermal energy) in the 
amount of EUR 89,883,004. 
Apart from coal, the 
Company also used gas to 
produce electricity. 
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The majority share of costs of material refers to the consumption of coal (as an 
energy product used in the production of electricity and thermal energy) in the 
amount of EUR 89,883,004. Apart from coal, the Company also used gas to produce 
electricity. 

Costs of auxiliary material and costs of spare parts relate to the use of this material 
for maintenance works performed on appliances and equipment. 
 
Costs of services involving the maintenance of plants and equipment comprise costs 
of regular maintenance in the amount of EUR 5,199,919.

Costs of lease
in EUR

2021 2020

Amortisation of right to use assets 504,189 677,620

Financial expenses 45,884 47,237

Rental costs 40,002 25,012

Total 590,075 749,869

In line with Section 5 of IFRS 16, TEŠ applied an exemption regarding the recognition of 
the right-to-use-assets, namely for vehicles leased up to a year in the amount of  
EUR 22,948, and for leased land in total amount of EUR 2,464.

Costs of auditor
 in EUR

2021 2020

Annual Report audit 20,000 20,000

Other services of providing guarantees 800 800

Total 20,800 20,800

The contract value for the audit performed by Deloitte revizija d.o.o. amounts to 
EUR 20,000 plus EUR 800 for the review of the Report on relations with affiliated 
companies. Other services were not provided. 

NOTE 4
Labour costs EUR 13,864,727

in EUR

2021 2020

Salaries 10,137,910 9,786,729

Pension insurance costs 1,401,513 1,348,579

Other insurance costs 733,158 715,701

Other labour costs 1,592,146 1,899,105

Total 13,864,727 13,750,114

Among other things, labour costs comprise meal and transport allowances, costs of holiday 

money and other employee benefits.

 
Costs of services involving 
the maintenance of plants 
and equipment comprise 
costs of regular maintenance 
in the amount of  
EUR 5,199,919.
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Number of employees and average number of employees  
by educational structure

Education level Number of employees Average number of 
employees

1/1/2021  31/12/2021

  1 3 2 3

   2 13 13 13

   3 13 13 13

   4 75 77 76

   5 130 126 128

   6/1 48 49 49

   6/2 18 18 18

   7 15 15 15

   8/1 4 3 4

Total 319 316 318

Costs of wages and salaries are based on the Entrepreneurial Collective Agreement, 
Rules on Salaries, and individual employment agreements. Salary is comprised of 
the basic pay, allowances (for less favourable working hours, environmental impacts, 
etc.), and the incentive bonus.

Continued pay of employees includes compensations for sick leave, annual leave, 
training, and other. Employees are entitled to compensation either on the basis of the 
Employment Relations Act, the Entrepreneurial Collective Agreement, or individual 
employment agreements.

Costs of supplementary pension insurance relate to the co-funding of the pension 
scheme by the employer under the Agreement on the Creation of a Supplementary 
Pension Insurance Scheme, concluded between Termoelektrarna Šoštanj d.o.o. and 
the Šoštanj Thermal Power Plant trade union. The pension scheme, labelled PN1, is 
managed by the insurance company Modra zavarovalnica d.d., Ljubljana and Adriatic 
Slovenica d.d., Ljubljana.

NOTE 5
Write-offs  EUR 191,702,732

in EUR

2021 2020

Amortisation of intangible assets 14,271 23,988

Amortisation of property, plant and equipment 29,455,373 34,811,164

Amortisation of leased assets 504,189 677,620

Inventories impairments/write-offs 124,292 465,635

Impairments in property, plant and equipment and 
intangible assets

161,087,000 243,494,000

Write-downs of property, plant and equipment 517,607 81,493

Total 191,702,732 279,553,900

The amortisation expense in the 2021 financial year totalled EUR 29,469,644 and 
is accounted for at amortisation rates determined on the basis of valuation or 
impairments (final report of 17 May 2022), or in line with the expected useful life of 
assets.  
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The carrying amount of inventories does not exceed their net realisable value. The 
value of spare parts inventories does not exceed the value established on the basis of 
appraisal conducted. Consequently, impairments of inventories were not performed 
in 2021.

NOTE 6
Capitalised own products and services EUR 2,399,825

in EUR

2021 2020

Capitalised own products and services 2,399,825 627,100

Total 2,399,825 627,100

Capitalisation refers to the replacement of products on Unit 6 at times of overhaul 
and other major maintenance and repair, and constitutes a consumption of 
material and work which, through capitalisation, is now reflected in the value of the 
equipment. 

NOTE 7
Other operating expenses EUR 100,782,552

in EUR

2021 2020

Fee for the use of construction land 8,422,414 7,682,338

Environmental protection expenses 91,920,223 68,945,564

Donations 51,721 58,934

Other operating expenses 388,194 535,383

Total 100,782,552 77,222,219

The majority share of other operating expenses includes environmental protection 
expenses, which represent the value of emission allowances in the amount of EUR 
91,027,114. The Company produced 3,381,468 tons of CO2 in the financial year. Under 
the Environmental Protection Act, the Company is required to hand over emission 
allowances to the state by 30 April 2022. 

NOTE 8
Financial revenues  EUR 154,823

in EUR

2021 2020

Financial revenue from loans and deposits given 154,823 147

Total 154,823 147

Financial revenues are comprised mostly of interest on loans granted to the 
subsidiary.
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NOTE 9
Financial expenses EUR 19,743,648

in EUR

2021 2020

Financial expenses for interest 12,405,219 17,856,812

Other financial expenses from leases 45,884 47,237

Other financial expenses 7,292,545 5,284,353

Total 19,743,648 23,188,402

Other financial expenses mainly consist of expenses in respect of the government 
guarantee for the investment in Unit 6 in the amount of EUR 4,348,136; cost of early 
repayment of the loan in the amount of EUR 1,855,812, and expenses for guarantees 
granted by HSE in the amount of EUR 335,226.

NOTE 10
Taxes

in EUR

2021 2020

Current tax 604,045 0

Deferred tax 0 0

Total tax from profit recognised in the income statement 604,045 0

Profit (loss) before tax 7,734,563 (280,428,143)

Calculated tax at the applicable tax rate 1,469,567 (53,281,347)

Tax on revenues that lower the tax base (30,780) (23,265)

Tax on expenses that lower the tax base (1,028,510) (187,892)

Tax on non-deductible expenses (50,101) (62,688)

Tax from other changes in the tax balance sheet 221,362 11,005

Tax effects of unrecognised deferred assets  
arising from tax losses

22,507 53,544,187

Tax levied 604,045 0

Deferred tax 0 0

Total taxes 604,045 0

Effective tax rate 7.81% 0.00%

In line with the Corporate Income Tax Act, the Company prepared a corporate income 
tax return for the period from 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2021 and established that it 
has to pay taxes in the amount of EUR 604,045. 

As at 31 December 2020, tax loss brought forward amounted to EUR 983,099,908. In 
2021, the loss decreased because the Company decided to enforce the right to lower 
the tax base on account of the loss from previous years. As at 31 December 2021, tax loss 
brought forward amounts to EUR 978,803,711.

The future taxable profits being uncertain, the Company did not create deferred tax 
assets.

”
“

In line with the Corporate 
Income Tax Act, the 
Company prepared a 
corporate income tax return 
for the period from 1 January 
2021 to 31 December 2021 and 
established that it has to pay 
taxes in the amount of  
EUR 604,045. 
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NOTE 11
Net profit or loss  EUR 7,130,518

in EUR

2021 2020

Gross operating return 457,227,376 239,850,472

Operating profit 27,323,388 (257,239,889)

Financial outcome (19,588,825) (23,188,254)

Profit (loss) before tax 7,734,563 (280,428,143)

Net profit/loss for the year 7,130,518 (280,428,143)

Gross return comprises net revenues from sales and other operating revenues.

2.8.3  Notes to the statement of other  
comprehensive income

In the statement of other comprehensive income, the Company discloses actuarial 
gains from retirement benefits based on the actuarial calculation of liabilities for 
provisions for long-service awards and retirement benefits, and the reversal thereof 
charged against the profit or loss brought forward.

2.8.4 Notes to the statement of cash flows
The cash flow statement for 2021 is prepared using the indirect method and 
comprises all cash receipts and cash payments in the period from 1 January 2021 to 
31 December 2021.

Breakdown of cash flows:
in EUR

2021 2020

Cash flows from operating activities 134,664,956 16,898,213

Cash flows from investing activities (46,472,135) (5,475,177)

Cash flows from financing activities (85,567,788) (7,118,158)

Cash flow for the period 2,625,033 4,304,878

As disclosed in the statement of cash flows using the indirect method, in 2021, the net 
cash from operating activities amounted to EUR 134,664,956, of which EUR 46,472,136 
were used for investing activities and EUR 85,567,788 were used for financing 
activities.

For the purpose of managing liquidity, the Company had to implement the following 
measures:
• careful planning and analysis of cash flows, 
• measures for streamlining regular business operations. 

The Company managed liquidity risk through a careful planning of cash flows, time 
coordination of receivables and liabilities, and the sound management of free cash. 
The Company was ensuring short-term solvency in the above-mentioned period 
through efficient and careful management of cash, and a systematic planning and 
monitoring of cash flows. The Company managed its 2021 liquidity in the framework 
of regular operations.
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2.8.5 Statement of changes in equity
The statement of changes in equity shows the changes in equity components for the 
reporting period. 
The Company prepares the statement of changes in equity in the form of a 
composite spreadsheet.

Accumulated profit or loss
in EUR

2021 2020

Net profit or lossfor the financial year 7,130,518 (280,428,143)

Transferred profit/transferred loss (572,846,086) (292,462,092)

Acumulated profit or loss (565,715,568) (572,890,235)

OTHER DISCLOSURES

2.8.6 Affiliated parties in EUR

Sales Purchases

Loans, 
guarantees 

and warranties 
with interest

Loans 
received with 

interest

HSE 211,507,756 5,676,022 74,941 3,943

DEM 96,473 286,862 0 0

SENG 2,956 0 0 0

PV 313,509 90,117,059 20,022,932 0

HTZ I.P. 422 823,531 0 0

RGP 36,653 1,759,514 0 0

HSE Invest 7,766 477,776 0 0

PLP 0 18,243 0 0

SIPOTEH 0 24,160 0 0

ECE 0 731 0 0

Total 2021 211,965,535 99,183,898 20,097,873 3,943

Affiliated parties include subsidiaries, associated companies and jointly controlled 
entities, which HSE controls directly or indirectly through its subsidiaries. 
The sales and purchase columns show all transactions (excl. VAT and rebilling) 
between TEŠ and associated companies in 2021. 

The balance of outstanding trade receivables due from affiliated parties is disclosed 
under Section 2.9.1, and the balance of outstanding trade payables under Section 
2.9.2. 

Selling prices and purchase prices for services are defined in line with the 
applicable internal price list of the HSE Group companies, while rents and selling 
prices of electricity are defined using the cost-plus method. The purchase price of 
coal is a fixed amount of EUR 2,75.
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2.8.7 Transactions with the Republic of Slovenia and legal entities in which the  
 Republic of Slovenia owns the majority equity interest

in EUR

Business partner
Outstanding 

receivables as at 
31/12/2021

Outstanding 
liabilities as at 

31/12/2021 Revenue 2021 Expenses 2021

Petrol d.d. 0 1,611,481 0 3,046,098

Plinovodi d.o.o. 0 396,850 0 3,835,125

Energy companies – total 0 2,008,331 0 6,881,224

Aluminum production 0 0 0 0

Other - total 0 0 0 0

  Total 0 2,008,331 0 6,881,224

Affiliated parties also comprise companies, in which the government owns the majority equity interest and with which the Company 
concluded transactions in 2021 from the point of view of significant transactions, considering the size of individual transaction 
(revenues or expenses did not exceed EUR 2 million in 2021). 

 
2.8.8 Remuneration
Hereafter is the information regarding the management and staff employed under agreements that are not subject to the tariff part of 
the collective agreement.

Remuneration of management members
in EUR

Gross salary
Other 

remuneration Bonuses
Cost 

reimbursement Meeting fees Total

Remuneration of the Management 97,402 25,281 4,553 1,456 0 128,692

Remuneration of members of the 
Supervisory Board and Supervisory 

Board's Audit Bord

0 0 280 0 14,399 14,679

Employees who are not subject to the 
tariff part of the collective agreement

125,578 12,088 427 2,790 140,883

Total 2021 222,980 37,369 5,260 4,246 14,399 284,254

Remuneration of the Management 90,607 25,117 4,968 1,354 0 122,046

Employees who are not subject to the 
tariff part of the collective agreement

151,358 12,225 290 3,060 0 166,933

Total 2020 241,965 37,342 5,258 4,414 0 288,979

 
Remuneration of management members and other employees who are not subject to the tariff part of the collective agreement 
comprise:
• gross earnings according to the pay-out principle,
• other earnings (holiday money, voluntary supplementary pension scheme, director’s service agreement),
• perks,
•  other refunds of costs and 
•  meeting fees to members of the Supervisory Board and Audit Committee.
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Remuneration of the Management 
in EUR

Gross salary
Other 

remuneration Bonuses
Cost 

reimbursement
Gross meeting 

fees Total

Viktor Vračar 0 20,400 0 0 0 20,400

Mitja Tašler 97,402 4,881 4,553 1,456 0 108,292

Total 97,402 25,281 4,553 1,456 0 128,692

 
Remuneration of members of the Supervisory Board

in EUR

Gross meeting 
fees

Travel 
expenses Bonuses Total

Drago Skornšek 5,946 0 93 6,039

Tomaž Pestotnik 4,518 0 93 4,611

Aleš Rednjak 3,935 0 93 4,028

Total 14,399 0 279 14,678

Remuneration of members of the Supervisory Board’s  
Audit Committee

in EUR

Gross meeting 
fees

Travel 
expenses Total

Rado Sodin 3,833 79 3,912

Tomaž Pestotnik 1,689 144 1,833

Aleš Re dnjak 1,309 0 1,309

Total 6,831 223 7,054
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This section is linked to Section 2.2.11 of the accounting 
report, and to Section 1.16 on financial risks and business 
model.

2.9.1 Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of failure of the counter party to settle 
its liabilities. In addition to their failure to pay, we also risk 
their failure to settle other non-financial liabilities. The 
consequences arising from this include the lack of liquid 
assets, non-payment of liabilities to suppliers and the 
cessation of works, as well as the costs of default interest. 
With regard to business credit risk, the Company assesses 
that the probability of risk is low, while the impact on the 
Company's operations is medium high. The risk management 
instruments comprise verification of credit ratings of business 
partners, conclusion of long-term agreements and, on the 
basis thereof, annual agreements with elements of securing 
receivables, such as blank bills of exchange.
Receivables from the sale of thermal energy are secured with 
a blank bill of exchange. Accounts receivable in the amount of 
EUR 94,000,000 are also secured with a bank guarantee.

2.9
Financial instruments 
and risks
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Long-term receivables by maturity 
in EUR

Due for payment

Total
Up to 2 years after  

the date of SFP
From 3 to 5 years after 

 the date of SFP
More than 5 years after  

the date of SFP

Long-term operating 
receivables from customers

15,680,000 29,400,000 40,920,000 86,000,000

Long-term advances 18,293 9,146 0 27,439

Total as at 31/12/2021 15,698,293 29,409,146 40,920,000 86,027,439

Due for payment

Total
Up to 2 years after  

the date of SFP
From 3 to 5 years after  

the date of SFP
More than 5 years after  

the date of SFP

Long-term advances 10,147 26,439 0 36,586

Total as at 31/12/2020 10,147 26,439 0 36,586

Short-term operating and financial receivables by maturity 
in EUR

Due for payment

Total
Not past 

due

Up to 3 
months past 

due (up to  
90 days)

From 3 to 6 
months past 

due (from 91 to 
180 days)

Over a year past due  
(from 361 days onwards)

Short-term financial receivables and 
loans to group companies

20,000,000 0 0 0 20,000,000

Short-term financial receivables and 
loans to group companies for interest

97,873 0 0 0 97,873

Short-term deposits to others 5,799,059 0 0 0 5,799,059

Short-term trade receivables from  
group companies

15,495,157 0 0 0 15,495,157

Short-term operating receivables  
from customers

11,350,318 12,475 1,622 101,038 11,465,453

Advances made in the short term 425,363 0 0 169,519 594,882

Short-term trade receivables from 
government and other institutions

2,683,382 0 0 0 2,683,382

Short-term trade receivables due from 
others

12,174 0 0 0 12,174

Total as at 31/12/2021 55,863,326 12,475 1,622 270,557 56,147,980

Due for payment

Total
Not past 

due

Up to 3 
months past 

due (up to  
90 days)

From 3 to 6 
months past 

due (from 91 to 
180 days)

Over a year past due  
(from 361 days onwards)

Short-term deposits to others 12,185,863 0 0 0 12,185,863

Short-term trade receivables from  
group companies

15,761,428 0 0 0 15,761,428

Short-term operating receivables  
from customers

2,432,200 164,384 0 126,755 2,723,339

Advances made in the short term 1,150,895 0 0 169,520 1,320,415

Short-term trade receivables from 
government and other institutions

1,318,274 0 0 0 1,318,274

Short-term trade receivables due  
from others

12,619 0 0 0 12,619

Total as at 31/12/2020 32,861,279 164,384 0 296,275 33,321,938
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Security for operating receivables was not necessary due to their specific nature.
Accounts receivable that are due and outstanding mainly refer to the accounts 
receivable in respect of rents for flats, part of which was finally written off in 2021  
(in the amount of EUR 7,473). 
Receivables for advances given mainly refer to the production parts of Unit 6; 
receivables due from Primorje d.d. (in liquidation); and advances given for securing 
excise duty-related liabilities. Receivables due from Primorje d.d. (in liquidation) for 
advances given in the amount of EUR 206,731 have been reported in the bankruptcy 
estate. Based on the court settlement, they have been ranked among ordinary 
receivables. The aforementioned receivables were impaired in full in 2013. In 2020, 
the Company received an amount of EUR 37,212 from Primorje d.d. (in liquidation). 
Thus, the receivables due from Primorje d.d. (in liquidation) for advances given have 
decreased to EUR 169,519.

Movement of value adjustments of short-term operating receivables 
in EUR

2021 2020

Balance as at 01/01/ 296,275 360,056

Recovered written-off receivables 0 (43,753)

Final write-offs of receivables (109,365) (20,028)

Balance as at 31/12/ 186,910 296,275

A final write-off of receivables constitutes a write-off of receivables once the 
bankruptcy proceedings against the company RCE have been completed. The 
Company establishes that the current internal policy of forming adjustments 
and impairing operating receivables is appropriate and that the application of the 
disclosure-related guidelines under IFRS 9, in view of the expected credit loss (ECL) 
arising from trade receivables, has no significant impact on the fair presentation of 
the Company's assets. Pursuant to the above and the internal rules of adjustments 
formation, the Company formed no new doubtful receivables in 2021. 
The Company assesses the credit risk is manageable as it conducts business 
operations with known buyers that regularly settle their liabilities. The largest buyer is 
the controlling company HSE d.o.o., which purchases the total electricity produced.

2.9.2 Liquidity risk
Liquidity is a condition for the Company's solvency and at the same time its ability 
for the timely settlement of overdue liabilities. By providing an optimal financing 
structure i.e., by using an appropriate financial leverage, the Company ensures safe 
operations along with the lowest possible costs of financing structure. A deficit of 
liquidity assets results in unpaid, overdue liabilities. The probability that the Company 
would face liquidity problems is medium high, while the impact on the Company's 
liquidity is high. The liquidity risk management instrument is the careful planning of 
cash flows on a daily, monthly and annual basis. The appropriate time co-ordination 
of receivables and liabilities and, in particular, ensuring adequate sources of financing 
are of key importance. As regards current liquidity, the Company has established 
appropriate credit lines for short-term liquidity management. The Company’s plan 
for 2021 was to ensure current liquidity through regular payments received for 
electricity sold; a short-term loan raised with a commercial bank in the amount of 
EUR 5,0 million; and a loan raised with HSE d.o.o. in the amount of  
EUR 104.0 million to ensure sustainable operations. Borrowings for the purposes 
of sustainable business operations were not required owing to the out-of-court 
settlement with GE in the framework of arbitration procedure related to the 
construction of Unit 6.

”
“

The Company assesses the 
credit risk is manageable 
as it conducts business 
operations with known 
buyers that regularly settle 
their liabilities. The largest 
buyer is the controlling 
company HSE d.o.o., which 
purchases the total electricity 
produced.
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Long-term financial liabilities by maturity in EUR

Due for payment

Total

Up to 2 years 
after the date  

of SFP

From 3 to 5 years 
after the date  

of SFP

More than  
5 years after the 

date of SFP

Long-term financial liabilities to banks 29,865,116 74,656,063 235,348,838 339,870,017

Long-term financial liabilities from leases 513,070 1,056,782 0 1,569,852

Total as at 31/12/2021 30,378,186 75,712,845 235,348,838 341,439,869

Due for payment

Total

Up to 2 years 
after the date  

of SFP

From 3 to 5 years 
after the date  

of SFP

More than  
5 years after the 

date of SFP

Long-term financial liabilities to banks 39,322,259 101,395,348 255,813,955 396,531,562

Long-term financial liabilities from leases 684,124 697,654 0 1,381,778

Total as at 31/12/2020 40,006,383 102,093,002 255,813,955 397,913,340

Short-term operating and financial liabilities by maturity  in EUR

Due for payment

TotalNot past due
Up to 3 months past due  

(up to 30 days)

Short-term financial liabilities to group companies 3,943 0 3,943

Short-term financial liabilities to banks 32,382,973 0 32,382,973

Short-term financial liabilities from leases 503,120 0 503,120

Short-term operating liabilities to group companies 8,075,864 0 8,075,864

Short-term operating liabilities to suppliers 16,388,287 93,799 16,482,086

Short-term operating liabilities to employees 891,736 0 891,736

Short-term operating liabilities from government and  
other institutions 4,167,397 0 4,167,397

Short-term operating liabilities due from others 146,057 0 146,057

Total as at 31/12/2021 62,559,377 93,799 62,653,176

Due for payment

TotalNot past due
Up to 3 months past due  

(up to 30 days)

Short-term financial liabilities to group companies 2,327 0 2,327

Short-term financial liabilities to banks 42,179,402 0 42,179,402

Short-term financial liabilities from leases 670,856 0 670,856

Short-term operating liabilities to group companies 12,128,891 0 12,128,891

Short-term operating liabilities to suppliers 5,730,145 59,863 5,790,008

Short-term operating liabilities to employees 934,779 0 934,779

Short-term operating liabilities from government and  
other institutions 4,345,744 0 4,345,744

Short-term operating liabilities due from others 147,305 0 147,305

Total as at 31/12/2020 66,139,449 59,863 66,199,312

 
As at 31 December 2021, the Company’s accounts payable, which were past due and had not been settled, amounted to EUR 93,799. 
All matured liabilities were settled by 31 January 2022.
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2.9.3 Interest rate risk
 
Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in the interest rate will be unfavourable for 
the Company. It occurs mainly in borrowing, as the price of money depends on the 
level of market interest rates. The growth of interest rate results in the risk of failure to 
settle annuities due to inadequate liquidity reserves. The risk is assessed as very low 
and manageable. Possible interest rate hedging instruments include a fixed interest 
rate with the lender, which the Company is already partly applying in connection 
with financial borrowings.

The Company was exposed to the following interest rate risks (only instruments that 
affect profit or loss are taken into account): 

Financial instruments – balances in EUR

Financial instruments with variable interest rates 2021 2020

Financial liabilities 34,578,572 47,335,714

Total 34,578,572 47,335,714

Sensitivity analysis of cash flow in instruments with a variable interest rate

In 2021, the average 3M EURIBOR reference interest rate amounted to -0.549% while 
the 6M EURIBOR amounted to -0.523%. Consequently, an increase in the margin by 
+0.50 basis points would have no impact on the increase in expenses for interest on 
loans with variable interest rate.

in EUR

Financial instruments

Profit or loss for 2021 Profit or loss for 2020

Increase by 
50 bp

Decrease 
by 50 bp

Increase by 
50 bp

Decrease 
by 50 bp

Financial instruments with 
variable interest rate

0 0 (294,684) 291,287

Financial liabilities 0 0 (294,684) 291,287

 2.9.4 Equity management
The main purpose of equity management is to ensure the best possible credit rating 
and capital adequacy for the purposes of financing operations and investments. 
Having an adequate volume of capital, enables the Company to enjoy the trust of 
both the creditors and market, and to maintain the future development of activities.

The Company monitors changes in equity using the financial leverage ratio, which is 
calculated by dividing total net liabilities by total equity. 

in EUR

Equity management 31.12.2021 31.12.2020

Long-term financial liabilities 339,870,017 396,531,562

Long-term financial liabilities from leases 1,569,852 1,381,778

Short-term financial liabilities 32,386,916 42,181,729

Short-term financial liabilities from leases 503,120 670,856

Total financial liabilities 374,329,905 440,765,925

Capital 241,010,274 233,642,841

Financial liabilities/Capital 1.55 1.89

Cash and cash equivalents 7,923,235 5,298,202

Net financial liability 366,406,670 435,467,723

Net debt/Capital 1.52 1.86
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Compared to the year before, the value of the ratio increased. This was due to the 
2021 decrease in equity owing to the recognised impairments of long-term assets.

 
2.9.5 Faire values
The Company assesses that the carrying amount of financial instruments is a 
sufficiently precise approximation of their fair value, which is why the two match. 

in EUR

31.12.2021 31.12.2020

Book value Fair value Book value Fair value

Non-derivative financial assets 
at amortised cost

236,153,711 236,153,711 38,360,451 38,360,451

Financial receivables 25,896,932 25,896,932 12,185,863 12,185,863

Operating and other receivables 202,333,544 202,333,544 20,876,386 20,876,386

Cash and cash equivalents 7,923,235 7,923,235 5,298,202 5,298,202

Total 236,153,711 236,153,711 38,360,451 38,360,451

Non-derivative financial 
liabilities at amortised cost

496,555,572 496,555,572 534,629,150 534,629,150

Bank loans 372,252,990 372,252,990 438,710,964 438,710,964

Other financial liabilities 2,076,915 2,076,915 2,054,961 2,054,961

Operating and other liabilities 122,225,667 122,225,667 93,863,225 93,863,225

Total 496,555,572 496,555,572 534,629,150 534,629,150

 
 

Finančna sredstva po pošteni vrednosti glede na hierarhijo in EUR

31.12.2021

Financial assets and liabilities at 
fair value by hierarchy  

as at 31.12.2021

Carrying 
amount Fair value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Non-derivative financial 
assets at amortised cost

236,153,711 236,153,711 236,153,711

Financial receivables 25,896,932 25,896,932 25,896,932

Operating and other 
receivables

202,333,544 202,333,544 202,333,544

Cash and cash equivalents 7,923,235 7,923,235 7,923,235

Total 236,153,711 236,153,711 236,153,711

Non-derivative financial 
liabilities at amortised cost

496,555,572 496,555,572 496,555,572

Bank loans 372,252,990 372,252,990 372,252,990

Other financial liabilities 2,076,915 2,076,915 2,076,915

Operating and other 
liabilities

122,225,667 122,225,667 122,225,667

Total 496,555,572 496,555,572 496,555,572

Short-term receivables and liabilities are recorded at carrying amount, which is 
considered as amortised cost.
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Reporting in line with  
the energy act2.10
2.10.1  Additional disclosures in accordance with  

the Energy Act
In accordance with the provisions of Article 109 of the Energy Act (EZ-1) and the Act on 
the Transparency of Financial Relations and Maintenance of Separate Accounts for 
Different Activities (ZPFOLERD-1), the Company is required to keep separate financial 
statements for energy activities and for other activities. The Company has specified 
in its Accounting Rules that it prepares separate financial statements for the following 
activities:
•  electricity production 
•  steam and hot water supply
•  other
that are market-oriented organisational parts of the Company that generate profit or 
loss through their operations.

The Šoštanj Thermal Power Plant records its revenues and expenses in orders, cost 
centres (CC), and profit centres (PC). The Company's assets and liabilities are generally 
recorded as per business segments (BS), while intangible assets, property, plant and 
equipment are also recorded as per CCs. The majority of CCs and PCs belong directly 
to individual activities, while a portion of CCs is general, or indirect. In classifying 
revenues and costs arising in the operations of the Company as a whole, or in the 
performance of two or more activities that cannot be directly classified, the Company 
makes use of allocation criteria/formulas. Allocation criteria/formulas are verified and 
corrected annually with respect to new facts.

The method of allocating costs and expenses as per CC and PC, respectively, and 
determining profit or loss as per activities/BS is based on methods of indirect costs/
expenses allocation, which take a form of a simple division calculation and costs 
allocation, arising from empirical analyses, experiences, and the goals of the Company. 

General costs and expenses as well as general revenues are allocated as per BS 
(activities) on the basis of allocation criteria/agreed allocation formulas.

The Company has two types of general cost centres in place:
• general production cost centres,
• general cost centres of specialist services.

Criteria for cost allocation to general production cost centres:

i.  Costs that are collected at general production cost centres (coal transport, water 
preparation, ash and gypsum transport, production fleet, and laboratory) are first 
allocated by TEŠ to the business segment of steam and hot water supply, which 
consists of two profit centres. Costs relating to the functioning of the profit centre 
Heating plant 1 and Heating plant 2 (hereinafter: TP 1 and TP 2) are allocated pursuant 
to the allocation formula that observes the method of actually consumed primary 
energy on Unit 5, and for the next three-year planning period (2020-2022) account for 
0.46%. The costs of the profit centre Heating plant 3 (hereinafter: TP 3) are allocated 
pursuant to the allocation formula that observes the method of actually consumed 
primary energy on Unit 6, and for the next three-year planning period (2020-2022) 

138  /  ACCOUNTING REPORT



account for 2.09%. The residual costs are allocated to the business segment of 
electricity production and, within this segment, to profit centres based on the share of 
utilised coal.

ii. Costs that are collected at general production cost centres (technical department, 
mechanical maintenance, electrical maintenance, building maintenance) are first 
allocated by TEŠ to the business segment of steam and hot water supply. Costs 
relating to the functioning of profit centres TP 1 and TP 2 are allocated pursuant to the 
allocation formula that observes the method of actually consumed primary energy 
on Unit 5, and for the next three-year planning period (2020-2022) account for 0.46%. 
Costs relating to the functioning of profit centre TP 3 are allocated pursuant to the 
allocation formula that observes the method of actually consumed primary energy 
on Unit 6, and for the next three-year planning period (2020-2022) account for 2.09%. 
The remaining costs are allocated to the business segment of electricity production 
and, within this segment, to profit centres based on the share of electricity produced.

iii. Costs collected at general cost centres of professional services are first allocated to 
a business segment of steam and hot water supply. Costs related to the functioning 
of profit centres TP 1 and TP 2 are allocated pursuant to the allocation formula that 
observes the method of actually consumed primary energy on Unit 5, and for the 
next three-year planning period (2020-2022) account for 0.46%. Costs relating to 
the functioning of profit centre TP 3 are allocated pursuant to the allocation formula 
that observes the method of actually consumed primary energy on Unit 6, and for 
the next three-year planning period (2020-2022) account for 2.09%. The remaining 
costs are allocated to the business segment of electricity production and, within this 
segment, to profit centres based on the share of electricity produced.

The revenues of the Company are generally direct revenues and are broken down into 
operating and financial revenues. Operating revenues are direct revenues. Revenues 
generated through the performance of minor registered activities were, due to 
insignificant amounts, recorded under the activity of electricity production. 
Financial revenues are, due to insignificant revenues, allocated to the BS of electricity-
coal, while taking into account the share of electricity produced as per individual PC. 

The Company's costs and expenses are broken down into operating and financial 
costs and expenses. Costs are divided by cost type, cost centre, and cost unit. By their 
nature, the following costs are distinguished: costs of material, costs of services, costs of 
amortisation, labour costs, other operating expenses, and financial costs. 

Costs of material – energy-generating products (coal, gas, fuel oil, additives) and other 
costs related to fuel consumption for co-production of electricity and thermal energy 
by generation units at TEŠ were allocated to CCs, PCs and BSs directly, on the basis of 
actually consumed quantities. Energy-generating products the consumption of which 
is recorded under indirect CCs shall be allocated as per relevant allocation formulas 
applicable to indirect CC.

Costs of maintenance (material and services) shall be allocated indirectly as per CCs.  
Costs of maintenance, except for those recorded under BS Other, shall be, in the amount 
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of 2.55%, allocated to the BS Steam and hot water supply (TP1, TP2 in the amount of 
0.46%, TP 3 in the amount of 2.09%), and in the amount of 97.45% to the BS electricity 
production, as well as to individual PC in line with the relevant allocation formulas 
applicable to indirect CCs.

Costs of services relating to the demolition of cooling tower of Unit 4 and chimneys 
of Units 1-3 shall not be allocated to the BS Steam and hot water supply (of a one-time 
nature).

Costs of emission allowances and environmental duties of fuel combustion for the 
production of thermal energy shall be allocated to the BS Steam and hot water supply 
(TP1, TP2 in the amount of 0.46%, TP 3 in the amount of 2.09%) directly.

Other costs of material, services and other expenses shall be allocated directly to CCs 
and PCs. Costs of material, except for those recorded under BS Other, shall be, in 
the amount of 2.55%, allocated to the BS Steam and hot water supply (TP1, TP2 in the 
amount of 0.46%, TP 3 in the amount of 2.09%), and in the amount of 97.45% to the BS 
Electricity production, as well as to individual PCs in line with the relevant allocation 
formulas applicable to indirect CCs. 

Amortisation costs shall be allocated to CCs, directly on the basis of records from the 
register of fixed assets. Costs of amortisation, except for those recorded under BS 
Other, shall be, in the amount of 2.55%, allocated to the BS Steam and hot water supply 
(TP1, TP2 in the amount of 0.46%, TP 3 in the amount of 2.09%), and in the amount 
of 97.45% to the BS Electricity production, as well as to individual PCs in line with the 
relevant allocation formulas applicable to indirect CCs. 
The same applies to the costs arising from the impairment of assets.

Labour costs are allocated directly to CCs as defined by the human resources 
department. Labour costs, except for those recorded under BS Other, shall be, in the 
amount of 2.55%, allocated to the BS Steam and hot water supply (TP1, TP2 in the 
amount of 0.46%, TP 3 in the amount of 2.09%), and in the amount of 97.45% to the 
BS Electricity production, and according to the share of electricity production as per 
individual PC. 

Financial expenses are allocated to PCs directly. Financial expenses shall be, in the 
amount of 2.55%, allocated to the BS Steam and hot water supply (TP1, TP2 in the 
amount of 0.46%, TP 3 in the amount of 2.09%), and in the amount of 97.45% to the BS 
Electricity production, as well as to individual PCs in line with the relevant allocation 
formulas applicable to indirect CCs. 

Intangible assets: 
• they are allocated considering their definition in the register of fixed assets. As a rule, 

they are recorded under direct CCs.
 
Property, plant and equipment:
• Land: it is allocated as per BS based on the data from the Cadastre and an excerpt 

from the Land Register, and are allocated to the BS Electricity production.  
• Buildings: they are allocated as per BS based on their definition in the register of fixed 

assets.
• Plant equipment and other equipment: they are allocated as per BS based on their 

definition in the register of fixed assets. The activity Steam and hot water supply shall 
be allocated 2.55% of the total value of plant equipment. Equipment in stock, from 
which no amortisation is charged, is recorded under the BS Electricity production.

• Property, plant and equipment under acquisition: they are allocated as per BSs in 
accordance with the investment programme.

 
Investment, receivables and loans:
• the original document from which a long-term investment arises forms the basis 

for the determination of the BS. If it is not possible to define the investment with 
certainty, it shall be allocated to the BS Electricity production.
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• A short-term deposit held with bank (DSRA account) shall, in the amount of 2.55%, 
also be allocated to the BS Steam and hot water supply. 

Operating receivables:
• trade receivables are allocated on the basis of an open accounts balance directly to 

the BS which they refer to.
• other receivables shall be allocated to the BS directly; should this not be possible, 

the BS Electricity production shall be determined as the unit responsible for 
receivables.

 
Assets held for sale:
• they shall be allocated to a relevant BS directly; should this not be possible, the BS 

Electricity production shall be determined as the unit responsible for the receivables. 

Inventories:
• stocks of energy-generating products, except for the stock of fuel oil, shall be 

allocated to the BS Steam and hot water supply, in the amount of 2.55%. The 
remaining stock shall be allocated to the BS Electricity production. 

Other assets:
• they shall be allocated to a relevant BS directly; should this not be possible, the BS 

Electricity production shall be determined as the unit responsible for the assets. 

Cash and cash equivalents:
• they shall be allocated as per individual BSs.

Equity:
• on the basis of the identified difference between the assets and liabilities as at 31 

December 2000, and following the compiling of the SFP (opening balance sheet as 
per BSs) the Company’s balance sheet total matches the reallocation of the share 
capital to the BS. An individual BS shall be allocated a part of the share capital and 
pertaining capital surplus (equity revaluation adjustment). 

• The equity as per BS shall be either reduced by the identified loss for the current 
year and the unrelieved loss of previous years, or increased by the amount of 
identified profit.

Long-term provisions and long-term deferred revenues:
• the balance as per the balancing date shall be allocated as per individual BSs 

considering the purpose for which the provisions were made. An exception are the 
provisions made for the decommissioning of Unit 6 which shall be allocated to the 
BS Steam and hot water supply, in the amount of 2.55%.

Long-term financial and operating liabilities:
• they shall be allocated as per individual BSs considering the purpose of borrowing.

Short-term financial liabilities:
• they shall be allocated as per individual BSs considering the purpose of borrowing. 

Short-term and long-term financial liabilities arising from loans shall be allocated to 
the BS Steam and hot water supply in the amount of 2.55%. An exception are financial 
loans raised with HSE which shall be allocated only to the BS Electricity production 
(transfer of financial liabilities to capital).

Short-term operating liabilities:
• they shall be allocated as per individual BSs as direct liabilities based on the source 

of accrual. Liabilities which cannot be allocated directly to individual BSs, shall be 
recorded under the BS Electricity production.

Other short-term liabilities:
• they shall be allocated to individual BSs based on the purpose of accrual; if the latter 

is not known, they shall be allocated to the BS Electricity production.
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2.10.2   Statement of financial position by activity
in EUR

31.12.2021
Electricity 

production
Steam and thermal 

water supply
Other business 

segments

ASSETS 757,931,934 738,114,637 17,401,213 2,416,084

A. LONG-TERM ASSETS 586,692,843 574,113,969 12,445,790 133,084

I. Intangible assets 265,601 196,009 69,592 0

II. Property, plant and equipment 497,633,679 485,128,915 12,376,198 128,566

III. Right to use leased assets 2,016,756 2,016,756 0 0

VI. Other long-term investments and loans 112,860 112,860 0 0

VII. Long-term oprating recevables 86,027,439 86,027,439 0 0

VIII. Other-long term assets 636,508 631,990 0 4,518

B. SHORT-TERM ASSETS 171,239,091 164,000,668 4,955,423 2,283,000

II. Inventories 21,749,327 21,663,645 85,682 0

III. Short-term investments and loans 25,896,932 25,749,056 147,876 0

IV. Short-term trade receivables 26,943,219 23,787,919 3,142,302 12,998

V. Contract assets 85,430,352 83,415,497 2,014,855 0

VII. Other short-term assets 3,296,026 3,193,478 102,353 195

VIII. Cash and cash equivalents 7,923,235 6,191,073 (537,645) 2,269,807

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 757,931,934 738,114,637 17,401,213 2,416,084

A. EQUITY 241,010,274 238,667,560 105,253 2,237,461

I. Called-up capital 578,579,850 566,751,495 11,017,605 810,750

II. Capital surplus 228,905,969 227,953,984 951,985 0

V. Fair value reserve (759,977) (759,977) 0 0

VI. Retained earnings or losses (565,715,568) (555,277,942) (11,864,337) 1,426,711

B. LONG-TERM LIABILITIES 361,201,911 352,070,417 9,131,494 0

I. Provisions for termination benefits and  
jubilee premiums

3,536,112 3,536,112 0 0

II. Other provisions 16,139,189 15,729,298 409,891 0

III. Other-long term liabilities 86,741 31,823 54,918 0

IV. Long-term financial liabilities 339,870,017 331,203,332 8,666,685 0

V. Long-term financial liabilities from leases 1,569,852 1,569,852 0 0

C. SHORT-TERM LIABILITIES 155,719,749 147,376,660 8,164,466 178,623

II. Short-term financial liabilities 32,386,917 31,561,151 825,766 0

III. Short-term financial liabilities from leases 503,120 503,120 0 0

IV. Short-term operating liabilities 24,557,950 23,590,335 929,383 38,232

V. Contract liabilities 87,389,177 81,184,715 6,204,462 0

VI. Tax liabilities 604,045 604,045 0 0

VII. Other short-term liabilities 10,278,540 9,933,294 204,855 140,391

142  /  ACCOUNTING REPORT



2.10.3 Income statement by activity
in EUR

2021
Electricity 

production
Steam and thermal 

water supply
Other business 

segments

OPERATING REVENUE 454,827,552 444,764,807 9,980,712 82,033

1. Net sales revenue 223,262,186 213,239,421 9,966,040 56,725

2. Other operating income 231,565,366 231,525,386 14,672 25,308

OPERATING EXPENSES 427,504,164 411,606,147 15,873,615 24,402

3. Costs of goods, materials and services 123,553,978 119,815,555 3,735,018 3,405

4. Labour costs 13,864,727 13,505,863 353,411 5,453

5. Value write-offs 191,702,731 186,806,957 4,888,226 7,548

a) depreciation 29,973,832 29,202,144 764,140 7,548

b) impairments/write-offs/disposal of 
intangible assets and investments,  

property, and equipment

161,604,607 157,483,690 4,120,917 0

d) Inventories impairments/write-offs 124,292 121,123 3,169 0

7. Capitalised own products and services (2,399,825) (2,399,825) 0 0

8. Other operating expenses 100,782,553 93,877,597 6,896,960 7,996

OPERATING PROFIT/LOSS 27,323,388 33,158,660 (5,892,903) 57,631

9. Financial revenue 154,823 154,823 0 0

10. Financial expenses 19,743,648 19,240,185 503,463 0

FINANCIAL OUTCOME (19,588,825) (19,085,362) (503,463) 0

PROFIT (LOSS) BEFORE TAX 7,734,563 14,073,298 (6,396,366) 57,631

TAX 604,045 604,045 0 0

604,045 604,045 0 0

PROFIT (LOSS) BEFORE TAX 7,130,518 13,469,253 (6,396,366) 57,631
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2021
Electricity 

production
Steam and thermal 

water supply

Other 
business 

segments

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Net profit/loss for the period 7,130,518 13,469,253 (6,396,366) 57,631

Adjustments for:  

Amortisation 29,973,832 29,202,144 764,140 7,548

Write-offs of intangible assets, property, plant and equipment 161,087,000 156,979,281 4,107,719 0

Impairment of property, plant and equipment 517,607 504,408 13,199 0

Inventories write-offs 124,292 121,123 3,169 0

Elimination of write-offs of operating receivables (7,473) 0 0 (7,473)

Financial revenue (154,823) (154,823) 0 0

Financial expenses 19,743,647 19,240,184 503,463 0

Profit from sale of real property, plant and equipment (5,291) (5,291) 0 0

Taxes 604,045 604,045 0 0

Operating profit before changes in  
net current assets and taxes

219,013,354 219,960,324 (1,004,676) 57,706

Changes in net current assets and provisions
Change in:

  Inventories 2,096,416 2,053,889 42,527 0

Trade receivables and other assets (114,906,394) (112,276,880) (2,640,346) 10,832

Operating liabilities to suppliers and other liabilities 28,415,584 23,720,987 4,702,528 (7,931)

Provisions 45,996 26,819 19,177 0

Cash from operations 134,664,956 133,485,139 1,119,210 60,607

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Interests received and proceeds from other financing 56,950 56,950 0 0

Income from sale of real property, plant and equipment 6,637 6,637 0 0

Income from sale of intangible assets 32,042 32,042 0 0

Income from sale of other short-term investments 12,185,863 12,185,863 0 0

Expenses for purchase of real property,  
plant and equipment

(32,238,774) (31,416,685) (822,089) 0

Expenses for purchase of intangible assets (99,221) (99,221) 0 0

Expenses for leases (513,701) (513,701) 0 0

Costs for increasing other short-term investments (25,896,932) (25,896,932) 0 0

Costs for increasing other long-term investments (5,000) (5,000) 0 0

Cash from investment (46,472,136) (45,650,047) (822,089) 0

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Income from short-term loans 5,000,000 4,872,500 127,500 0

Income from other long-term financial liabilities 533,044 533,044 0 0

Expenses of interest for loan and costs for other  
financial liabilities

(19,130,152) (18,642,333) (487,819) 0

Expenses of long-term loans (66,457,974) (64,763,296) (1,694,678) 0

Expenses of short-term loans (5,000,000) (4,872,500) (127,500) 0

Expenses of right to use assets (512,706) (512,706) 0 0

Cash from financing (85,567,788) (83,385,290) (2,182,497) 0

INITIAL BALANCE OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 5,298,202 1,741,271 1,347,731 2,209,200

Profit or loss for the period 2,625,033 4,449,802 (1,885,376) 60,607

CLOSING BALANCE OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 7,923,235 6,191,073 (537,645) 2,269,807

2.10.4  Cash flows statement by activity 
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 Abbreviations (to be completed)
ARSO Slovenian Environmental Agency

GDP Gross domestic product

VAT Value added tax

DEM Dravske elektrarne Maribor d. o. o.

EBIT Operating profit or loss

EBITDA Operating profit or loss including write-offs

ECB European Central Bank

EIB European Investment Bank

EBRD European Bank for Reconstruction and Development

EU European Union

EUR / € Euro

FURS Financial Administration of the Republic of Slovenia

GE General Electric

HESS Hidroelektrarne na Spodnji Savi d. o. o.

HSE Holding Slovenske elektrarne d. o. o.

HTZ HTZ harmonija tehnologije in znanja invalidsko podjetje d. o. o. Velenje

IRSOP Inspectorate of the Republic of Slovenia for the Environment and Spatial Planning 

ISO International Standardisation Organisation

ISO/IEC Information protection management system

LUBECO Air preheater bypass economizer

LUVO Air pre-heater

IAS International Accounting Standards

MSR Market Stability Reserve

IFRS International Financial Reporting Standards

MOP Ministry of Environment and Spatial Planning

PPE Property, plant and equipment

OHSAS Occupational health and safety management system

RES Renewable energy sources

EP Environmental permit

ECA Entrepreneurial Collective Agreement

PP1 Re-superheater 1

PV Premogovnik Velenje d. o. o.

PSU Subsidence reconstruction area

RGP RGP Rudarski gradbeni program d. o. o.

SDH Slovenski državni holding d. d.

SENG Soške elektrarne Nova Gorica d. o. o.

SR System regulation

STA Slovenian Technical Approval

SURS Slovenian Statistical Office

TEŠ Termoelektrarna Šoštanj, d. o. o.

GHGs Greenhouse gases

EEU Efficient energy use

LCP Large combustion plant

OHS Occupational health and safety

USA United States of America

ZFPPIPP Financial Operations, Insolvency Proceedings, and Compulsory Dissolution Act

ZIUZEOP Act Determining the Intervention Measures to Contain the COVID-19 Epidemic and Mitigate its Consequences for  

 Citizens and the Economy

ZJN Public Procurement Act,

ZPFOLERD Transparency of Financial Relations and Maintenance of Separate Accounts for Different Activities Act

ZPIZ Pension and Disability Insurance Act

ZGD Companies Act (ZGD-1),

ZKV Closed-loop water circuit

ZVO Environmental Protection Act
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